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Chairman’s Statement

EEHE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2012.

Annual Results

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2012 was approximately HK$13,617,000, as compared with
approximately HK$2,659,000 in 2011. The loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012
decreased to approximately HK$15,414,000, compared with the
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$22,755,000 over the corresponding period of 2011.

On 10 December 2012, the Group successfully obtained 40%
equity interests in FRFMAREXBRAF (Nanjing Taihe
Yingke Property Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”)
at a consideration of HK$300,000,000 through acquiring 40%
equity interests in Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”). Up to the date of this report, both the
construction progress and the pre-sale of residential property
projects developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke at Jiangning
District of Nanjing performed well and were in line with the
expectation. Approximately 80 of the service apartment units
have been pre-sold with average selling price of approximately
RMB11,500 per square meters. Meanwhile, after taking into
account the return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration of this investment per annum and the pledge of
the remaining 60% equity interests in Forward Investment as a
guarantee, the Group believes that the investment can generate
stable revenue streams and cash surplus for the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, all the ten residential
properties at Las Pinadas, Sai Kung, Hong Kong owned by the
Group had been leased to tenants. The property rentals kept
steady growth. In accordance with properties valuation report,
the fair value of such properties appreciated by approximately
HK$36,000,000 during the year 2012. The investment in such
properties plays an important role in enhancing the assets value
of the Group while maintaining stable rental income sources
for the Group.
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In December 2011, the Group acquired 49% equity interests in
bR ERIER R AR AR (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)
(“Changdongshun”) owned by 1t R B RER B AER AT
(Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd.*) (the “Intermediate Holding Company”) through holding
the equity interests in the Intermediate Holding Company. At
the time of acquisition of equity interests in Changdongshun,
the Group believed that the acquisition of Changdongshun
would provide a good opportunity for the Group to participate
in the natural gas industry in China. However, since the
completion of acquisition in December 2011, the operating
results and management performance of Changdongshun
and its subsidiaries (the “Changdongshun Group”) failed to
meet our expectations. In light of various factors, on 20 March
2013, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of 49% equity interests in the Intermediate Holding
Company in order to recover the investment costs soonest
possible so that the Group’s financial and management
resources could be allocated to other existing businesses
and other potential acquisition opportunities. Although the
directors of the Company are disappointed with the investment
in the Changdongshun Group, the Group believes that the
investment in the Changdongshun Group not meeting the
expectations is just an individual case. The Group will continue
to seek and invest in the promising natural gas projects, due to
favorable factors in China’s natural gas industry, including but
not limited to measures adopted by the Chinese government
for reducing environmental pollution and improving energy
utilisation efficiency.

Prospects

The Group will continue to reposition and optimise the
investment allocation of the real estate and natural gas
businesses in accordance with the established development
strategies.
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EEHE

Real Estate Business

Through leveraging on the management’s investment experience
in real estate industry for many years and grasping opportunities
in the real estate markets in specific regions in China, the Group
will also choose to invest in certain real estate projects with
controllable risks and stable earnings in the future. Both the
Group and the management team are confident in smoothly
operating the investment projects selected in the future and
endeavour to provide reliable and satisfactory returns for our
Shareholders.

Natural Gas Utilisation Business

The natural gas is a kind of low-carbon emission energy with
high-quality, efficient and clean features. Currently, the natural
gas consumption accounts for 4.6% of the primary energy
consumption in China, significantly lower than the international
average level of 23.8%. Meanwhile, as the urbanisation in China
enters into the deep expansion stage, the urban population
size and motor vehicles have constantly increased, resulting in
increasingly huge demands for natural gas. Accelerating the
development of natural gas and raising the proportion of natural
gas usage in the structure of primary energy consumption in
China can substantially reduce the discharge of pollutants
including carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases as well
as fine particles (PM2.5), resulting in energy-conservation and
emission-reduction and environmental improvement. This is
of significant strategic importance for China to adjust the
energy structure, improve the people’s living standards, promote
energy-conservation and emission-reduction, and cope with
climate change. In October 2012, the Chinese government
successively issued a series of important guiding policies,
including the “712th Five-Year” Plan for the Development of
Natural Gas and the Natural Gas Utilisation Policy, to promote
and regulate the development of natural gas utilisation industry.
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The natural gas will gradually become an important part of the
clean fuel and energy market in China, together with a series
of current favorable policies issued by the Chinese government,
offering a huge space for the sustainable development of gas
utilisation projects and demonstrating a promising market. The
Group will capture this good opportunity to focus on and give
priority to developing the natural gas business with higher
value-added (including natural gas for vehicles and vessels,
LNG plants, industrial parks, commercial gas supply business,
etc.) while ensuring to keep orderly development of its existing
businesses. The Group is also actively identifying and selecting
suitable projects of the said types and seeking investment
opportunities in line with the development direction in the
domestic gas utilisation sector, so as to promote the large-scale
and efficient development of the gas utilisation business,
thereby providing satisfactory returns for our Shareholders and
making a positive contribution to the energy restructuring as
well as energy-conservation and emission-reduction in China.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude to our Shareholders and business

partners for their continuing support to the Group, and also
thank our directors, management and staff for their hard work.

Ye De Chao
Chairman

28 March 2013

*  For identification purpose only

PEERRERRDR ¢ —T—_FFR

Chairman’s Statement

EEHE

RARAGZ F AT BB RIRE M BEIR T 45 #)
EZEKER - ERPBEBFRITH — RFFLF
B - ERARFAREBARANAIFEERT
A MHATRER - NEEKTED FIFE— K
i ERARREEBEFERNAR - EilE
ENEAEREBRSEENRKARMNAEL (B
BEMARAR BIERARIM  EXEEND
EHREBE) AKEGCILHEERYE NEGE
BRI EERR - ERARARNAEESEE
HREGESKAEERTANRERS - Nitfeg
RARFBEBOMRBRL - W CBR - 1EM R
BEREHR BRI LR - BT B A LR & B M
ENREIR B TR IR A BB -

K& AABRREFE  MRRREBEFZ
FRUORNEB —BEXHF  UWRAANEESULE
£ EEABREIMNHNFHRE S KRR
ROWE °

E1

—E-—=F=A=-+)N\H



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEFWE S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2012 was approximately HK$13,617,000, as compared with
approximately HK$2,659,000 in 2011. The loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012
decreased to approximately HK$15,414,000, compared with the
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$22,755,000 over the corresponding period of 2011.

PRC Projects
Properties development and investment
Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited

On 10 December 2012, the Group successfully obtained 40%
equity interests in ERFMBRIEZHEBMRAE (Nanjing Taihe
Yingke Property Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe Yingke")
at a consideration of HK$300,000,000 through acquiring 40%
equity interests in Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
("Forward Investment”). The principal assets of Nanjing Taihe
Yingke is Jiangning Project, which is a complex development
project located in Jiang Ning Development Zone, Nanjing,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

Up to the date of this report, both the construction progress
and the pre-sale of residential property projects developed by
Nanjing Taihe Yingke at Jiangning District of Nanjing performed
well and were in line with the expectation. Approximately 80
of the service apartment units have been pre-sold with average
selling price of approximately RMB11,500 per square meters.
Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment would
provide the return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration per annum which could generate stable revenue
streams and cash surplus for the Group.

E 3] E)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Infrastructure
FrEeh m R AR 2 7] (Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited*)

Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited (“Xinan Zhongjing”)
is engaged in the operation of natural gas supply network in
FrzEFEERE (Xinan Industrial Consolidation Park*), Xinan
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC.

Reference is made to the disclosures set out in the 2012 interim
report of the Company, Xinan Zhongjing delayed the progress
of ventilation engineering, due to the weather and personnel
problems. Following the continuous efforts, Xinan Zhongjing
successfully completed the ventilation test in October 2012 and
met the ventilation conditions and commenced trial operation.
However, the project company would be required to obtain gas
operating license in accordance with the relevant laws, before it
formally commences operation. The time for generating revenue
from this project would be a bit later than our expectations as
additional time would be required to complete the approval of
application of gas operating license. On the other hand, most
of the potential customers in Xinan Industrial Consolidation
Park indicated to delay the commencement time of production
or reduced production capacity due to economic uncertainties,
resulting in more uncertainties for sales of natural gas. The
Group will closely monitor the changes of operating and sales
environment in the market, and put forward relevant operating
strategies in response to the market changes.
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IERE FNE# R AR 2 7 (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)

In December 2011, the Group acquired 49% equity interests in
Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited (“Changdongshun”) owned
by b RAREARELIR EFEAER A A (Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the “Intermediate
Holding Company”) through holding the equity interests in
the Intermediate Holding Company. At the time of acquisition
of equity interests in Changdongshun, the Group believed
that the acquisition of Changdongshun would provide a good
opportunity for the Group to participate in the natural gas
industry in China. However, since the completion of acquisition
in December 2011, the operating results and management
performance of Changdongshun and its subsidiaries (the
“Changdongshun Group”) failed to meet our expectations. In
light of various factors, on 20 March 2013, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of 49% equity
interests in the Intermediate Holding Company in order to
recover the investment costs the soonest so that the Group's
financial and management resources could be allocated to other
existing business and other potential acquisition opportunities.
Although the Directors are disappointed with the investment
in the Changdongshun Group, the Group believes that the
investment in the Changdongshun Group not meeting the
expectations is just an individual case, and will continue to
seek and invest in the promising natural gas projects, due to
favorable factors in China’s natural gas industry, including but
not limited to measures adopted by the Chinese government
for reducing environmental pollution and improving energy
utilisation efficiency.
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New Projects
Wanshanhu Industrial Park

On 22 May 2012, the Company and ¥IZ %8 IIHTEER
k7% B (Wanshanhu Industrial Management Services Bureau,
Xinan County*, “Wanshanhu Industrial Management Bureau”)
entered into a Preliminary Concession Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to accept and the
Wanshanhu Industrial Management Bureau has conditionally
agreed to grant the Concession.

The Concession represents the exclusive right to provide natural
gas to residential, industrial and other users in the Wanshanhu
Industrial Park located in Xinan County, Henan Province, the
PRC for the Concession Period. Pursuant to the Preliminary
Concession Agreement, the Company would incorporate the
Project Company which would enter into the Formal Concession
Agreement with the Wanshanhu Industrial Management Bureau
to assume the rights and obligations of the Company under
the Preliminary Concession Agreement. The Company believes
that entering into the Preliminary Concession Agreement would
enable the Company to expand its natural gas operations in the
PRC. The Company believes that entering into the Preliminary
Concession Agreement offers synergistic benefits given the
proximity of the Wanshanhu Industrial Park and the Xinan
Industrial Consolidation Park.

As of the date of this report, the Company is still discussing the
detailed terms of investment project with Wanshanhu Industrial
Management Bureau. The Group will make an announcement
immediately when further information is available.

Gas stations in Hunan Province

On 27 March 2013, the Company entered into a cooperation
framework agreement with a JV Partner, to acquire gas station
projects in Hunan Province by the JV Company. The JV Partner
has extensive network resources in the natural gas market in
Hunan Province and the Group could take this opportunity
to jointly develop the natural gas stations market in Hunan
Province.

*  For identification purpose only.
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Hong Kong Project

Ten residential properties at Las Pinadas, Clear Water Bay
Road, Sai Kung, New Territories

In June 2011, the Group acquired ten residential properties,
namely E2, E3, E4, E5, E6, E7, E8, E9, E10 and E15, located at
Las Pinadas, Clear Water Bay Road, Sai Kung, New Territories
(the “Properties”). The Properties are luxurious houses with
gross floor area ranging from approximately 2,800 to 3,200
square feet (including private garden). The Properties are used
by the Group for investment purposes. Rental of residential
properties in the New Territories experienced a steady growth
in the past year. All of the ten houses are currently leased to
tenants with average monthly rent of about HK$22.40 per
square feet. The fair value of the Properties appreciated by
approximately HK$36,000,000 during the year 2012. The
Properties would provide a steady rental income stream to the
Group amid the current low interest rate environment, thus
contributing to a more stable and predictable revenue stream
to the Group as well as appreciation potential of the value of
the Properties.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had a total of 31 staff in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices so as to retain the competent and talented employees.
The Group provides benefits such as training programme to
staff in order to maintain the competitiveness of the staff and
to enhance their senses of loyalty. The Company has a share
option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to the eligible persons including the employees of the
Company for their contributions to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group reported
a turnover of approximately HK$13,617,000, compared with
approximately HK$2,659,000 for the year ended 31 December
2011. The loss attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2012 was approximately
HK$15,414,000 as compared with the loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$22,755,000 in
last year.

Capital Structure

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debts (which
included borrowings and convertible notes), cash and bank
balances, loan receivables, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves
of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to
medium term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s
borrowings when appropriate. As at 31 December 2012, the
underlying current ratio, defined as current assets over current
liabilities, was approximately 0.51 (2011: 2.32). As at 31
December 2012, the underlying gearing ratio, defined as the
total borrowings over total equity (including non-controlling
interests), was approximately 12% (2011: 18%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately
11% (2011: 17%).

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s equity attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$969,622,000,
a decrease of approximately 2% over last year end which was
approximately HK$987,191,000. The net current liabilities
as at 31 December 2012 was approximately HK$63,471,000
(2011: Net current assets of HK$274,989,000) while cash and
bank balances as at 31 December 2012 was approximately
HK$25,009,000 (2011: HK$472,347,000).
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TEEFWE S

Although the Group’s auditors indicated the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt that the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, the Company’s
Chairman and major shareholder Mr. Ye De Chao has promised
to provide financial support to the Group as when necessary.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2012.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2012, assets of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$288,000,000 (2011: HK$252,000,000) were
pledged for the Group’s borrowings as set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United States Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

PROSPECT OF THE GROUP

The management will continue to look for investment
opportunities in relation to the city infrastructure projects in the
PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group in
the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable
risk profile of the Group and expected return will be considered.
As a result, the Group continues to strive to identify suitable
projects with potential for development and satisfactory returns
across various sectors in the PRC market.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management
of the Company are committed to the principles of
corporate governance and to maximise shareholders’ value.
These principles and objectives enhance the transparency,
accountability and independence of the Company and its ability
to attract investment and protect rights of shareholders. The
Company continues to review the effectiveness of corporate
structure so as to improve its corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices which incorporates all the code provisions
in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
(effective until 31 March 2012) and the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") (effective from 1 April 2012) set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The Directors confirm that, throughout the financial year, the
Company complied with the code provisions of the Code and
the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not
specific. It is provided in the Company’s articles of association
that all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company and are eligible for re-appointment. The Directors
are of the view that such provision in the Company’s articles of
association has been able to safeguard corporate governance.

Code provision A.5.1 stipulates that the nomination committee
should be chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director. During the period from 1
August 2012 to 27 February 2013, the Nomination Committee
of the Company was chaired by Mr. Ye De Chao, the then Vice
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ye De Chao has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company with effect from 28 February
2013 and at the same time Mr. Ye continues to assume the role
of the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

ERELIRE

ARAEZEE ([EFg)) REEERBLEE
ARAIEBNIEEERER - 2F R NBZA
REAABZERE - MEMELE A RER
SR E RREBREN 28 S » AARSEER
A RRERE 2 - ABEEREEIATEMH -

EE

B

R

ARBIEHEMBERIEEERESA TR &8l
EMATAHERSMABARARESF EMARR

(TEMmHRAD) M4 B RrER TR ([
AN(BZZZE——F=ZA=+—HBLEAAX
kiZERsH ([REEART)(BZF—
FOA—BRER REZAATAIR - EF
R ARRERBEMBRFENE ST TR Kb
XERTRIFTE 2 ST ANES - 1EREE T AT <RI
fER>T

STRMEXAANVGREFRRITE S AN EEH
RiE WABRBER - ARARBERITES (B
BYIATES) UENEMEH - ARREBE
RABAREMBEESFHARIE=FERRAMR
RBEFAG LHERE-RARRE LBEEF -
EZRRAR A SRR A F R AR

[EREER -

TFREXASVGEREREZEESIRERES
SEFIB IR TESET - RZZE—ZFN
A—HE-_T—=F_A-++AHM R2ELZ
BEeFFERAERNARRR EFEEBBLAED
F-RZE—=F_A-F+ ) \BHEEBLLE
EEABRRRER  WRFELEBERETRS

BN
ZEGERE -

— 15 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Corporate Governance Report

ERELIRE

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors should attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Mr. Kwok
Hong Yee, Jesse, the ex-independent non-executive Director
of the Company, was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2012 owing to a prior
business engagement. Mr. He Jin Geng and Mr. Yu Hong Gao,
both independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 19 November 2012 as they had other
engagements in the mainland China.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting of the Company. Mr.
Law Kar Po, the then Chairman of the Company, was unable
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
15 June 2012 owing to an overseas business trip.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules throughout the
financial year. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best
interests of the Company and is accountable for the manner
in which the affairs of the Company are managed, controlled
and operated. The Directors are collectively responsible for the
success of the Company. The Board, as at 31 December 2012,
comprised:

(@) six executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhu Hai Hua
(Chairman), Mr. Ye De Chao (Vice Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. Zhou Guo Chang, Mr. Ji Xu Dong,
Mr. Xu Xiao Jun and Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza; and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming,
Edwin and one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

On 18 January 2013, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua has redesignated as the
Vice Chairman of the Company and on the same date, Mr.
Ye De Chao, the Chief Executive Officer, assumed the role of
Acting Chairman of the Company. On 28 February 2013, Mr. Ye
De Chao has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the
necessary skills and experiences for discharging their duties.
All Directors have been kept informed of major changes on
a timely basis by the Senior Management that may affect the
Company’s business.
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INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL
ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take
independent professional advice from external consultants
including counsels, at the Company’s expense. During the year
under review, counsels were engaged to provide the Board with
advice on legal matters.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets,
monitor the performance of the Senior Management, determine
and review the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s
compliance with statutory and regulatory requirement and to
ensure that there is a sound system of internal control and
risk management with a goal of protecting the interests of all
shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and
non-regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors
so that full attendance could be attained and timely information
was provided so that informed decisions could be made. The
Board conducts meeting on a regular and ad hoc basis, as
required by business needs.
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The Board held totally six board meetings during the financial
year and the attendance of individual director is recorded as

follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings

(1 January 2012 - 31 December 2012)
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REABHREERN  BEEGHBITARESFZSS
& MERIERZHFREnT

ExgemchEEs
(=8——%-A—-RE=F—=F+=A=+-A)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B i E R
Number of board meetings EEEEERE 6
Directors EF
Executive Directors HITEE
ZHU Hai Hua (Chairman) KBE (FE)
(redesignated on 1 August 2012) (R—_ZFE——F N\ —HEFE)
(appointed as Vice Chairman (R—ZE——F—AF+H
on 10 January 2012) BEEREIERF) 5/6 83%
YE De Chao (Vice Chairman and XERB (FEEF
Chief Executive Officer) TTIECAEZL)
(redesignated on 1 August 2012) (RZE—=—FN\A—B#&F)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer (R=ZZ——F—A++tH
on 17 January 2012) ELERITIEH) 6/6 100%
ZHOU Guo Chang BB &
(appointed on 10 January 2012) (RZTE—_F—-HA+HEZE) 4/6 67%
JI Xu Dong =fBE
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (R=ZFE—=—FN\A-HEZMT) 3/4 75%
XU Xiao Jun fR/ME
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (RZE—ZFN\AZBEZMF) 2/4 50%
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza FEXE 6/6 100%
LAW Kar Po (Chairman) BRE (F/E)
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZT——_F\A—B#T) 172 50%
LAW Wing Yee, Wendy w1
(resigned on 2 August 2012) (R—E——EFE A -—B&T) 172 50%
Independent Non-executive Directors BUINTESE
HE Jin Geng A& 8k
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZZE—=—FN\A—BEZE) 174 25%
YU Hong Gao B4l =
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (R=—Z——FEN\A—BEZXMT) 3/4 75%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RZR 5/6 83%
KWOK Hong Yee, Jesse LEH
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZT—_F\A—B#ITE) 172 50%
KEUNG Kwok Hung =R
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (R—ZE——F\A—HEMT) 2/2 100%
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The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out of
performance of their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed at least three independent
non-executive directors and one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. As at 31 December 2012,
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
(the “INEDs") represented at least one-third of the Board in
compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and
is satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the
Directors of the Company. The Company has received from each
of the INEDs an annual confirmation of his independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these
confirmations, the Company considers that each of the INEDs
is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available
for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operation of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements.
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Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code (which came into effect
on 1 April 2012) requires that all Directors of the Company
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the
Company participated in continuous professional development
programmes and provided a record of training they received to
the Company.

The individual training record of each Director for the year
ended 31 December 2012 is set out below.
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Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERRE
Edaabl
Executive Directors HITEF
ZHU Hai Hua KBE B
YE De Chao E e A, B
ZHOU Guo Chang IEENE B
JI Xu Dong ESIER= B
XU Xiao Jun fR/ME B
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza FXE A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BN TEE
HE Jin Geng BRI B
YU Hong Gao B4 B
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RER B

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and
updates relating to the latest development of the Listing
Rules, other applicable regulatory requirements and
directors’ duties and responsibilities
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

In order to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
and to reinforce the respective independence and accountability,
the role and function of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are segregated.

During the year under review, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua was the
Chairman of the Company while Mr. Ye De Chao was the Vice
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Their
respective responsibilities are clearly established and defined by
the Board in writing.

THE BOARD AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for
formulation and approval of the Company’s development and
business strategies and policies, approval of annual budgets and
business plans and supervision of the Senior Management for
the best interest of the Company. The Board regularly reviews
and ensures that corporate governance principles are in place
and at good standard.

The task of the Senior Management is to implement the strategy
and direction as determined by the Board. In doing so, they
must apply business principles and ethics which are consistent
with those expected by the Board and shareholders. The
Board delegates the Senior Management to identify investment
opportunities, implement internal control and risk management,
compile financial reports and discharge day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. The Board gives the strategic
direction of the Company and monitors the performance of
Senior Management. The Senior Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations and administration function of the
Group under the leadership of the executive Directors. Powers
delegated by the Board to the Senior Management include
implementation of the strategy and direction determined by the
Board, operation of the Group’s daily businesses and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of
no less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG
Code of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee. To further reinforce independence,
these four committees are structured to include a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2012, the Remuneration Committee was
chaired by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive
Director with other committee members comprising two
other independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Ye De Chao. The Remuneration Committee
comprises a majority of independent non-executive Directors
that brings an independent and objective view to the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior
Management, including discretionary bonus, which were based
on individual performance, skill and knowledge, involvement
in the Group's affairs and performance and profitability of the
Group.
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The Remuneration Committee determines the specific
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
Senior Management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments; and makes recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are described
in the terms of reference adopted. Details of the remunerations
of the Directors are shown on pages 125 to 126 of this annual
report. The Remuneration Committee had met once during
the financial year and the attendance of individual member is
recorded as below.

FNZBeEEERRNTEERSREEENR
EFTE (BEIESEMNE  RIKSEN K
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& - [BRIR B 2 i F AL sk e T3 o

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting FMEEeeE s HERDE
(1 January 2012 - 31 December 2012) (= B2—=—F—A—RZ=B—=—%+=-H=+—A1)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HEE
Number of remuneration committee meeting FHZEEESRRE 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIHNTEE
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Bam (1) N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZT—=—F\A—BEZF) TE A il
HE Jin Geng il 5k N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—=—FN\R—BEZF) TEA TEA
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RIZ 171 100%
KWOK Hong Yee, Jesse (Chairman) BER (FE)
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ2——FN\A—HE&T) 171 100%
KEUNG Kwok Hung Z B
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (R—ZEB——=N\A—B&T) 1/1 100%
Executive Directors HITEE
YE De Chao E i N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (R—Z——FN\B—BEZT) TEA TEFA
LAW Kar Po BXE
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ2——FN\A—HE&T) 171 100%
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2012, the members of the Nomination
Committee included three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon
Ming, Edwin with Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director, as
the Committee Chairman. In accordance with code provision
A.5.1 of the CG Code, it stipulates that the nomination
committee should be chaired by the chairman of the board
or an independent non-executive director. During the period
from 1 August 2012 to 27 February 2013, the Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Ye De Chao, the then Vice
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ye De Chao has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company with effect from 28 February
2013 and at the same time Mr. Ye continues to assume the role
of the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for its approval on the
appointment of the Directors, evaluation of board composition
and the management of board succession with reference to
certain guidelines as endorsed by the Nomination Committee.
These guidelines take account of appropriate industry
experience, professional ethics and knowledge, personal skills
and time commitments of members.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including
the consideration of referrals and engagement of external
recruitment professionals when necessary. The Chairman of
the Nomination Committee, in consultation with the person
responsible for human resources and the secretary of the
Nomination Committee, should be primarily responsible for
drawing up and approving the agenda for each Nomination
Committee meeting. Potential candidates are then considered at
the Nomination Committee meetings based on their experience,
professional qualifications and their expected remuneration
packages. The Nomination Committee held three meetings
during the financial year and the attendance of individual
member is recorded as below.
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Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings BREZZESSEcHERE

(1 January 2012 - 31 December 2012) (ZB——5—-H—HEZE=F——%+=-A=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
HE IR HER
Number of nomination committee meetings REZEEEIRY 3
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHNTEE
HE Jin Geng GG
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZE—Z=—FN\A—BEZM) 171 100%
YU Hong Gao Bas
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZE—Z=FN\A—BEZfF) 171 100%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REHR 2/3 67%
KWOK Hong Yee, Jesse EES
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—Z—F/\A—HET) 171 100%
KEUNG Kwok Hung =R
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (R=ZE—=—FN\R—HEE) 171 100%
Executive Directors HiTEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) REE(EE)
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—=FN\A—HBEZM) 2/2 100%
LAW Kar Po (Chairman) BRE (FE)
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—Z—F/\A—HBET) 0/1 0%
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREES

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports, EZZEEEHARA2UBHRE - AEEZER
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment TEERMEE INEZBMEEREB LM
of external auditors and review their independency and makes EXeREEHREERRE BREEQ2EER
relevant recommendations to the Board. The written terms of EGEVAEZZES o ENEBE - I2RE
reference which describes the authority and duties of the Audit BERAGRM (N IBEZZTEEIES) K&
Committee has been prepared and adopted with reference to (B Z B @B ICEERKS) MElE » WRED
“A Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” and “A  ¥ESASTBIELEET -

Guide for Effective Audit Committee” published by the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and amended

in accordance with the CG Code.
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ERELIRE

As at 31 December 2012, all the committee members were R-E——F+-_A=+—8" Pﬁﬁé/\ 28
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom  ¥ABIIEHITES  HP (L AEEEHEXE

possesses appropriate professional qualifications, accounting  #& - @t S E IR v HE M - %V?E\
or related financial management expertise. The Chairman of the ~ @ XFI B4 AL BB ST R AEBHA
Audit Committee, Mr. He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant 5 - BB DRI AR S e M=RIZP L
and has the relevant financial experience. Other members were 4 o WWHEEZE 8 @K 8 BA R A AR T
Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin. None of the R o

Audit Committee members were members of the former or

existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the financial EZEEENAMBEEARITTZRE u% 1
year and the attendance of individual member is recorded as  BIRK B Z HFERBEHNA T - €L BEEE
below. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the EEMAKREAEA @ RAIRERARKTE
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the B ERE RFSR - WESREIRRE RINEZ
interim and annual reports of the Group and discussed with HENE I EZ N EERBEREER -

the Senior Management and the external auditors on auditing,

internal control and financial reporting matters.

Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings ERZEEeR HERE

(1 January 2012 - 31 December 2012) (ZB—=F—A—HZE=F—-F+=A=+-—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B HE=
Number of audit committee meetings EREEEERLK 3
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors HUIHHTEE
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ik (&)
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (R=ZE—Z=FN\A—BEZF) 11 100%
YU Hong Gao B4 =
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZE—=-FNA—HEZMT) 0/1 0%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REH 3/3 100%
KEUNG Kwok Hung (Chairman) =B (F/E)
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (R=ZZE—=FN\A—BEHIT) 2/2 100%
KWOK Hong Yee, Jesse HER
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZE—Z=F\A—B&HT) 2/2 100%

—27 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Corporate Governance Report

ERELIRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

In compliance with code provision D.3.2 of the CG Code,
a corporate governance committee of the Company (the
“Corporate Governance Committee”) had been established
on 19 March 2012 with written terms of reference. As at
31 December 2012, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr.
Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin, all being
independent non-executive Directors and Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza,
being an executive Director. Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza was the
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for,
including but not limited to, developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and making recommendations to the Board, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to the employees and the Directors of the Company,
and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, in
consultation with the Senior Management being responsible
for corporate governance and the secretary of the Corporate
Governance Committee, should be primarily responsible for
drawing up and approving the agenda for each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman, with the
assistance of the secretary of the Corporate Governance
Committee should ensure that all members of the Corporate
Governance Committee should have sufficient information in a
timely manner to enable effective discussion at the Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman should, with
the assistance of the Senior Management being responsible for
corporate governance, brief all members on issues arising at
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate
Governance Committee did not hold any meeting during the
year under review but met once on 28 March 2013. During
the meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed
the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and Senior Management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the total fee paid/
payable in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by
the Group's external auditors is set out below:

ERELIRE

CEERZEEIFNTIZEETRERELXE
ANEREEEREREARZBENERE &
REMEBREREARZEETHNHEE - R
AHECRERZESWERY T - BRMAKE
MEWERWER  UBEELXEAREEER
HETERE®  EFEBEARLEEANER
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R BB % A

HE_Z——_F+_A=+—HILFE  #E&E
BONSZBED PR o B MOEERRB 2B
/RS EERIINAT

HK$'000

FET

Audit services EIZPRTE 2,288
Non-audit services IEFEZIRTE 3,941
6,229
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
ensure the publication of consolidated financial statements of
the Group in a timely manner that the final and interim results
of the Group are announced within the three months and two
months limit respectively after the end of the relevant periods
prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2012 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee and audited by the external auditors, HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Group's performance and prospects. They are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the ability
of the Group to continue as a going concern. The Statement
of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is committed to manage risk and to control its
business and financial activities so as to maximise profitable
business opportunities, avoid or reduce risks which can cause
loss or damage to reputation, ensure compliance with applicable
rules and regulations, and enhance resilience to external
events. The Board has delegated to the Senior Management
the implementation of such systems of internal control as well
as risk management. The effectiveness and adequacy of the
systems of internal control and risk management are reviewed
periodically by the Board and the Audit Committee. Based on
the assessment made by them for the financial year, the Board
is satisfied that the internal controls and accounting systems
of the Company have been in place and function effectively.
The internal controls and accounting systems are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that material assets are protected,
business risks attributable to the Company are identified and
monitored, material transactions are executed in accordance
with management’s authorisation and the accounts are reliable
for publication.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In accordance with code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, the
company secretary should be an employee of the Company
and have day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr.
Chan Kim Sun, the Deputy Financial Controller, is the Company
Secretary of the Company who is a full time employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2012, Mr. Chan has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his
skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association
of the Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall
be convened on the written requisition of any 2 or more
members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than 25 per cent of such of the paid up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. Such
requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If the
Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene
the extraordinary general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Directors to
convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Any
Shareholders’ Enquiries or Proposals to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals
to the Board in writing for the attention of the Chairman of
the Board/Chief Executive Officer/Company Secretary, by email:
hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com, fax: (852) 2698 8188, or
mail to 16th Floor, Agricultural Bank of China Tower, 50
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of
promoting corporate transparency and communications with
the shareholders, potential investors and investment community
through its mandatory interim and final reports. The Senior
Management responsible for investor relations holds meetings
with press reporters and potential strategic investors to keep
them abreast of the Company’s development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in
the articles of association of the Company (“Articles
of Association”). An up to date version of the Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website. The shareholders may refer to the Articles
of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as
shareholders in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution
of financial reports, the Company has a corporate website to
foster effective communications with the shareholders. It is
maintained to disseminate Company’s announcements and
presentations, shareholders’ information and other relevant
financial and non-financial information on a timely basis.

Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to
exchange their views with the Board. The Company shall
provide shareholders with relevant information on the
resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner
in accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided
shall be reasonably necessary to enable shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.
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The Company held totally three general meetings during the

financial year and the attendance of individual director is

recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of General Meetings

(1 January 2012 - 31 December 2012)

RAMBEERN @ RRARHKBITZRERA

MiERES 2 HFaekm T

BRR A&z HFE s

il

(=2—=fF—A—HAE=F-=—F+=A=t-H)

Annual  Extraordinary  Extraordinary
General General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
held on held on held on
15 June 18 July 19 November
2012 2012 2012
R-B--% R-B--F R-E-CF
RATER tAtNR +—A+hE
BIHRE ETHRE BIHRE
BEAE ¥AlAE KERE
Executive Directors HiTEE
ZHU Hai Hua (Chairman) REE(FE)
(redesignated on 1 August 2012) (R=ZB——F/\A—RHF)
(appointed as Vice Chairman (R=Z——F—H+H
on 10 January 2012) BEZEREIERE) - - -
YE De Chao (Vice Chairman and B8 (FTE#
Chief Executive Officer) T #B%])
(redesignated on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—Z—FN\A—HET)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer (R=FE——F—A++tH
on 17 January 2012) EZTATHES) - - v/
ZHOU Guo Chang AEE
(appointed on 10 January 2012) (RZZ-——F—-A+HEZH) - - -
JI Xu Dong FHR N/A N/A
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (R=Z——E\A_BEZFT) Sl ek -
XU Xiao Jun fRME N/A N/A
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (R=ZE——FE)\B-HEZT) i NiEH -
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza X% v/ v/ v/
LAW Kar Po (Chairman) BXE (L) N/A
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ—ZFNA—HET) - - iR
LAW Wing Yee, Wendy &t N/A
(resigned on 2 August 2012) (RZB——FENAZHET) v - NEH
Independent Non-executive Directors BUINTEF
HE Jin Geng BB N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (R=F—-FN\A—BEZT) T T -
YU Hong Gao BiE N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZ2——FEN\F—HEZT) NEF N -
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REH v/ v/ /
KWOK Hong Yee, Jesse FEE N/A
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ——F\A—HET) - v N
KEUNG Kwok Hung ZE% N/A
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZ——F/\H—HEF) v v NEF
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YE De Chao, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged
52, has been appointed as an executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 17 January 2012. Mr. Ye
has been the Vice Chairman of the Company and a member of
the Nomination Committee since 1 August 2012 and has been
the Acting Chairman since 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has been
appointed as the Chairman of the Company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye is the chairman of M RHEMARIBEEBR AT
(Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) which is an
associated company of the Company. He is also the chairman
of MRABHREMEMEAMR AT (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of
experiences in business operation and management. Mr. Ye was
an electric engineer of FZEAR LB B E HGEEBHER
I BE NEME (Electric Technology Department, Nanjing
Railway Sub-administration, Shanghai Railway Bureau, The
Ministry of Railways of The People’s Republic of China*). He
obtained an undergraduate diploma from Southeast University
in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Business, which is located in Beijing, the People’s Republic of
China, in September 2011.

Mr. Ye is a director of Fast Action Developments Limited,
Honesty Services Limited, Honesty Treasure Limited, Prospect
Sync Holdings Limited, Ampleline Holdings Limited, Patient
Holdings Limited, Steady Foundation Limited, City Vision
Investments Limited, Wofford Holdings Limited, Sun On Chung
King (Hong Kong) Limited, Success Take Limited and Keen
Gate Developments Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of
the Company.

Mr. ZHU Hai Hua, Vice Chairman, aged 47, has been appointed
as an executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Company
on 10 January 2012. Mr. Zhu has been redesignated from the
Vice Chairman to the Chairman of the Company since 1 August
2012 and he has been redesignated to the Vice Chairman
since 18 January 2013. Mr. Zhu graduated from Northeastern
University in 1989 with a Bachelor's Degree. Mr. Zhu was the
chairman of Ei5RELEAFRE A7 (Wuxi Yuangi Commercial
Trading Company Limited*) in 2003, the chairman of B88T X
&R ZE AR AT (Baotou Dadi Jinhui Aluminum Company
Limited*) in 2010 and general manager of JTEARIEE X AR
A 7A] (Jiangsu Yuangi Property Company Limited*) in 2011.
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Ms. LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza, aged 52, has over 20 years of
experience in business operation, investment, marketing
and project management. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration from Murdoch University, Australia. Ms.
Lee is responsible for the implementation of corporate policy,
business development plans, administration, the management
of daily operation, marketing functions and general affairs of
the Group. She joined the Group in 2004.

Ms. Lee is a director of Fast Action Developments Limited,
Honesty Services Limited, Honesty Treasure Limited, Prospect
Sync Holdings Limited, Star Palace Enterprises Limited,
Ampleline Holdings Limited, Patient Holdings Limited, City
Vision Investments Limited, Wofford Holdings Limited, Steady
Foundation Limited, Success Take Limited, Sun On Chung King
(Hong Kong) Limited, #1&+ =R AR A7 (Xinan Zhongjing
Gas Company Limited*), FEXEERBRIEEREGR A
(Nantong Shengjie Infrastructure Development Limited*), ¥7
ZEXBE AR AR A ") (Xinan Shengjie Gas Company Limited*),
Keen Gate Developments Limited and Bright Talent Investments
Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. ZHOU Guo Chang, aged 57, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 10 January 2012. Mr.
Zhou was the general manager of 57 T EHH44
A A} (Wuxi Local Industry Materials Supply & Sales Company*)
in 1995. Mr. Zhou founded E#H M HELE XK EFR A (Wuxi
Jufeng Property Investment Company Limited*) and acted as
the chairman of the company in 2002.

Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 48, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied
the course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has
also attended the International Financial Investment Programme
of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and
general manager of EIRMGXAIRMEEBRAFR (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He
previously served as vice general manager of B R M AR M
£E4 27 (Nanjing Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*).
Mr. Ji has obtained the independent director authentication
from the Shanghai National Accounting Institute.
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Mr. XU Xiao Jun, aged 34, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Xu is the
executive deputy general manager and legal representative
of MRARMARIBEER AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property
Company Limited*). Mr. Xu served as the deputy general
manager and the director of the office of FIREF|KFEH
EF# AR 2 E (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited*) during the periods from 2002 to 2009 and
from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a colleague of
Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company at FI REMARI B EER A A
(Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) and formerly
at MR BFZREMERZE AR AF (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*), Mr. Xu is not connected
with any other directors, senior management or substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the
Company have held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years and none of them are
connected with any other directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the
Company and any executive Director. There is no specific
term in respect of their respective appointment, but subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at
the annual general meetings of the Company. Ms. Lee is
entitled to a salary of HK$200,000 per month. The executive
Directors are not entitled to director’s fee but will be entitled to
discretionary bonus to be decided by the Board based on their
contributions, the Company’s annual business performance and
the recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee of
the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2012 are set out
in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
1 August 2012. Mr. He holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics
and Economics from Nanjing University. Mr. He currently serves
as a director and president of FRE D HRR 25 (Nanjing
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd*). He previously served as secretary
of WTH=PI%/~F@EZ (Youth League of Liuao District
of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also served
different posts in FRIEREHERHBMRAE (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the
office, secretary of the board of directors and deputy general
manager. Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 50, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
1 August 2012. Mr. Yu graduated from Nanjing University
of Science and Technology and holds a Doctorate Degree.
Mr. Yu currently serves as deputy general manager of the
Department of Entrusted Assets Management, general manager
of Asset Management Department and general manager of
Securities Investment Department of FEZRZEHFID AR A A
(Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*). He previously served as deputy
manager of the Investment Department of ;T & & Bf BUEE & 5T
Rl A% & A 7 (Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd.
of the Department of Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy
head of FEIRITERDTTHAAZIT (Chengxi Sub-branch of
China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*), deputy general manager
of Securities Investment Head Office and general manager of
Assets Management Head Office of EF=&EH MM AR AR (Xin
Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).

Mr. YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin, aged 60, obtained his Bachelor
Degree of Arts (Hons) from the University of Hong Kong in
1976, attended the Certified Diploma in Accounting and
Finance (ACCA) course at Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1978, completed a course in China Trade and Finance at the
Peking University in 1990 and obtained his Master Degree of
Laws from City University of Hong Kong in 2004. Mr. Yuen has

* The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated,
is included for information purpose only, and should not be

regarded as the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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extensive banking and corporate finance experience and had
worked with international banks and local securities houses
such as First National City Bank, Hong Kong, Sun Hung Kai
Bank Limited, Far East Bank Limited, First Pacific Bancshares
Limited and FPB Asia Limited. He was an executive director
of Pearl Oriental Holdings Limited during the period from
August 1993 to October 2001. He was a director of Sino
Strategic International Limited during the period from October
2005 to November 2007. He joined South China Finance
and Management Limited as the group treasury and business
controller in September 2007 and became the chief operating
officer during the period from March 2008 to December 2008.
He joined Bingo Group Holdings Limited as a business advisor in
February 2009. Mr. Yuen also served as committee member of
Kwai Chung District Industrial and Commercial Subcommittee
of the Kwai Chung and Tsing Yi District Board during the period
from May 1986 to March 1987. Mr. Yuen joined the Group in
April 2011.

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive
Director of the Company has held any other directorships in
listed public companies in the last three years or is otherwise
connected with any other directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between
the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company. There is no specific term in respect
of their respective appointment, but subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years at the annual
general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and Mr.
Yuen received director’s fee of HK$50,000, HK$50,000 and
HK$238,000, respectively, in 2012.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Kim Sun, aged 31, has been appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company on 19 September 2012. Mr.
Chan joined the Company as the Deputy Financial Controller in
August 2011. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business
Administration in Accounting and Finance from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. Mr. Chan has extensive
working experience in finance, accounting, company secretarial
and compliance areas and worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and
its investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and
(ii) natural gas businesses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group's largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted
for approximately 17% and 61% respectively of the Group's
total turnover for the year.

The aggregate direct costs attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 88% and 98% respectively of the Group’s total
direct costs for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 214
of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2012 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 58
to 59 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs as at
31 December 2012 are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and statement of financial position on pages
60 to 62 of this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND
REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31 December 2012.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2012 are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance and has complied throughout the year
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (effective
until 31 March 2012) and the Corporate Governance Code
(effective from 1 April 2012) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the
deviation of code provisions A.4.1, A.5.1, A.6.7 and E.1.2.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance

practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this
report.
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The directors who held office during the year and at the date REARRAREFZHRH 2 ESHOT -
of this report are:

Executive Directors: HITEF -

Mr. Ye De Chao, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EBHBLE  FEFTEHAAE
(redesignated as Chairman on 28 February 2013) (RNZE—=F_A=-+N\BHEITEE)
(redesignated as Acting Chairman on 18 January 2013) (RZE—=F—A+N\HEIREXE)
(redesignated as Vice Chairman on 1 August 2012) (R=ZE—=—FN\A—BEFEEFE)
(appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 17 January 2012) (RZZE—=F— A+ tHEZETHER)

Mr. Zhu Hai Hua, Vice Chairman KEBELE  FIFE
(redesignated as Vice Chairman on 18 January 2013) (R—EBE—=F—A+\HETR=ERE)
(redesignated as Chairman on 1 August 2012) (RZE—=—FN\A—BEEFEF)
(appointed as Vice Chairman on 10 January 2012) (R=Z—=—F— A+ HEZTER)

Mr. Zhou Guo Chang B e
(appointed on 10 January 2012) (RZZE——F—AT+HEZE)

Mr. Ji Xu Dong TRREE
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (RZE—Z-—FN\AZBEZMT)

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun RNERE
(appointed on 2 August 2012) (RZE—Z=ZFNAZBEZME)

Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza FEELRT

Mr. Law Kar Po, Chairman EBREXE  EFE
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZE—Z=F\A—BEHT)

Ms. Law Wing Yee, Wendy ERBE L
(resigned on 2 August 2012) (RZE—Z=FN\AZHFIT)

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUIHBITESE -

Mr. He Jin Geng A& Bk A&

(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZE—=-—FNA—HEZMT)

Mr. Yu Hong Gao BaIm A
(appointed on 1 August 2012) (RZZE——FN\A—HEZMT)

Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin REPLE

Mr. Kwok Hong Yee, Jesse HERLE
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZZE—=—FNA—H&E)

Mr. Keung Kwok Hung ZEME LA
(resigned on 1 August 2012) (RZE—Z=F N\HA—BEHIT)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of HRBANT ZHBEZME 2 E - BEE &
association, Mr. Zhou Guo Chang, Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza and H - FEFLTRRERALEBRARTBIFLE
Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin shall retire from the Board at the TZBRRAFARE LR - HEEERTBEEEE
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, BT -

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao, Mr. Ji Xu Dong and Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun were appointed as Directors of the Company during
the period from 15 June 2012 (the date of the latest annual
general meeting of the Company) to the date of this report.
They will hold office until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and will be eligible for re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the
period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service
contract with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not expiring or terminable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
(a) were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (b) were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.05
each (“Shares”) of the Company

Number of Shares held
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AAREREESETZEER (K
) 2R

% to the issued

BEEYRHAEE share capital of

the Company

Personal Corporate RN

Name of Director Interests Interests Total ERITRA

EEHE AR AEER wmey B2 (%)

Mr. Ye De Chao - 1,189,290,512 1,189,290,512 27.85
EEBEE (Note) (Fff3E)

Mr. Ji Xu Dong 6,230,000 - 6,230,000 0.15

FRREE

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited,
a company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence,
he was deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associate corporation (within the
meaning of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July
2008 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the
Share Option Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested
Entities (any entity in which any member of the Group holds
an equity interest) to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible
Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or Invested Entities, to recognise the contributions of the
Eligible Persons to the growth of the Group or Invested Entities
by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and to motivate and give incentives
to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the long
term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite
any Eligible Person including any director and employee of the
Company to take up options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years. No share options were outstanding
nor granted during the year ended 31 December 2012.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2012, so far as is known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares EBERODZEFE
% to the issued
share capital of
the Company
Number of HAEATF
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares 2EITRA
RRAH BEHH KRG EE B 2L (%)
Legendary Base International Limited Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note) (FF5E) EnlEEA
Expert Ever Limited Beneficial owner 426,990,000 10.00
EmEA

Note: Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye Mf5F : Legendary Base International Limited i ZKA &l
De Chao, a Director of the Company. EEEEBIEREESR -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, no person B EXHBEEIN RZE——F+-_A=+—
(other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an B BMEALZ (TTREESEHAQAAEEHITH
interest or a short position in the Shares and underlying Shares AB) BERND MABERND 2 EmIOXE - A
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company  FER AR A FIREBEF R BHEKIIF3361EFE

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO. 2B MA e
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EEREREEERERE

MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of ~ ASBEERSREEERE 2 F BN AME
the Group are set out on pages 35 to 39 of this report. 2355397 °
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

1

On 18 January 2013, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua has been
redesignated as the Vice Chairman of the Company.
Information in relation to Mr. Zhu as required under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set out in the section
under Directors and Senior Management of this report.

On 18 January 2013, Mr. Ye De Chao assumed the role
of the Acting Chairman of the Company. On 28 February
2013, Mr. Ye has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Company. Information in relation to Mr. Ye as required
under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set out in the
section under Directors and Senior Management of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in Notes 19, 22 and 34
to the consolidated financial statements, no other contracts
of significance to which the Company, its holding company or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer,
an Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the
Company), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi
and Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited (”Forward
Investment”) had entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the subscription of
40% equity interests in Forward Investment by Keen Gate
(the “Subscription”) at a consideration of HK$300 million
(the “Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on 10
December 2012. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Mr.
Ye De Chao, Modern Admission Group Limited and Mr. Lee
Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen Gate, being the
dividend receivable from the Group’s equity interests in Forward
Investment, shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below
such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate on
a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash on
or before 15 May of each calendar year.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, Forward Investment
suffered a loss and therefore would not be able to pay
any dividends to its shareholders, including Keen Gate. As
the completion of the Subscription had taken place on 10
December 2012, the Return Undertaking would be prorated
according to the actual calendar days during which Keen Gate
is a shareholder of Forward Investment, hence, the Return
Undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2012 would be
approximately HK$2.07 million. As such, the Guarantors shall
compensate Keen Gate the amount of approximately HK$2.07
million on or before 15 May 2013.
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As at the date of this report, the Guarantors have not yet
fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$2.07 million to Keen Gate.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall
fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2013. The Directors
of the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfillment
of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking
and will disclose to the public as when the Guarantors have
fulfilled their obligations or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill
their obligations on or before 15 May 2013 by publication of
an announcement.

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) of the
Company had been informed that Forward Investment suffered
a loss and would not be able to pay any dividends to Keen
Gate for the year ended 31 December 2012. The INEDs of the
Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfillment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and
will provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on whether the
Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee
by compensating Keen Gate the amount of approximately
HK$2.07 million on or before 15 May 2013 or not. The INED
Opinion will be disclosed in the Company's next published
annual report and interim report.

Further details of the Group’s connected transaction during the
year ended 31 December 2012 are included in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
presently comprises three independent non-executive Directors.
The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
the Company’s external auditors the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting process including the review of
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to issue of this report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed amount of public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements were audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ye De Chao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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HLB H o wm EH O
Hodgson Impey Cheng

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’' REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 58 to 213, which comprise the consolidated and
company statements of financial position as at 31 December
2012, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

—52 —

31/F, Gloucester Tower &5

The Landmark FIREITH15

11 Pedder Street, Central ZE /&S

Hong Kong FETITREIE
FHEEEREERQAT

BB R 2 B BT
(RAEHSHEMA L R A])

AAZE A E LR IEEIZFES8E213EFTH P R EE
BEBFRAB ([ERA]) REKBAR (518
[BEE]) REVBRE  BERZZ—=F
+Z A=+ —BZHEEMBERRARR BRI
BkRE  BEZALFEZEABRE 586
rEHKER  GEREREHREGEEHEENE
o URFESHBEMERAMBRBIEER o



FREEZIEEARAR » —T— —FFR

Independent Auditors‘ Report

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Except for
the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as
explained below, we conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement. Because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however,
we were not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion.

B ZBENRE

EENARSUYBRRAREZ
B

BERAERRRARBEESGTMASMEMRZ
BEMBHREERNNBERRGIIZ WERE -
RELAEEMATFH2NEAMBERE - LY
EEMEANRS BRI N FEHRRFNER
MEBMENFERRAPIF ZHBEANIEZR

E’EEO

BREMzEE

B ETRRBEZTIEZAR - HAX
RAEMBHRRRESR  LEADEERRERSE
BRI ASNA SR E B A AR R AL sk o RAXBRED
WA ARE 2 ARAEMEMA L AESE
EAEE - R T XA REERESEDEE 2 F
ROREIN AR RBRE B G S RM
MEBZBERETEZ - ZFERIHRE AN ZH
7R 8 T B RREART B FOETTEZ - AR IEHE
EUFERAMBERREE NFEERHE R -
Am o ATRRBERZEE-—BAEE  FF
REMBRAZEE BT REAMERRERBE
R2ERE -



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Independent Auditors’ Report

R L

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Scope limitation - Interests in associates

Included in the interests in associates as set out in Note 19(a) to
the consolidated financial statements was the Group's interests
in b RAPBLZREIREXHRBR AT (Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.) (“Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy”) of approximately HK$292,996,000 as at 31
December 2012. As further explained in Note 19(a)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are unable to obtain adequate and reliable financial information
of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy and its subsidiaries (the
“Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group”). As a result, the
directors of the Company have used the consolidated financial
statements of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group
for the six months ended 30 June 2012 as the practicably
most recent available financial information in applying equity
accounting, the Group did not equity account for its interests
in the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group since 1 July
2012 and has not presented adequate disclosures in relation
to the financial information of the Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group. The directors of the Company are also unable
to determine whether any impairment loss was required. In
addition, the directors of the Company are unable to disclose
its share of the contingent liabilities of the Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy Group incurred jointly with other investor and
those contingent liabilities that arise because the Group is
severally liable for all or part of the liabilities of the Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 28 “Investment in Associates”
issued by the HKICPA.

However, due to the lack of adequate financial information
of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanations or to carry out alternative audit procedures that
we consider necessary in respect of the Group's accounting
treatment for the interests in the Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group. We were also unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to whether
(i) the Group’s interests in the Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group; (ii) the amount of share of results of the Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Group; (iii) the disclosure of the
financial information of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
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Group; and (iv) the amount of the Group's share of contingent
liabilities of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group are
free from material misstatement. In addition, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanations or to carry out alternative audit procedures that
we consider necessary to determine whether any impairment
loss was required and to assess the impact of departures from
HKAS 28. Any adjustment to the abovementioned financial
information would have a consequential effect on the net assets
of the Group as at 31 December 2012, the loss attributable to
the owners of the Company and the presentation and disclosure
of financial information thereon.

Scope limitation - Amounts due from an
associate

Included in the trade and other receivables as set out in Note 22
to the consolidated financial statements were the amounts due
from Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited (“Changdongshun”),
a directly wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy, of approximately HK$23,921,000 as at 31
December 2012. As further explained in Note 19(a)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are unable to obtain adequate and reliable financial information
of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group. As such, the
directors of the Company have been unable to determine
the fair value of the amounts due from Changdongshun in
accordance with HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement” issued by the HKICPA. Accordingly, the
amounts due from Changdongshun was stated at cost less any
identified impairment loss as at 31 December 2012.

However, due to the lack of adequate financial information
of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanations or to carry out alternative audit procedures that
we consider necessary in respect of the Group’s accounting
treatment for the amounts due from Changdongshun and the
impact of the departure from HKAS 39. In addition, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanations or to carry out alternative audit procedures that
we consider necessary to assess the valuation of the amounts
due from Changdongshun and whether the amounts due from
Changdongshun are free from material misstatement. Any
adjustment to the abovementioned financial information would
have a consequential effect on the net assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2012 and the loss attributable to the owners
of the Company and thereon.
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Scope limitation - Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements was an option granted to the Company in respect
of the acquisition of 51% equity interests of Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy (the “Option”) of approximately HK$7,350,000
as at 31 December 2012. As further explained in Note 19(a)(i)
to the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are unable to obtain adequate and reliable financial
information of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group.
As such, the directors of the Company have been unable to
determine the fair value of the Option and whether the Option
is impaired as at 31 December 2012. Accordingly, no fair value
change of the Option was recognised since 1 July 2012.

However, due to the lack of adequate financial information
of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and
explanations or to carry out alternative audit procedures that
we consider necessary in respect of the Group’s accounting
treatment for the Option and the impact of the departure
from HKAS 39. In addition, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and explanations or
to carry out alternative audit procedures that we consider
necessary to assess the valuation of the Option, the fair value
change of the Option recognised and whether the carrying
value of the Option is free from material misstatement. Any
adjustment to the abovementioned financial information would
have a consequential effect on the net assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2012 and the loss attributable to the owners
of the Company and thereon.

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements and as to whether the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EMPHASIS OF MATTERS

Without further qualifying our opinion, we draw attention
to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group which indicates that the Group incurred net loss of
approximately HK$16,799,000 during the year ended 31
December 2012 and recorded current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$63,471,000 as at 31
December 2012. These conditions, along with other matters
as set forth in Note 2, indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 141(4) AND 141(6) OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence about the interests in associates, amounts due
from an associate and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:

- We have not obtained all the information and explanations
that we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;
and

- We were unable to determine whether proper books of
account had been kept.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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FalRaR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2012 2011
—E-—& —T——%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BiE FET FHET
(restated)
(e &75)
Continuing operations REREER
Turnover EERE 4 13,617 2,659
Direct costs BEKAR (8,104) (441)
5,513 2,218
Other revenue and net income H AUz RURAFEE 5 9,920 5,289
Gain arising on change in fair value of KEMENTEES
investment properties EEzWE 14 36,000 3,000
Gain on bargain purchase FEEEE 2= 19(b), 31 54,124 13,348
Gain/(loss) arising on change in fair value of AFEABRE
financial assets at fair value through ZERMEENTEEE
profit or loss EEz W/ (BE) 23 4,260 (3,110
Share of results of associates IR E DRl 5 R 19 (7.377) 8
Other operating expenses HiZ BT (74,374) -
General and administrative expenses —REITRER (51,620) (38,820)
Loss from operations REFHE (23,554) (18,067)
Finance costs IR IEN 6(a) (4,632) (5,816)
Loss before taxation RBi A 518 6 (28,186) (23,883)
Income tax FTiSHi 9 11,387 222
Loss for the year from continuing operations FRARHZFFLLLER 2R 10 (16,799) (23,661)
Discontinued operations RIS ER
Profit for the year from discontinued operations — F R B [FAE & #5525 7 11 - 5,911
Loss for the year EREE (16,799) (17,750)
Attributable to: FE4L
- Owners of the Company . YNCIEZ PN (15,414) (22,755)
- Non-controlling interests — SRR RS (1,385) 5,005
Loss for the year FRER (16,799) (17,750)
Loss per share (HK cents per share) BRERE (BRBW) 13
From continuing and discontinued operations REZFERKILEEEHR
(0.36) cents (0.54) cents
Basic YN Bl eIl
(0.36) cents (0.54) cents
Diluted g Bl pall
From continuing operations REFECEER
(0.36) cents (0.56) cents
Basic AR Bl AL
(0.36) cents (0.56) cents
Diluted e B Al AL

The notes on pages 67 to 213 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Fe2ElRR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

2012 2011

—F--F —F—F

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bzt THERT TEx
(restated)

(BE7)

Loss for the year EREBE (16,799) (17,750)
Other comprehensive income: Hth2EWKE
Exchange differences on translation of financial AEGING B AR B ERE

statements of overseas subsidiaries ZERZR (2) 182
Share of other comprehensive income of associates  FE/EEES A B H 2 E U

- Exchange reserve —[ERFEE 19 (2,162) 17
Total comprehensive expenses for the year FREEBEXEE (18,963) (17,551)
Attributable to: Ptk

— Owners of the Company —ARREBA (17,569) (22,560)

- Non-controlling interests — FFERR R R (1,394) 5,009
Total comprehensive expenses for the year FRE2EFARAR (18,963) (17,551)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R e MBIk E

At 31 December 2012 R —F——#+—-H=+—H

2012 2011
—E-C-F —T——%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
(restated)
(i&&E75)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE

Investment properties REME 14 288,000 252,000
Property, plant and equipment ME  BENRRE 15 19,596 19,403
Properties under development rEEDE 16 - -
Goodwill EES 17 - 27,118
Intangible asset B AE 18 122,559 168,109
Interests in associates NI - 19 644,610 300,025
1,074,765 766,655

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories 7E 21 109 -
Trade and other receivables U B 5 BR 3% I At FE U R IE 22 33,503 7,881
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AR TEFARREZ 2 REE 23 7,350 3,090
Cash and bank balances e NMIRTES 24 25,009 472,347
65,971 483,318

CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R R E b FET IR 25 (14,380) (23,860)
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured HEEE BER 26 (115,062) (120,552)
Convertible notes AR 27 - (63,917)
(129,442) (208,329)
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS e (BfE) BEFE (63,471) 274,989
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERRBAR 1,011,294 1,041,644




FREEZIEEARAR » —T— —FFR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FaEMBRAR

At 31 December 2012 R=F—=—#+=-H=+—H

2012 2011
—E-CF —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
(restated)
(1BE5)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY EIS - h=R
Deferred tax liabilities BREHIBEEE 28 (30,640) (42,027)
NET ASSETS EEFE 980,654 999,617
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARRE
Share capital [N 30(a) 213,496 213,496
Reserves s 756,126 773,695
Total equity attributable to owners of FATEE AEGEREE
the Company 969,622 987,191
Non-controlling interests FERBRRESR 11,032 12,426
TOTAL EQUITY R 980,654 999,617

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson ~ RZE—=F=A -+ \BEKESSH LW EZE

28 March 2013. o
Ye De Chao Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza
EEE EXE
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 67 to 213 form an integral part of these ~ F67E213B ZMF ARGE M B ]mE 2 — &
consolidated financial statements. vl
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Statement of Financial Position

MEIRRE

At 31 December 2012 R —F——#+—-H=+—H

2012 2011
—E-CF —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries B AR R 20 893,902 580,983

CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables TEUE 5 708 Ik H Ath JE R IR 22 11,803 878
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AR TEGTARREZ 2 REE 23 7,350 3,090
Cash and bank balances HE NIRTES 24 9,312 433,022
28,465 436,990
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE

Trade and other payables FERTE 5 8RR H b FE T RIE 25 (5,715) (8,341)
Convertible notes Bl ESEH 27 - (63,917)
(5.715) (72,258)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 22,750 364,732
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEE 916,652 945,715
NET ASSETS BEEFE 916,652 945,715

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARFHE
Share capital [ 30(a) 213,496 213,496
Reserves s 30(b) 703,156 732,219
TOTAL EQUITY R 916,652 945,715

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson  ~ R-TE—=F=F -+ \ B E S St EIL i

28 March 2013. FEE o
Ye De Chao Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza
E=ER FEXE
Director Director
EBE EBFE

The notes on pages 67 to 213 form an integral part of these FTEQI3EZH T ARNGEMEHRR 2 — 36
consolidated financial statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeExgnR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ - A=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARFHEAEE

Capital Convertible Retained
Capital redemption notes earnings/ Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve equity Exchange (accumulated controlling Total

capital premium  (note 1) (note 2) reserve  reserve losses) Total interests equity
X
EXfE  RERE TRRRE RERA/ FER
RA  ReEE  (ME1) (Wi2)  EuRE EXRE (RHER) af  RREZ RRAE
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL TARL TAL THT  THx TET  TEx TAL TAL

At 1 January 2011 RZE——F
—-A-H 201,186 725,096 - 69 18,223 31,233 28,690 1,004,497 259,763 1,264,260
Exchange differences on AERNHBLF
translation of financial BB ER
statements of overseas 22
subsidiaries - - - - - 178 - 178 4 182
Share of other comprehensive  FE(FEF 42T E
income of associates 2EYE - - - - - 17 - 17 - 17
(Loss)/profit for the year FRH(5B)/
gl - - - - - - (36,598)  (36,598) 5,005 (31,593)

Total comprehensive income/ ~ ERZENE /

(expenses) for the year (Ax%) &% - - - - - 195 (36,598)  (36,403) 5009 (31,394)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - - - (31,233 - (31,233) (265,049) (296,282)
Shares issued at a premium  EHRABRERE

on conversion of convertible & BT

notes 12,310 30,953 - - (6,848) - - 36,415 - 36,415
Acquisition of a subsidiary IREEIR B AT - - - - - - - - 12,703 12,703
Capital injection of a subsidiary [F—MBATE - - 7 - - - - 72 - 7
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeEgnR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company
RAREEAEE
Capital Convertible Retained
Capital redemption notes earnings/ Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve equity Exchange (accumulated controlling Total

capital premium  (note 1) (note 2) reserve  reserve losses) Total interests equity
X
Exfds  BERE TERRE REEA / FER
RE  ReiEE  (ME1) (Wi2)  ERRE EXRE (RHER) A BRREE RELE
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
THAL TAL TAL TAL TEr  Thx TEr Bz  TEx TAL

At 31 December 2011 and ~ R-F——£

1 January 2012 (as +ZR=1+-H
previously reported) h-E--F
—A-A (%
AIER) 213,496 756,049 72 69 11,375 195 (7,908) 973,348 12,426 985,774
Effect of change in SHEREY
accounting policies (Note 3) ~ #/% (Hf5£3) = - - - - - 13843 13,843 - 13883

At 31 December 2011 and ~ R=F——%F
1 January 2012 (restated) +ZA=1+-H
RZZ-Z%
—A-H
(7)) 213,496 756,049 72 69 11,375 195 5935 987,191 12,426 999,617

Exchange differences on b=
translation of financial BRRER

statements of overseas 22

subsidiaries - - - - - 7 - 7 (9) @)
Share of other comprehensive JE(EE 21N A E

income of associates 2ENE - - - - = (2,162) = (2,162) = (2.162)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (15414)  (15,414)  (1,385)  (16,799)

Total comprehensive expenses FREEH L EH

for the year - - - - - (2,155) (15,414)  (17,569) (1,394)  (18,963)
Redemption of convertible BB A#HEEE
notes - - - - (11,375) - 11,375 - - -
At 31 December 2012 WZE-—F
+ZA=t—H 213,49 756,049 72 69 - (1,960) 1,896 969,622 11,032 980,654
Notes: ffsE -

1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection 1. AEBEEXRFEEEMBARGMERZBETE -
of the registered capital of a subsidiary.

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. EARBEEREIEAR IR EER R 2 EE -
repurchased out of distributable profit.

The notes on pages 67 to 213 form an integral part of these ~ $67E213H Z N RAREGRE T B wEK 250 -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

2012 2011
—B——F —T——F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FTERT FHAT
(restated)
(&E51)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXE®
Loss before taxation from continuing operations R EHELL ¥4 2 RRATER (28,186) (23,883)
Profit before taxation from discontinued REL I EEEE BB R T
operations 11 - 26,875
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (B1B),BF (28,186) 2,992
Adjustments for: FTFIELFE
Amortisation and depreciation of non-current ERBEESERINE
assets 9,140 5,444
Interest income FBUA 5 (5,756) (5,333)
Gain arising on change in fair value of KENMELNTEEPEE 2 HE
investment properties 14 (36,000) (5,285)
Gain on bargain purchase ZEEE 2 19(b), 31 (54,124) (13,348)
(Gain)/loss arising on change in fair value of AT ETABRZER Y
financial assets at fair value through profit or CHEEATEETELY
loss (W), B8 23 (4,260) 3,110
Loss on written off of property, plant and M - BE RRERR . B
equipment 15 - 18
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZEE 31(a) = 11,665
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade TEWE ZFERA R E M REWGE
and other receivables BRZBEEE 22 2,532 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HEERRREER
goodwill 17 27,118 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HE BERZBHERZ
property, plant and equipment FEEE 15 4,850 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of FEVEERRINEEE
intangible assets 18 39,874 -
Finance costs IR DN 6 4,632 13,989
Share of results of associates EIEEE R R 2 EE 19 7,377 (8)
Operating (loss)/profit before changes in REESBBA LY (BR)/
working capital il (32,803) 13,244
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other e E 5 BRI EoAtb FE U R IR
receivables (gm),/ md (27,777) 69,224
Decrease in stock of properties MEFERD = 142,386
Increase in inventories FEEM (109) -
e E S8R % R E fh FE 15 5K I8
Decrease in trade and other payables B (10,071) (240,764)
Cash used in operations REERERS (70,760) (15,910)
Tax paid [BANE2E = (308)
Net cash used in operating activities REXBIERESTH (70,760) (16,218)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2012 2011
—8-C-F %
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET FHT
(restated)
(e &75)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Interest received U F B 5 5,379 5,333
Decrease in pledged deposits BHEAF TR = 1,568
Payment for investment properties REMEZ TR 14 - (2,213)
Payment for the purchase of property, plantand ~ BAME BERZREZHR
equipment 15 (8,430) (8,077)
Payment for development costs of properties EEMERERAZ MR
under development 16 = (448)
Payment for investment in associates REBERRIZHR 19 (300,000) (300,000)
Net cash inflow upon disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRABRERAFE 31(a) - 576,633
Net cash outflow upon acquisition of subsidiaries U EHM BN B)FFIR €7 1558 31(b) - (138,969)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing REEHK (i) FEREFE
activities (303,051) 133,827
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXK
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER (5,490) (102,706)
Proceeds from new bank loans L RITE ST RIA = 23,000
Redemption of convertible notes BOARRER 27 (65,000) -
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling JE A JE PR AR AR SRR 25 R TR
interests 591 88,577
Interest paid ERFE 6 (3,549) (11,654)
Net cash used in financing activities MEXBIERE TR (73,448) (2,783)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash HERBESZEY GRD) /8
equivalents FH (447,259) 114,826
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NS R ) v 2 & (79) (2,939)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year RNEFENzRENREEEY 24 472,347 360,460
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year REAZEHERRESEEY 25,009 472,347
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash REeRBeEEYZERDIN
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year REKRZEERREEEY 24 25,009 472,347

The notes on pages 67 to 213 form an integral part of these ~ F67E2138 2 Wik ARERE MK 2 215D ©
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 B ZE —E——F+ - H=+—HIFFF

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands
on 16 June 1992 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 2 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the registered office of the Company in
the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co. Ltd., Windward
1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is 16th Floor, Agricultural Bank of China Tower, 50
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company (with its subsidiaries is collectively referred
to as the “Group”) is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are described in
Note 20.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

1.
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F AR - IR ERIEET) R—ANZF
ANATARBERERSTMANIA—HBEX
HREBRAR  RRFIRMDRBEBEE R
SMBRAR ([BRAA]) £ET - RAFIR
WEES 2T MM EE i BThe R&H
Trust Co. Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office
Park, West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
Cayman lIslands © "R GREE Z st &
RREELEME /TR THEFRS0HRF
ERLRITRE164 -

ARR (EREMBAR - Sl AER])
RRAREZERAR - ENERARZER
FBAMIEE20 FIR o

R BRERIANETZ2S
WREEHER o
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FEEHBE
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KA BRREBRBEEEGFEQ
SEMcMBERTEMBREE
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& M B R

For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. It has also issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs which are available for current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 3
provides information any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group
in light of the fact that the Group had incurred net
loss of approximately HK$16,799,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2012 and recorded net
current liabilities of approximately HK$63,471,000
as at 31 December 2012. The net current liabilities
was mainly due to the reclassification of bank loans
to current liability with the on demand clause.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
after taking into account of its present available
financial resources and a financial support granted
to the Company by Mr. Ye De Chao, being a director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, the
Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirements. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company consider that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.

2. TESTEE @

(a)

(b)

OB (&)

BEGMASCHEME TR AEE
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RIER I B3] RIS RT 2RIl 31 2
EAEFBRESH 2EH - URAER
B BEHRPRKRIRT B ESEH
SRR E AR E RIR o

ERESHBRERZER
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A=+ BLFEELEFEBEY
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63,471,000 70 - X AR EEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the

consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2012 comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group’s interests in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that certain financial
instruments and properties are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting polices set out
below.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Certain comparative figures of prior years have been
re-presented to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

2. FESSTBE »)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —ZF——F+_-H=+—HIFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(o) MBARARFEZERRRERS

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating polices of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 # % —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

() MEBARKRFEZERRRER (4)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation
of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling
interests and owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of
a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an interest in an associate or a
jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(d) Goodwill (d) &

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described below.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting,
except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates.

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an
associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are applied to
determine whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
investment in an associate. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

Upon disposal of an associate that results in
the Group losing significant influence over that
associate, any retained investment is measured
at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as
a financial asset in accordance with HKAS 39. The
difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest
and its fair value is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant
influence over that associate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Interests in associates (Continued)

(f)

When a group entity transacts with its associate,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate that are not related to
the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of business
tax and after eliminating sales with the Group
companies. Revenue is recognised in consolidated
income statement as follows:

Sales of properties

Sales of properties are recognised upon the
completion of sales contracts with customers;
completion of construction of relevant properties;
and registration of sales contracts with local
authority is completed, whichever is the later.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position
as advanced proceeds received from customers and
grouped under current liabilities.

Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in consolidated income statement in
equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in consolidated
income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent
rentals are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Properties management income

Revenue associated with rendering of services for
properties management fee.

Sale of natural gases

Revenue from the sale of natural gases is recognised
when the natural gas is delivered to customers and
is based on the gas consumption derived from meter
readings.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(g) Leasing (Continued) (9) HE (&)

The Group as lessee

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets,
in which case they are capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

EEEEREBA

MERNKEMEEREEERERD
ZEDR  EmEINEEREZFH
EHIFER - BB R AN B R IRE
R BRIIREEGENEGEREE
EZBEATERRBRAEEN —RKEE
BB R E AL o A ESHREEH
AR AR o

REHENTABRE - REHRER
RFX - BRE RFREEERRERE
MRAFBERKRE HEEEZKE
Mk IR BORFERR N - REMEMME
Ez AR REL PEER R o

MEI K EHEATARSHEES
ZEBERERAGERER - BEEEER
BABERETRESHER - 1ES
BERGUEEERRHMEEAE ALK
1 T E A E R IR L OR
BRAN o



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M B R

For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(g) Leasing (Continued) (9) HE &)

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land
and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at
the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as ‘prepaid lease payments’ in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(h) 5he

(h) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for:

- exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to
construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest
costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

assets under

- exchange differences on transactions entered
into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
risks; and

- exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(h) 5hEE (42)

(h) Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a jointly
controlled entity that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Foreign currencies (Continued)

()

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in equity under the heading of foreign currency
translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in consolidated
income statement in the period in which they
are incurred, except to the extent that they are
capitalised as being directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and

contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement

plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are

paid annual

accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated income statement
because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 B ZE —E——F+ - H=+—HIFFF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(k) FrR&® (47)

(k) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Q)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below),
the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

are stated in

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets (other than properties under construction)
less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated
over their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the
end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Q)

(m)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held for long
term rental income or capital appreciation or
both. These include completed properties, those
under construction and properties that are being
redeveloped for continuing use as investment
properties.

Investment properties are carried at fair value
based on valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer on a market value basis related
to individual properties, and separate values are
not attributed to land and buildings. Changes in
fair values are recognised in consolidated income
statement in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
its disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition,
calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the property,
is included in consolidated income statement in the
period in which the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESSTBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Stock of properties (n) M¥ERE

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, depreciation of machinery and equipment,
amortisation of land use rights and professional
fees incurred during the development period.
On completion, the properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale remaining unsold
at the year end are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to
the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses, or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

TEH 22 TE Y5

EHE RS ERYRIBK AR R
BREZBREEAR - T#RFETD
SEEREBBRETHENEZME
RERER 2 EBHEE R RFAEHR
TRA  REBBRIERTHISEME
1R Z EFTEESE -

MERBRABERERHELZE
SRR EMRETE S LHER
BEENEXER NYERTE
ZEMEDEERFELEZRTY
£

HEHEZRTY#E
RERDARBENFELEZRTY
SRR B A B HE 2 BURE IR
XA BIED AR & W R B 2 F B K
o
AERREN2EEREKBRES L
EMEZAEHIBRER 2 #iHE

BR - AEEERBERITHISEEE
HEERTESE -

— 87 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M B R

For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from
goodwill where they satisfy the definition of
an intangible asset and their fair values can be
measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets
is their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Impairment of tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested
for impairment when there is an indication that the
assets may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on weighted average basis. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the statement of financial position when an
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESSTBE »)

POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued) (s) £@IT A (&)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial
assets classified as at FVTPL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables (including cash and bank balances and
trade and other receivables but not the prepayment)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment (see accounting
policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective except for short-term
receivables when the recognition of interest would

interest rate,

be immaterial.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when

the financial asset is either held for trading or it is

designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling it in the near future; or

- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued) (s) £@IT A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

- the financial asset forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

- it forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS
39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets and is
included in the “other revenue and net income”
line item in the consolidated income statement.
Fair value is determined in the manner described
in Note 23.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(s) ERTH (%)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) SHIEE (/)
Impairment of financial assets 2 EE R E

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are

TRMEE (LR FEFABRERZE

assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been affected.

Obijective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation;
or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial assets because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 365 days, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 B ZE —E——F+ - H=+—HIFFF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued) (s) £@IT A (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost,
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 EZ - E—_—F 1+ _-H=+—HIFFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(s) €MI A #®)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
an entity are as other financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of a company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by a company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

The Group's financial liabilities
interest-bearing borrowings, convertible notes and
trade and other payables but not the advanced
proceeds received from customers) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest rate method.

(including

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis other than financial liabilities classified
as at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 # % —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. FESSTBE »)

(s) £RMTH (%)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where
the number of shares that would be issued on
conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are
accounted for as compound financial instruments
which contain both a liability component and an
equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of
the convertible notes is measured as the present
value of the future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable
at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities
that do not have a conversion option. Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as
the liability component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to
the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible notes
equity reserves until either the note is converted or
redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible notes equity
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the note is
redeemed, the convertible notes equity reserves is
released directly to retained earnings.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TESTEE @

(s) Financial instruments (Continued) (s) €@ T A (&)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial assets only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
assets, the Group continues to recognise the
financial assets and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Company has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

(t)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial assets, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised directly in equity
is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position when
the obligation specified in the relevant contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid or payable
is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks, and
short term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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(s) £RMTH (%)

(t)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTEE »)
POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Discontinued operations (u) RIEEETK

HREXBR/EBMERG 2 — 810
#EM&EEQ/mE—IEﬁi%EIWJ%ﬁ%
BREED - ARKR-IEZER M
BREID B EBEER  MER/RHE
HEEBRMREA D ZBIERR

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows
of which can be clearly distinguished from the
rest of the Group and which represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of

| WEH‘M/EE

operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan 7B —ETE T — 2y B —
to dispose of a separate major line of business or fE) B8 40 A B & M Uk B8 2 BT /& A 7

geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs HESXTE LA IELE 2 %A
upon disposal or when the operation meets the (ZZEI?%?E%) TEWR . TP BRI
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. It IR « BERWNER e HIF
also occurs when the operation is abandoned. MR PRREEERS o
Where an operation is classified as discontinued, HMEBEOBEAKRITEEEY Bl
a single amount is presented on the face of the e BERmKREY —HEE -85 =&
consolidated income statement which comprises: /8]E
—  the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued - %%JJ:Z‘«%iﬁ%ngﬁRTﬁ/ﬁnﬂY%
operation; and 18
- the post-tax profit or loss recognised on the — WEEXEEHER (FERKK FK
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, BER) BRAFEFERHEERK
or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal AMERIANHERER 2R
group(s) constituting the discontinued BB -
operation.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHER @
POLICIES (Continued)
(v) Related parties (v) BEAZL
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: WBATAL BIAREEZBEEA
=+
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s (a) WBUATAZL BIZZAL=HZA
family, is related to the Group if that person: T2 REREE B EE

(i) has control or joint control over the (i) FEHISEEIERIAER
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (il BEREFBBEEBATE 5L
or

(i) is a member of the key management (i) AAREEFIAEELRQF
personnel of the Group or the Group's MEEEEERE -
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) HFFA THHERMEE - BN
following conditions applies: ANEBEFBE -

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of (i) ZEREAQNABR —%
the same Group (which means that each ZHKERNR (& A
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary EIRR G NGNGB =
is related to the others). NEE L EEREE) -

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture (i) —HEEAS —FEOK
of the other entity (or an associate or BRNRHBEEDRE (B —
joint venture of a member of a Group of BERAKE AR ZEEHIE
which the other entity is a member). A=A NGBS

BEDE) -

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the (iy MEAEBHBRA—F=7
same third party. JEERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third vy —HEBAE=EBY
entity and the other entity is an associate cEhE¥E ME—EBA
of the third entity. ZE=HERNEERR]
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTEHX @
POLICIES (Continued)
(v) Related parties (Continued) (v) BEAL (&)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) HFFA THMEMREE - BN EE
following conditions applies: (Continued) KEBERE : (&)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit () BERAAEESHEAEES
plan for the benefit of employees of BEBEEEMEEMNR
either the Group or an entity related to BB ERETE -
the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly (i) BEES()FTHRBIA T2
controlled by a person identified in (a). X H RS o

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) R@)FTERIATEE R
influence over the entity or is a member BEARFENSEZER (5%
of the key management personnel of the ZEBHNERR) TEZER
entity (or of a parent of the entity). IElp 4=

Close members of the family of a person are those FRHATHEREREEZERI S
family members who may be expected to influence BRI EZRATIRZALTRE
by, that person in their dealings with the entity. MEREERKE -
(w) Operating segments (w) EEHEP

Operating segments are reported in a manner EL%ﬁBZ#&iET B B @R
consistent with the internal reporting provided FEERABZAESERE K —
to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief M- FELEBERFEE (MAESEE
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for TBUANTI EREENEICEERIRE)
allocating resources and assessing performance of TR NBIEESE

the operating segments, has been identified as the
directors of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3.
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs")

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s consolidated
financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments  First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters

HKFRS 7 Amendments  Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets

HKAS 12 Amendments  Income Taxes — Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets

Other than the impact of HKAS 12, the adoption of the
new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements. The principal effects
of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

Amendments to HKFRS 1 - Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters

The amendments to HKFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters introduce
a new deemed cost exemption for entities that have been
subject to severe hyperinflation, whereby these entities
can elect fair value as the deemed cost for assets and
liabilities affected by severe hyperinflation in their first
HKFRS financial statements. The amendments also remove
the legacy fixed dates in HKFRS 1 relating to derecognition
and day one gain or loss transactions. As the Group is not
a first time adopter of HKFRSs, the amendments have no
financial impact on the Group.
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B B

BEMBHRELENERETARER LR
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures -
Transfers of Financial Assets

The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 7
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets in the current
year. The amendments increase the disclosure requirements
for transactions involving the transfer of financial assets
in order to provide greater transparency around risk
exposures when financial assets are transferred. The
adoption of the revised standard did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets

The Group has applied for the first time the amendments
to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
in the current year. Under the amendments, investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model
in accordance with HKAS 40 “Investment Property”
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale for
the purposes of measuring deferred taxes unless the
presumption is rebutted.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets (Continued)

The Group measures its investment properties using the
fair value model. As a result of the application of the
amendments to HKAS 12, the directors of the Company
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and
concluded that none of the Group’s investment properties
are held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather
than through sale. Therefore, the directors of the Company
have determined that the “sales” presumption set out
in the amendments to HKAS 12 is not rebutted. The
application of the amendments to HKAS 12 has resulted in
the Group not recognising any deferred taxes on changes
in fair value of the investment properties located in Hong
Kong as the Group is not subject to any income taxes
on disposal of its investment properties located in the
Hong Kong. Previously, the Group recognised deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties
on the basis that the entire carrying amounts of the
properties were recovered through use. The amendments
to HKAS 12 have been applied retrospectively, resulting
in the Group’s deferred tax liabilities being decreased
by approximately HK$18,735,000 and goodwill being
decreased by approximately HK$4,892,000 as at 31
December 2011 with the corresponding credit being
recognised in retained earnings. Since the corresponding
investment properties were acquired by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2011, there was no restated
balance as at 1 January 2011 by applying the amendments
to HKAS 12.

. BRI REEBT 2ERM

BHREEA ((HEEMB®RS

2281 1) @)

ERSTTERE125R 2B AIEL
BiE  HEEENWE &)

AEBFRAAFERAGEEREDE -
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Mz MIEBA/BEERE - At - KA F
EERAEBBGTENE 125 (BFTAX)
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Frissi thiER BB ERIE 125 215
I ARERAEEERRUNB B ZRE
MEANFEEHELEZAMBELERIE - U
T AEERERREMELATFEEFHZ
EERIERDERYEZZ2TEERESB
BERYE - BESFTERFE129 2185
CEPER BRR=ZT——F+=ZA=
T+T—BAAREEZEEREEBEREES A
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets (Continued)

In the current year, no deferred taxes have been provided
for changes in fair value of the Group's investment
properties. The change in accounting policy has resulted
in the Group’s income tax expense for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 31 December 2011 being reduced
by approximately HK$5,940,000 and HK$495,000
respectively, increased in gain on bargain purchase of
approximately HK$13,348,000 for the year ended 31
December 2011 and hence resulted in loss for the years
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 being decreased
by approximately HK$5,940,000 and HK$13,843,000
respectively.

Impact of the application of amendments
to HKAS 12

Impact on loss for the years

3.

ERE#HTIRRET 2B B
BRELED (BB BRSE
28 ]) @)

BB ERE12R 2B AIEL
BiE  HEEENWE &)

RAFE  TEEEHERASEEIZED
XAV EEEHAIREE SHBRCE
BERAEERE_E——F+ A=+
—BER-ZZE——F+-A=Z+—HILFE
Z P15 # 5 2 9 BllE 2> 95,940,000 7T
K495,0008 TAREE T ——F+=
A=+—HBLEFEZZEEERZEMNE
#4913,348,000 L A MEBHREE - F
——FRZETE——F+ZA=+—HL
FEZBE D RIR D #5,940,000% T &
13,843,000/ 7T °

FEAERSTTEAE12N 2BTR

2
HFERNEEZZE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2012 2011
= T 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Decrease in income tax expenses FrSHFRSR D 5,940 495
Increase in gain on bargain purchase HEREWREM - 13,348
5,940 13,843

Decrease in loss for the year attributable to: THATEEFEREERD -
Owners of the Company VAUNSEZZSUN 5,940 13,843
Non-controlling interests JEVR AR AR SR 2 - -
5,940 13,843
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERFFIRKET 2EEY
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL BHREER (BB ERSE
REPORTING STANDARDS 28 ) )

("HKFRSS") (Continued)
Impact of the application of amendments FERAEREGERE125 2 BT A
to HKAS 12 (Continued) ZEE (F)
Impact on net assets and equity as at 31 December YWR—FE——FF+ A=+ —HZEEF
2011 BEREREE
As at 31
December 2011 Amendments As at 31
as previously to HKAS 12 December 2011
reported adjustments restated
R-_ZT——F BE g £ R-_T——F
+-A=+—H E12%2 T-ZB=1—H
(FERIFT25R) BRI AE (&E75)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIBERE (60,762) 18,735 (42,027)
Goodwill e 32,010 (4,892) 27,118
Total effect on net assets HEEFEIVERE 985,774 13,843 999,617
Accumulated losses ESy e (7,908) 13,843 5,935
Total effect on equity Fa Fnpvd- 2 Fot 985,774 13,843 999,617
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. EAFGIREEITI 2B EY
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL BHREER ((EEMERE
REPORTING STANDARDS 28 ]) @)

("H KFRSS") (Continued)

Impact of the application of amendments FEREBEEERE125 2 BT
to HKAS 12 (Continued) SE (£)

Impact on net assets and equity as at 31 December IR E——FF_F=+—HZELEF
2012 EREmzZE

Amendments
to HKAS 12
adjustments

ERETER

E125R 2
CHE ¥k
HK$’000
BT

Deferred tax liabilities

BEHIBAE

19,783

Total effect on net assets

HEEFECVERE

19,783

Accumulated losses

25 E#E

19,783

Total effect on equity

HiEn FERE

19,783
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9
Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial
Statements?
Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?
Fair Value Measurement?

Employee Benefits?
Separate Financial Statements?

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Presentation
of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income’

Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities?

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures?

Consolidated Financial
Statements, Joint
Arrangements and Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities:
Transition Guidance?

Investment Entities’

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

3. BRI REEI 2EEY

BHREEA ((HEEMB®RS

2281 1) @)

AEBY RKRAEAPBERRPEAIAT
ERMEERERHAT REETREY

B -

BT BRELER
oL
BT BRE %R
1055
BB TS HRELER
E115%
BB TS HRE 2R
F125%
BEUBREER
5135
BB ERIE 195
(ZT—F&B83)
B ERIE275%
(ZE——F&IB85)
BB GRIERIE285

(ZT——FEEF)

BRGNS R
CHE)

BEAMTIwE &R
F7% (BIIA)

BB IS WA
BIRREBNHE
R AERIFE TR
(BETA)

AR TSR 2R
F105% - BB
BREEAE11HRR
BB TS HRE 2R
F125% (BETA)

BB TS HE 2R
E105 - BAMIS
HEEE12H R

BERGRHERIE275

(ZZ2——%F)
(BETA)

TATA

HE A BFHE?

2 EEH

REMER B KB

AFEHE

ES 5P

BB

REERFAREERFZ

RE?

HBHZAES — A2
Kz BB 25

TRTA -

RE - HH

THEERTBER

BB B HRERREIT %
AR A R AR

HEHBHE  BELH
RREREMERZ#EmR
E - 8RS

REZE
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERAMAIRKEIT 2EBEY
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL BREER ([FRUBHRS
REPORTING STANDARDS 281 =)
("HKFRSS") (Continued)
HKAS 32 Amendments Financial Instruments: BEAGH RSN 2@ IA 23 - HEsf
Presentation — Offsetting CHES! BERZHER
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities’
HKFRSs Amendments Annual Improvements to ERUBREER BEVYBREENZZTTN
HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle CHES! i?é:f——ﬁﬁﬂﬁi
except for the amendments FoE (BEgERE
to HKAS 12 1R ZIERTARERSN) 2
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the 5% (ABRMBRE MARELEEEFFR
Production Phase of a 2BZE®)- B2
Surface Mine? REE205%
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 1 RZE——F+tA B Z2EHENFE
2012 AR AR

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RIZE—=F-A-BARZEBEFENFE
2013 BRI AR

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 RZZE—NF—A—H 2 BHRENFE
2014 HR AR

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 4 RIE-—RF-A-—ARZERBNFE
2015 AR A3

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments MR EENFEIEEMTE

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for RZZBZNFEM BB B REELE

the classification and measurement of financial assets. 955% 3| )\ﬁﬁﬂi BMEESDBENIGEZHR

HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to include requirements Eo-RIE—ZFEIIZBEEMBmEE

for the classification and measurement of financial AIZORRETHEMBEZDEREN

liabilities and for derecognition. NIRRT ©

— 110 —



FREEZIEEARAR » —T— —FFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is
not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with
only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39,
the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit
or loss was presented in profit or loss.

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

ERFIRZET 2EBEH
BHRELED (BB BRE
28] ]) @)

ERAMKBRELEAFIRESMITAE
(&)

BAMBHEEUFIR 2 TR A EH AL
T

EESFENER &I A BRK
R SEBACHEEEREBREENHE

BIZBHEKASI A FEFE - RBEME

J/\/(EEJ&HX%’UE@Q%/ALZ%?AZET%ﬁZ
BEBEKRE  UREBARAESHHAEE
RSB RS RMEZHTERS R ER
BE —REREBREHARZEHEKR
AT TEEMERIRE RRAIZERIR
Hg 7 @t EARBEIZATESE - 1t
SN IRIBBRBVBRELERF - B
ER AT e 2EE  REMEEKES
2IRARE (LEFERS) A FEZH
#EE  HERBMABENEEERER -

HRBEERUNRAFEAABERZEHA
BENFEMES » BEMBHRELERFEIRR
o BREREMEmBSERZREER
ERRESH X ESEHABEBRBEREPZ
Gt B REBEZEERRE
BolEzeRmBEATEEZSSE - AN
Hizmlm@2d - eRBEFERRE
FolEzeMAEBEATEEFERIEN
Taﬁnﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’“*ﬁ ZHIREEB G ER
SE395% - 15 %Tﬁ@ﬂ?fﬁuﬂ\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzg—:
BABZAFEEDE2HNES

5]
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2015, with earlier application permitted.
The directors anticipate that the adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

New and revised standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued,
including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described
below:

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements” that deal with
consolidated financial statements. HK (SIC)-Int 12
“Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities” will be
withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 10. Under
HKFRS 10, there is only one basis for consolidation, that
is, control. In addition, HKFRS 10 includes a new definition
of control that contains three elements: (a) power over an
investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been added in
HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and revised standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures (Continued)

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”.
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of
which two or more parties have joint control should be
classified. HK (SIC) — Int 13 “Jointly Controlled Entities
— Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers” will be
withdrawn upon the effective date of HKFRS 11. Under
HKFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint
operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In
contrast, under HKAS 31, there are three types of joint
arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled
assets and jointly controlled operations. In addition, joint
ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to be accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, whereas jointly
controlled entities under HKAS 31 can be accounted for
using the equity method of accounting or proportionate
consolidation.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable
to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured
entities. In general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
12 are more extensive than those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain transitional
guidance on the application of these five HKFRSs for the
first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments
relating to the transitional guidance, are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
with earlier application permitted provided all of these
standards are applied at the same time. The directors
anticipate that the adoption of the revised standard
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

3.

ERME REIET 2 &R
BHREEA ((HEEMB®RS

2281 1) @)

ERGAEAR 8 TH BEQ
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2HE BIEEIRRHET2ENREE
ME - R REFESFEAE315 -
BEREBASR=TE : XFRZEHER  H
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The Standard defines fair value, establishes
a framework for measuring fair value, and requires
disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of
HKFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument
items and non-financial instrument items for which
other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except
in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 13 are more extensive than those
in the current standards. For example, quantitative and
qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value
hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only
under HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures will be
extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities
within its scope.

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted. The directors anticipate that the application
of the new Standard may affect certain amounts reported
in the consolidated financial statements and result in
more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities and the related disclosures

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application
issues relating to the offset of financial assets and financial
liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify
the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right
of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities and the related disclosures
(Continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to
disclose information about rights of offset and related
arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for
financial instruments under an enforceable master netting
agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures
should be provided retrospectively for all comparative
periods. However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not
effective until annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2014, with retrospective application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more
disclosures being made with regard to offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities in the future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —ZF——F+_-H=+—HIFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology
for the statement of comprehensive income and income
statement. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a statement
of comprehensive income is renamed as a statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
an income statement is renamed as a statement of
profit or loss. The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the
option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in either a single statement or in two separate
but consecutive statements. However, the amendments
to HKAS 1 require items of other comprehensive
income to be grouped into two categories in the other
comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items
that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of
other comprehensive income is required to be allocated
on the same basis. The amendments do not change the
option to present items of other comprehensive income
either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The
presentation of items of other comprehensive income
will be modified accordingly when the amendments are
applied in the future accounting periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 -
2011 Cycle issued in June 2012

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 — 2011 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013. Amendments to HKFRSs
include the amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment and the amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

Amendments to HKAS 16

The amendments to HKAS 16 clarify that spare parts,
stand-by equipment and servicing equipment should be
classified as property, plant and equipment when they
meet the definition of property, plant and equipment in
HKAS 16 and as inventory otherwise. The directors do not
anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 16 will not have
a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 32

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify that income tax
on distributions to holders of an equity instrument and
transaction costs of an equity transaction should be
accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Taxes. The directors anticipate that the amendments to
HKAS 32 will have no effect on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as the Group has already adopted
this treatment.

The directors of the Group has commenced their
assessments of the impact of the above new and revised
HKFRSs, but it is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material
impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.

3.

ERE#HITIRRET 2B B
BHRELED (BB BRE
28] ]) @)

RZEBE-—Z—ZFXXAEHGZ2ZEEN
FE_E——FEHEBUEKER
EEAZFEIGE

TERNFE_ZT—FEAZEFEUB
BEEY 2 FEBCEREHTREBHMB
WEEAZZHER] - AFBIR_F—
= -A-BRZRABRZFERRE
Mo BEWBRELUZBITABEEB
S ENBIRZETAYE - BEER
BREBGHERNENRZEITATRT
H: 25

EBEIERE 1655 (1£577)

ER G EANBIR ZEITAERFT  BF
- BARBNREREEFHEBENESE
BRI EAFIHEME  BEMRBLZ
EER  ADBERVE BEERE &
AIAIDBERTE -EFHEY  BEGE
1658 2 BRI AN PN @ HAKENEE
MBRRENBEAFE -

EBEFERE3295 (1557 7)

TR G EREIRZETAES AR
ATAFBEAFELDRERAR S 2R 5
AR - BRIEE B G ERE12
BB HAK - EFHY ARNAKED
R AEEE TR - A BERTERIE32
HZERI ARG ERERNREN G S M
HK -

AR B ORI S I AT R AEAE AT
BB ISR LA 2 B - R BT X
ST RGBT BN B REENRTE
YAREZ EERIBRRELEAT S

=] —+ A
B -

— 117 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& M B R

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

4. TURNOVER 4. EXH
In year 2011, the Group had ceased the sales of properties R-ZE——F  KEBEEPRIERFEAR
and properties management businesses in Shenyang, the HFE ([FER]) BEGHEMERMEE
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") which represented BER QIRNEE B 7 BT FTEERE
separate major line of geographical area of operations in PEEGEYELZREIKRE NZEFE
property development and investment in Shenyang, the N EEEBRPRRAZZEERNYHER
PRC. The amount of each significant category of revenue DT
recognised in turnover during the years is analysed as
follows:
Continuing operations BEKSEER

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-A=1T-HLEE

2012 2011
—E-C-F 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Rental income from investment properties in Z& /81X & Y2 S I A 6
Hong Kong 6,395 2,659
Sales of natural gas pipeline construction HERARE BHEAME
materials 7,151 -
Sales of natural gas HEXARR 71 -
13,617 2,659
Discontinued operations BIEREEK
For the year ended
31 December
BEt-A=1+-HLEE
2012 2011
—B—=F —T——F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE THET THET

Rental income from investment properties in FEI1Z &Y% S U A

the PRC - 14,178
Sales of properties HEME = 228,888
Properties management income MEERA = 1,629

11 - 244,695

— 118 —



PEEEEERRAR o ZT—_FFIf

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

OTHER REVENUE AND NET 5. Hbias & WA 58
INCOME
Continuing operations HEREER
For the year ended
31 December
HZ+t-A=1+—-HLEE
2012 2011
—g——= R
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FERx FET
Other revenue: Hilgzs -
Interest income on bank deposit RITFR L FLEBA 5,379 5,191
Interest income on loan to an ET—HEBERRAERC
associated company FEWA 377 -
5,756 5,191
Other net income: Hip g A5 %8
Net exchange gain P 5 U o5 58 2,099 83
Compensation income EREMRA 19(b)(i) 2,065 -
Others Hib - 15
4,164 98
9,920 5,289
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

5. OTHER REVENUE AND NET 5. Hibla=m R WA ERE @)
IN CO ME (Continued)
Discontinued operations RIFREER
For the year ended
31 December
BE+T-A=1+—-HLEE
2012 2011
—z——= [
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
By &E FTET FET
Other revenue: Hilgzs -
Interest income FEWA - 142
Other net income: Hihg A FEE
Net exchange loss BE i B8R = (4)
Others Hith - 1
- (3)
11 - 139
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. KBigl (F#E) %%

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived after charging/ BRELRT (E518) /@A BE (G A) T3
(crediting): £IF
(a) Finance costs (a) BF#ER A

Continuing operations BEKSEER

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-RA=1T-HLEE

2012 2011
—B-C-F —T——%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERREMET 2 FIE

— wholly repayable within five years —ERTFNZEER 35 35
- not wholly repayable within five years —ERREFREEEE 1,889 941
Effective interest expenses of convertible notes A ZHE 7 BEEH S H X 2,708 4,840
Total borrowing costs {EEKAEE 4,632 5816
The analysis shows the finance costs of bank A ED I R FF B S T T 2 1R1T
borrowings under continuing operations, including ERMBERAN  BREPEHERERE
term loans which contain a repayment on demand %%ﬂ R EHER  NERZEER

clause, in accordance with the agreed scheduled BT E S ECTEEERBEE -

repayment dates as set out in the loan agreements.
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6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BBigl (F#E) #HA @)

(Continued)
(a) Finance costs (Continued) (a) BB (2)
Discontinued operations IR E K
For the year ended
31 December
BEt-A=1+-HLEE
2012 2011
—E-CF %
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE THET FHT
Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERREMERZHE
— wholly repayable within five years - ERAFANEHEER - 8,837
Less: borrowing costs capitalised into W ERME - REME
properties under development, EMEFEZERE
investment properties and stock of BERA ()
properties (note) = (664)
11 - 8,173
Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rate e #HE2=FT——F+ZA=+—H1t
of 8% per annum for the year ended 31 December FE - BERARTIIES% 2 FFI %
2011. FTLAERL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. KRBiAT (F8)

(Continued)

(b) Other items

A o)

(b) HEAbIEH
BEREER

Continuing operations

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-HA=1+—-HLEFE

2012 2011
—2--F —E——F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
(o FERT FHET
Charging/(crediting): mer (Gt A) -
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B IRAK (BREEEME)
— salaries, wages and other benefits — % IEREMET 10,132 7,484
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — — RRIEFIEFEI it 2k 544 168
Total staff costs B IR ABEE 10,676 7,652
Auditors’ remuneration ZE A 2
— audit services for current year — RNFEE 2 ZEHR% 2,288 1,642
— other services — B AR 3,941 3,681
6,229 5,323
Amortisation of intangible asset ER A E 18 5,676 2,176
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BEREETE
equipment 15 3,464 1,770
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MEWE SR e
trade and other receivables * WA TR 2 R E E 1R * 22 2,532 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of HEERAZAERE"
goodwill * 17 27,118 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BYE  BELLEER
property, plant and equipment * 2R IEEEx 15 4,850 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BT EERR
intangible asset * EEE* 18 39,874 -
(Gain)/loss arising on change in fair value of AR TPEFABREZ S
financial assets at fair value through BMEEATEESESE
profit or loss 2 (W), B 23 (4,260) 3,110
Gain arising on change in fair value of REMENTEEPEL
investment properties Z Wz 14 (36,000) (3,000)
Operating lease charges for premises BFREHOX 10,351 3,044
Gross rental income from investment BEAREYMEZHSWMA
properties in Hong Kong k| 4 (6,395) (2,659)
Less: Direct operating expenses from W FREERSBAZ
investment properties that generated HEWMEZEES
rental income during the year BRY 885 441
(5,510) (2,218)
Net exchange gain BE o e 2R 5 (2,099) (83)

* The aggregate amount of impairment loss recognised
in respect of trade and other receivables, goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and intangible asset
are included as “other operating expenses” of the

consolidated income statement.

FRIE R 5 8RR e B b M ROR - 7
B WX BELRBMETVEER
RZBEBRGSENFEERRN
Z [EEERX ] Al -
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BBigl (F#E) #HA @)

(Continued)
(b) Other items (Continued) (b) H1EE (&)
Discontinued operations IR E K
For the year ended
31 December
BEt-A=1+-HLEE
2012 2011
—B--F —2——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Charging: Mk
Staff costs (including directors’ emolument) BINAK (BREEEME)
— salaries, wages and other benefits - & ITAREMER = 2,464
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — RIKEFIFH B3R - 1,152
Total staff costs BIRA Az = 3,616
Auditors’ remuneration ZERE &
- audit services for current year — RFE 2B RG = 218
— other services — HAh AR = 147
- 365
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - EMREITE - 1,498
Exchange difference, net b AR = 4
Cost of stock of properties recognised as an BRERI 2 MEFERAR
expense - 150,920
Crediting: FTA
Gross rental income from investment properties HEHEME 7B LA LALE
in the PRC = (14,924)
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment & : FRELR LKA ZIREDE
properties that generated rental income CEEEERY
during the year - 746
- (14,178)
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—CFfF A=A —HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z =%

7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
REMUNERATION

7. EERBEITHRAEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 161 BRIBEBEBRTUEAIFEI61EEEHNESHTZEN
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows: T

For the year ended
31 December 2012

Directors’
fees

=6

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind
&
R
BRIz

Contributions
to retirement
benefits
scheme Total
BHKBF

—l-E.H/\ EN é‘%—-l-

BE-E2--F+t-A=1—-H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LHEE FTHET FTHET FTHET FHET
Executive directors BITES
Law Kar Po BEE (RZT—=F
(Resigned on 1 August 2012) NA—BEHTE) - - = =
Law Wing Yee, Wendy BER (RZT—=F
(Resigned on 2 August 2012) NBZBET) = - - -
Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza X% - 3,000 14 3,014
Zhu Hai Hua (Appointed on KEE(RZZE—Z=F
10 January 2012) —A+BEZT) = - - -
Ye De Chao (Appointed on BB (WNZZT—Z—F
17 January 2012) —A+tBEZRT) = - - -
Zhou Guo Chang (Appointed on  FEARE (R=-ZT——%F
10 January 2012) — B+ HEZ) = = - -
Ji Xu Dong (Appointed on ERR (RZT—ZF
2 August 2012) NAZBEZRT) = - - -
Xu Xiao Jun (Appointed on wIE (RZE—=F
2 August 2012) NB-—BEZT) - - - -
- 3,000 14 3,014
Independent non-executive BYFBTES
directors
Keung Kwok Hung (Resigned on £ (R=T——%F
1 August 2012) NA—BEHE) 133 - - 133
Kwok Hong Yee, Jesse BER (R=ZT—=F
(Resigned on 1 August 2012) NA—RBEE) 133 = = 133
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin REMR 238 - - 238
He Jin Geng (Appointed on W& (R=_T—=F
1 August 2012) NA—BEEF) 50 - - 50
Yu Hong Gao (Appointed on Bas (R=_E——F
1 August 2012) NA—BEZ) 50 - - 50
604 - - 604
Total At 604 3,000 14 3,618
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7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
REMUNERATION (continued)

7.

EERESTHRAEMS
()

Salaries,  Contributions
allowances  to retirement

Directors’  and benefits benefits
fees in kind scheme Total
e
For the year ended ALK RIRREF
31 December 2011 L ok BEMFa ATEIHR ast
BE_T——Ft-A=1+—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HFE FAT FHEIT FHEIT FEL
Executive directors HITESE
Chiang Kin Tong HER (W-T—F
(Resigned on 26 May 2011) T AZTREEHE) - - - -
Law Kar Po BERE - - - -
Law Wing Yee, Wendy e - - - -
Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza XX - 2,440 12 2,452
Man Wai Ping (Resigned on YEF (RZZT—%F
30 December 2011) +ZA=1+HEE) - 600 12 612
Shi Feng Ling (Resigned on LR¥ (RZT——F
30 December 2011) +T-A=FTHET) - - - -
Yang Tian Ju (Resigned on BARE (RZ2—F
30 December 2011) +-A=+HHD) - - - -
- 3,040 24 3,064
Independent non-executive BYEHITES
directors
Keung Kwok Hung B 200 - - 200
Kwok Hong Yee, Jesse BEZ 200 - - 200
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin RER (RZE—F
(Appointed on 6 April 2011) MARNBEZRE) 150 - - 150
Zhang Yong (Resigned on gk (RZT——%F
4 March 2011) =Z AN HET) 50 - - 50
600 - - 600
Total At 600 3,040 24 3,664

For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8. REHAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest paid emoluments, AfimmHATBEE—RB(ZE—F W
one (2011: two) is director whose emolument is disclosed Z)EE HWNS O AW F7RNIEE - E6
in Note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect ME(ZE——F : =8) AT zMaEsE
of the other four (2011: three) individuals are as follows: W
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2012 2011
—E-CF —T—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Salaries and other emoluments e kEMNE 2,804 2,132
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RIKEFIFHEIE 97 35
2,901 2,167

The four (2011: three) individuals include two (2011: one)
senior management that is not a director of the Company.

The emoluments of the four (2011: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

& (ZE2——%: =Z%) RaFHFAL2HE
MEH(ZF——F: —R) FARREFZ

REMEREAE -

Mg (ZE—%F: =4) o ALt 2B
SHEWT -

Number of individuals

AE
2011
—T——F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L & 1,500,000 7T 1
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 1,000,000/ 7T 3 2
4 3

For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.

B2 —_fR-F——F+tZA=+
—RLEE  AREYEALUESHA
TR EAERBREMARSERK
IR 2 SR sk fE R BERL A1 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

9. INCOME TAX 9. FRBH
(a) Taxation in the consolidated income (a) FREBRKRZHIERE -

statement represents:

Continuing operations HEREER

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-HA=1+—-HLEE

2012 2011
el = F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TAT FAET
(restated)
(e E5)
Under provision in prior year BIFERETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax EENER - 322
Deferred tax EERE 28 (11,387) (544)
(11,387) (222)
Discontinued operations RIEREHEFK
For the year ended
31 December
BZ+-A=t-ALEE
2012 2011
=mea — F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Current tax BNEAT 18
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax B IS = 9,299
Hong Kong Profits Tax was not provided for in the HE-_ZT—-—F+-A=+—HILHF
consolidated financial statements as the Group has B BRAEEREBLEMETER
no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong Boad M EREESTBERRPIE
for the year ended 31 December 2012. HEBR GRS -
The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject REBE 2R EWE AR ERTE25%
to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% (2011: (ZZT——1%F : 25%) BANPBEDER
25%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have BF o Efbih & 2 &R e M IE T)
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the BEEBERED  2EBREMIRSE
jurisdictions in which the Group operates, based on NAKRBEZEMEREER ZERR
prevailing legislation, interpretations and practice in IMEE -

respect thereof during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9. FREH

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense (b) REABERFE2HERE X HE
and accounting (loss)/profit at (BB RN ZHED
applicable rates: T
A reconciliation of the income tax applicable to FARAAREREMBRARFMER
(loss)/profit before taxation using the statutory rate ZETEMERTEWL BB AT (&
for the country in which the Company and its B),/ #HZEH BERERHRE
subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax at the FE S %RZ;TEEZZDT

effective tax rate is as follow:

Continuing operations BEKSEEK

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-RA=1T-HLEE

2012 2011
—B-C-F —T——%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
(restated)
(le&75)
Loss before taxation BrIAIE1E (28,186) (23,883)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BEEBE16.5%
(2011: 16.5%) (Z2——%:16.5%)
HE B (4,651) (3,941)
Tax effect of share of results of associates EIEBME N R EE BT E 1,217 (2)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TAMERAS 2 B2
tax purpose 2,939 3,267
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose HBERFUAZ FiiEz 2 (4,174) (3,056)
Under provision in prior year BAEFEBETR = 322
Tax effect of temporary difference R EE NBETE (11,387) (544)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised {f F3 @ E KR 2 BB EE (172) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERLRBEENNETZE 5,746 3,880
Effect of different tax rates of the companies of AEEETNARHEIRZFE
the Group (905) (148)
Income tax credit FTSHiiE 2 (11,387) (222)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9. FTBMH @)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense (b) REABERHFE 2 EMXE
and accounting (loss)/profit at B (BB BANZHEERWN
applicable rates: (Continued) ~ (&)

Discontinued operations HIERREER

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=1t—-HILFE

2012 2011

—E-——& —T——%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FET

Profit before taxation B 7 A A - 26,875

Tax at the statutory tax rate BEERE = 6,719

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose B/BRBULA Z Bifg 2 - (5,209)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZBBEEENNBTZE - 7,786
Effect of different tax rates of the companies of AREEE T AR KRRz T2

the Group - 3

Income tax expense PrsBiFx = 9,299
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10.LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM

11.

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from continuing operations is attributable

e MBERRME

— A= —AUFEE
10. FARBFELERB 2BE

THALTEREFARBFELEEBZE

to: B
For the year ended
31 December
BEZE+-A=+t—-HLEE
2012 2011
=Rl = F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAET
(restated)
(&)
Owners of the Company ARFHEAAN (15,414) (23,379)
Non-controlling interests FFERRRER (1,385) (282)
(16,799) (23,661)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS M. RIEEE R
Profit for the year from discontinued FARBRILEEER 2HF

operations

Disposal of the operation in property development
and investment in Shenyang, the PRC

The Company announced that on 7 July 2011, an
agreement was entered into between the Company and
purchaser, Amazing Glory Investments Limited and Ms. Shi
as purchaser’s guarantor with regard to the disposal of (i)
the entire equity interest of Central Bingo Group Limited
("Central Bingo”); and (ii) the shareholder’s loans by the
Company for an aggregate consideration of HK$582.7
million.

The principal assets of Central Bingo are the 70%
equity investment in Pan-China (Shenyang) Real Estate

Development Limited.

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
circular dated 29 July 2011.

The disposal was completed on 30 December 2011.

HEFEES 2 WERRERKEFTE

RKRREM RZTE—FtALH " K
‘~A)EAmazing Glory Investments Limited
(ERET) ket (EREHT ZHERA)
RN W - AARBBA R R HE (@) Central
Bingo Group Limited ([ Central Bingo])
2Rk RBRRER BERER
582,700,000/ T °

Central BingoZ T ZEE RN ZERFME
M (&%) BIRAFZ70%AREIRE -

ERARSHBENARFABERAR -FT——
FLAZTNAZBEEA -
HEFBEER - T——F+_-_A=1HB5%x
B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —&F——

FroA=+—AILFE

11.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 1MARLEREER @

(Continued)

An analysis of the combined result and cash flows of the

RIEREXBREFZEHEENRAER

discontinued operations of each year is as follows: E0WTWT -

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-A=t—-HLEE

2012 2011

—E--F —T——%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHT

Turnover = < 4 - 244,695

Direct costs HERA - (179,701)

- 64,994

Other revenue and net income HibUzs R A JF 58 5 - 139

Selling and distribution costs $HE N AR - (12,580)
Gain arising on change in fair value of REMELNTEESES 2 W

investment properties - 2,285

General and administrative expenses —MRITHER (19,790)

Profit from operations Vi 35,048
Finance costs BITSR AR 6(a) (8,173)
Profit before taxation B 158 A i ) 26,875
Income tax FTiSHt (9,299
Profit after taxation BE &R 17,576
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBRRER 31(a) (11,665)
Profit for the year from discontinued REK I HREER 2 FE R
operations 5,911
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

11.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS MALEREER @
(Continued)
Cash flows from discontinued operations RIS IHSHE

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-RA=1T-HLEE

2012 2011
—EB-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Net cash generated from operating activities BRSNS R = 60,333
Net cash used in financial activities MEEBMER2FE - (108,220)
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMELS$H - (1,538)
Net cash outflow HemHFeE = (49,425)
12.SEGMENT INFORMATION 12. 7 HE ¥
Segment revenue represents revenue generated from DEWETIKBINEE P 2 W KA A&
external customers and the sales of natural gas pipeline ErEERNRHERARAEBHR ﬁﬂ%
construction materials to associates of the Group. There Azl e FAVESEREHEE (ZF
were no inter-segment sales during the year (2011: F:TH) o
HK$nil).
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are AE2RD B HEERNEE 2 K
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment IR D BRBIIBESBEF (B
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment B) MAEZA2®WMD S /m*'J/(EﬁTﬁ) K
profit/(loss), which is a measure of segment profit/(loss). YEHREME - 2 EBER(E518) 589 2BFT
The segment profit/(loss) represent the result generated EESREN)—MRETHER  HERSH
from each segment with allocation of (i) general and KA EEERST RAAFEFAER
administrative expenses, selling and distribution costs, RreeMEERATEEHELECEBERE
other operating expenses and loss arising on change in R ()EEEE QR ZFEE ¢ (i)
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or FEBWA  RiviEEBEERZE  UWAFE
loss under the heading of other corporate expenses, (ii) STABGREZeREEATFEEHELEZ
share of results of associates; (iii) interests income; and W ERWDFENEMEERATZ
(iv) gain on bargain purchase, gain arising on change in BEWAREMEEWRA - ZStE AT
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit MEELERARERS  URBERDEE K
or loss, net exchange gain and compensation income DEBRIBF A EELRE o

under the heading of other operating income. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance.
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12.SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 12. 7 EER &)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, all assets are
allocated to reportable segments other than corporate
assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to chief operating decision maker

%%"*B%EE&A*BF? P ECEIRME -
Fﬁ*ﬁéﬁﬁ CERAERD B (EXREER
Sh)

AEBAEAL2HTEIELERREIN
f’Eﬁﬁfﬁ"@ﬂ&%fﬁﬁwﬁmﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁZE

for the purposes of resources allocation and performance = DA TYEEDIL LSS -
assessment, the Group is currently organised into the
following operating segments and geographical areas:

Continuing operations BEREER

(a) The property investment segment engages in rental (@) MEREDBAREBNEREMEMR
income from investment properties in Hong Kong; U A

(b) Natural gas segment engages in transportation and (b) %%ﬁ’“*ﬁﬁf\qﬂ B 1 =5 #a) 2k )SZ HEE

sales of natural pipelined gases, and natural gas BRAGEAARREBEER

pipeline connections in the PRC; and

(¢) Investment holding segment engages in investment () HREEERDIBATREMEZMES D
in associates on a geographical basis of the PRC. ZHENRIRE

RIEEERET

Discontinued operations

The property development and investment segment MEBZRREEDIBRF RS SEILH
engages in (i) rental income from investment properties; BEIDZVEEMERSWA  (NVHEHEW
(i) sales of properties; and (iii) properties management 2 NiVmESIEIA -

income on a geographical basis of Shenyang, the PRC.
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—FF A=+ —HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 # % —

12. 0 EHR @)
AT ABREE —ER-F
A=t EtiFI% 5
PR EE Y B

For the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-R2-"H+-A=1-HLEE

Continuing operations

12.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating segment for the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011:

HESEER
Properties
investment Investment
(Hong Kong) Natural gas holding Unallocated Total
KRR REER AOE BE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THET
Segment revenue kL6
From external customers KENBEF 6,395 Al - - 6,466
From associates KREBENT - 7,151 - - 7,151
6,395 7,222 - - 13,617
Segment profit/(loss) DEEF (EE) 41,510 (185) 188 - 41,513
Interest income MBHA - 419 26 5,311 5,756
Other operating income, net Hi&EW A FE - (20) 56,310 6,258 62,548
Share of results of associates E FBE N EE - - (7,377) - (7,377)
Other corporate expenses HEhtERT (2,553) (82,304) (6,251) (34,886) (125,994)
Profit/(loss) from operations mgwnR/(BE) 38,957 (82,090) 42,896 (23,317) (23,554)
Finance costs BIRR A (1,924) = = (2,708) (4,632)
Profit/(loss) before taxation #ﬁgmﬂ J(B#E) 37,033 (82,090) 42,896 (26,025) (28,186)
Income tax HiECe - 11,387 - - 11,387
Profit/(loss) for the year EmiEl/(BE) 37,033 (70,703) 42,896 (26,025) (16,799)
Other segment information HihpHBER
Additions to non-current assets #MEJQFZM\ 431 6,191 352,112 1,309 360,043
Gain on bargain purchase HEEBE 2l - - 54,124 - 54,124
Gain arising on change in fair value &ﬁ%% ~NFEEEE
of investment properties g 36,000 - - - 36,000
Gain arising on change in fair value Wﬁ”r)\%a SBRY
of financial assets at fair value épgﬂé“?‘ IBELE Y
through profit or loss Yz - - - 4,260 4,260
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLIEWE 5 RZ K E
of trade and other receivables [EUHIERR 2 RE
BE - 2,532 - - 2,532
Impairment loss recognised in respect FHE 2R 2 HERE
of goodwill - 27,118 - - 27,118
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FL¥% -« BE MR EHE
of property, plant and equipment RBEEE - 4,850 - - 4,850
Impairment loss recognised in respect FtEF A ERR 7 FE
of intangible asset B - 39,874 - - 39,874
Amortisation By - 5,676 - - 5,676
Depreciation e 2,157 232 84 991 3,464
Interests in associates NN 2 - - 644,610 - 644,610
Other assets HiEE 291,725 162,298 4,267 37,836 496,126
Segment assets NEBE 291,725 162,298 648,877 37,836 1,140,736
Segment liabilities ARG 116,517 32,335 3,421 7,809 160,082
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12.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

12. 7 EER &)

For the year ended 31 December 2011
BE-T——F+-A=+-ALFE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
BREEER B R
Property
Properties Total  development
Investment Investment continuing and investment
(Hong Kong)  Natural gas holding Unallocated ~ operations ~ (Shenyang) Total
mERE FiEE MEER
(B#) RAR REAR Kol EBeE RkEE (EB) o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FAT TET FHL FAR FAET
(restated)
(B53)
Segment revenue AHKE
From external customers RENEP 2,659 - - - 2,659 244,695 247,354
Segment profit AEEF 5218 - - - 5218 67,279 72,497
Interest income IVON - - - 5,191 5,191 142 5,333
Other operating income, net A EERANFE
(restated) (&&7) 13,348 - - 98 13,446 1 13,447
Share of results of associates EEBE AR 2 EE - - 8 - 8 - 8
Other corporate expenses HtbERY 2,713) (3,440) (587) (35,190) (41,930) (32,374) (74,304)
Profit/(loss) from operations SERR/(FiR) 15,853 (3,440) (579) (29,901) (18,067) 35,048 16,981
Finance costs BB (941) - - (4,875) (5,816) (8173)  (13,989)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREAER / (BR) 14,912 (3,440) (579) (34,776) (23,883) 26,875 2,992
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAREE - - - - - (11,665) (11,665)
Income tax (restated) PR (RE5) - 544 - (322) 222 (9,299) (9,077)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERER /(BB 14,912 (2,89%) (579)  (35,098)  (23,661) 5911 (17,750)
Other segment information HitpHEH
Additions to non-current assets ERBDEELRE 3 6,200 7 3,072 9,282 2,911 12,193
Gain on bargain purchase ZEEE 2 13,348 - - - 13,348 - 13,348
Gain arising on change in fair value RENEATELHES
of investment properties a6 3,000 - - - 3,000 2,285 5,285
Loss arising on change in fair value ~ AATFEFABZEZ S
of financial assets at fair value BEEZHELVER
through profit or loss - - - 3,10 - - 3,110
Amortisation B - 2,176 - - 2,176 - 2,176
Conversion of convertible notes EHTRRE - - - 36,415 36,415 - 36,415
Depreciation nE 1,512 8 - 250 1,770 1,498 3,268
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEMRE AR - 140,000 - - 140,000 - 140,000
Interests in associates RECE N R 71 - - 300,025 - 300,025 - 300,025
Other assets HtEE 258,060 225,660 7,033 459,195 949,948 - 949,948
Segment assets DHEE 258,060 225,660 307,058 459,195 1,249,973 - 1,249,973
Segment liabilities HHEE 121,903 51,024 2,244 75,185 250,356 - 250,356
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12.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2012, there was no
transaction with external customer which individually
contributed to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group had
six transactions with external customers which individually
contributed to 10% or more of the Group's total revenue.
The total revenue related to investment properties segment
from these six customers amounted to approximately
HK$2,093,000.

13.LOSS PER SHARE

(a) From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share attributable to owners of the Company is

based on the followings data:

Losses

12. 7 EER &)
FEEZFZ2ER

BHE-E——F+-A=+—HIEE "
AEFEHRINBEFPET IR HBEMLAE
BB Z10% A ko

BE-_ZT——F+-_A=+—HILEFE "
REBEAZINDIEPETRS  SEX
EFEBAWRZI10%HA - KEZAEZE
FPBEREEYZHE D2 B z492,093,000
BT °

13.8REE
() REBERKIEEER
KABHEE ANEEERER K EEE
BIRE T 7 8UETE
B

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-HA=+—-HLEE

2012 2011
= A T 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(restated)
(e &=75)
Losses for the purpose of basic loss per share RETESREREE 2 EIE
(loss for the year attributable to owners of the (AR TR AEEENER)
Company) (15,414) (22,755)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares arising A3 ZIEE 4+ 7 BEEE L A
from convertible notes (net of tax) (note 1) F2 (BRHE) (1) - -
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share Mt ESREEER 2 S (15,414) (22,755)
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13.LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 13.8REE »)

(a) From continuing and discontinued (a) REFERKRIEREEK (&)
operations (Continued)

Number of shares BHEE

Number of shares

RO EE
2011
—T——F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FhEtEEREAEIE 2 @K
for the purpose of basic loss per share HnkE 8 4,269,910,510 4,196,387,770
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on AR ZHES 7 B EE
convertible notes (note 2) Timke 2 (Ma2) - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares gt Z G EEEE Y TER
for the purpose of diluted loss per share IR 8 4,269,910,510  4,196,387,770

Notes: B3

1. For the years ended 31 December 2011, no after 1. BET——F+ZA=+—HL
tax effect of effective interest on liability component FE UERUTLREREEILSS
of convertible notes was provided because the ZEBRFBZHETEELRE
conversion of all outstanding convertible notes [RERBEIRFTA MR ER 2 Al B
would have anti-dilutive effects. EREBREETE -

2. For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, 2. BEZ—_ER-FT——F+=
the convertible notes had an anti-dilutive effect A=+—HILEEE #HKRERY
on the basic loss per share and was ignored in the EREXAEBEEERBEESE At
calculation of diluted loss per share. Therefore, the R EERBEEFEERIATES o
basic and diluted loss per share calculations for the Wit BEEFRECERERRE S
respective years are equal. EEETEAER -
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13.LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) From continuing operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

from continuing operations attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

13.8REE &
(b) REFEKLEEK

AREEBANEEREFERLEER
ZEBREALEEERIRE T
BEE

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2012 2011
& —T——%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(restated)
(&E51)
Loss for the year from continuing and ARRHEEAEBEREFER
discontinued operations attributable to owners 4 |FEE ¥ 7 FREIE
of the Company (15,414) (22,755)
Less: Profit for the year from discontinued W ERRERIEEEER 2R
operations = (624)
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share from FrEtERBIFELLER Y
continuing operations BREXEE BB (15,414) (23,379)
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares arising R[S ZiEE 4 7 B E#E
from convertible notes (net of tax) (note 1) TEIREE (NBRTIE) (F3E1) - -
Loss for the purpose of diluted loss per share R ERAFELEER 2
from continuing operations Fh#EEEEEE (15,414) (23,379)
Notes: B &E -
1. For the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, 1. ﬁﬁ:g—iiﬁi%—ji‘f’:
no after tax effect of effective interest on liability A=+—~H ltig ’ ﬂ?ﬁ&‘ﬁﬁ\ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
component of convertible notes was provided FHRAENDZ2ERNBEZRER

because the conversion of all outstanding convertible
notes would have anti-dilutive effects.

2. The denominators used are the same as those
detailed above for both basic and diluted loss per
share from continuing and discontinued operations.

(c) From discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 December 2011, both basic
and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operations are HK0.02 cents per share, based on the
profit for the year from discontinued operations of
approximately HK$624,000 and the denominators
used are the same as those detailed above for both
basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations.

EFLBE RESEBMAE R KR
B IBREREAARBELE -

2. FIASEEEXFRSETERA R
SEEBEMAERR -

(o) RERLEEXHK

BE_T——F+-_A=+—HIL#F
B BRERIEKEEER 2 FNEF
#9624,0008 JTLAT » RIEKEEE 2
EREARARBERFY ATAR0.02E
- TSR XAttt E kB
BENMR HCEEE 2 BIRER L&
SEEETAEAR -

— 139 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fr 8 M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F 1+ - HA=+—HIFFZ

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. 18 %
The Group
AEH

Investment

Completed properties

investment under

properties development

at fair value at cost

b N B AR

FHEZBRT SHEZER

REYE REYE

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

= TAT TAT
At 1 January 2011 WZE——F—F—H 848,164 121,813 969,977
Additions NE - 2,213 2,213
Acquisition of subsidiaries NG| 31(b) 249,000 - 249,000
Gain arising on change in fair value X F{ESEES 7 iz 5,285 - 5,285
Exchange alignments R 31,401 951 32,352
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR 31(a) (881,850) (124,977)  (1,006,827)

—2——%+=A
At 31 December 2011 and _-I- AN=ZZT——F
1 January 2012 —H—H 252,000 - 252,000
Gain arising on change in fair value (&S )&+ 2 i 36,000 - 36,000
R=B--%+=AH
At 31 December 2012 =+—H 288,000 - 288,000
(a) At 31 December 2012, there was no accumulated (@ RZEBE——F+-A=+—H #E
interest capitalised as costs of investment properties. RHMNEERNEAREMERAE (=
(2011: HK$28,211,000) T——4 :28,211,0008T) °

(b) At 31 December 2012 and 2011, all the investment by RZE——FR-_T—F+-A=
properties were completed with its land use right +—H - -FEREVE (BEELH
are pledged as securities for bank loans as detailed FRAE) B K EEBERITERZ
in Note 36. iR (FFRMFE36) -

(c) At 31 December 2012 and 2011, all the investment 00 RZE——-HFR-_TE—F+=-A=
properties are located and leased in Hong Kong held +—H FIEREMEHLNESE
under medium-term lease. W AR HAE AR o

(d) For the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, d #H#E2-FT——FK-_Z—F+=A1
the valuations of completed investment properties =+—HIEFE TEEMBELIER
were arrived at by reference to direct comparison BYHE 2 GE - T2 E MR MR &k
approach for similar properties in the same locations RO (WER) KEELEUE
and conditions, where appropriate. The valuations MER - (HEHBERAIREBEAEE
were carried out by an independent firm of DTZ BRBIBIRRBERTERA
Debenham Tie Leung Limited having staff holding AT - B Prh(E B R E LR R
recognised and relevant professional qualification BRI ELS -

with recent experiences in the location and category
of property being valued.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. 9% - MENZE
EQUIPMENT

The Group
*5E
Furniture
Construction- Plant and Leasehold Office Motor and

in-progress  Pipelines  Building machinery improvements equipment  vehicles  fixtures Total
HEIR £ BT BREREE HENERE BLERE RE GRRKE &zt
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
Téx Tz  TEx TiEn TiEn TEx TEn TEx  TE=n

Cost %
At 1 January 2011 WZE-——%-F-AH - - 7,770 - 2,860 1,836 1,690 609 14,765
Additions NE 4,645 - - - 2,183 327 82 840 8,077
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMBAR - - (8,058 - (2,935) (1349)  (1,331) (310)  (13,983)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B AT 8,911 - - - 15,011 50 - 116 24,088
Written off B - - - - (251) (356) - (229) (836)
Exchange alignments B X AR 2 - 288 - 97 47 47 11 514
At 31 December 2011 and  R=E——F
1 January 2012 +=A=1-H
R-Z-2%
—-A-A 13,580 - - - 16,965 555 488 1,037 32,625
Additions NE 5,588 - - 459 373 495 1,277 238 8,430
Reclassification Eipags] (8,760) 118 3,793 4,849 - - - - -
Exchange alignments BEX AL 75 - - 1 - 1 - - 77
At 31 December 2012 R-B--F
+ZA=+-H 10,483 118 3,793 5,309 17,338 1,051 1,765 1,275 41,132
Accumulated depreciation ZHEREE
and impairment
At 1 January 2011 WZE——F
—-A-8 - - 7,770 - 1,004 1,075 1,240 400 11,489
Charge for the year FEEME - - - - 2,544 362 246 116 3,268
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR - - (8,058 - (1,665) (884)  (1,110) (176)  (11,893)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEME R - - - - 10,683 4 - 92 10,779
Written off 6 - - - - (251) (356) - n) (818)
Exchange alignments A% - - 288 - 41 28 34 6 397
At 31 December 2011 and ~ H=B——%
1 January 2012 +=A=1+-H
k-F——F
—-A-A - - - - 12,356 229 410 221 13,222
Charge for the year TEERE - - 27 157 2,829 186 57 208 3,464
Impairment loss REER 2,573 29 924 1,265 - Iy 16 1 4,850
At 31 December 2012 R-E--F
+=A=1-R 2,573 29 951 1,422 15,185 457 483 436 21,536
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December 2012 R-B-Zf
+=A=1-R 7,910 89 2,842 3,887 2,153 594 1,282 839 19,596
At 31 December 2011 WZE——F
+-A=1+-8 13,580 - - - 4,609 326 78 810 19,403
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15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. 9% ~ BEREE =)
EQU IPMENT (Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are FaimE - BMEMEEBEBIZATFEERI
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates BHGEERE -
per annum:
Pipelines 3% EiE 3%
Building 2 - 33'5% or over the lease term, Bx 2 —33"% kIR E (A
if shorter BRRERE)
Plant and machinery 10 -20% iR 5 B 2% 10 —20%
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEEE bgizE
Office equipment 10 -20% N 10—20%
Motor vehicles 10-20% AE 10—20%
Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20% GEMREE 10—20%
The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress AEBEMFERIE T 2 REES TN
shown above is as follows: ™
The Group
r&EH
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Land in the PRC held under medium-term lease R Bl RO 2,518 2,504
16. PROPERTIES UNDER 16. EEY =
DEVELOPMENT
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-—& —T——%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHET
At 1 January RN—HA—H - 30,128
Other incidental expenses capitalised FREMHENE A
during the year - 448
Exchange alignments [E i F 2 - 268
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR 31(a) = (30,844)
At 31 December W+=A=+—A8 = -
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17.GOODWILL 17. 52
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-C-F —T——%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bk FHET FHET
(restated)
(i &75)
Cost 5N
At 1 January »n—HA—H 27,118 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM E AR 31(b) = 32,010
At 31 December (as previously reported) R+-—A=+—8 (MErFE5) 27,118 32,010
Effect of change in accounting policies BIHBREH 22 3 - (4,892)
At 31 December »nt+=-—A=+—H 27,118 27,118
Accumulated impairment losses 2t RAEER
Impairment losses recognised BRREEBR 27,118 -
At 31 December R+-A=+—8H 27,118 -
Carrying amounts BRMEE
At 31 December mnt+=-—A=+—H - 27,118

For the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, goodwill
represents the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of natural
gas operation. The Group tests goodwill for impairment
at the end of each reporting period, or more frequently
if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

BE_Z——FR-_FT——F+_-_A=+
—HALFE BERRRAREBIAEE
A8 ((ReELEM]D - AEERE
MERRAAFERE - WEHERED
g RIAIASESEE -
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17. GOODWILL (continued) 17.88 )

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for
31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

—EF-CER-F—F+-A=+—A
2 R 2 EBERIT -

Natural

gas

AR

As at 31 December 2012

R=F-=%+=-A=1-H

Growth rate R R 3.00%
Discount rate IR = 14.30%
As at 31 December 2011 R-E——%+=A=+—H

Growth rate 18R & 10.90%
Discount rate IR =& 14.20%

The impairment loss of approximately HK$27,118,000
was recognised in the consolidated income statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012. The impairment
loss arose in view of deterioration in sales level and
operating results of the CGU in the current year. The
management of the Group considered that there would
be no significant improvement in the Group’s operation
of the natural gas project in the PRC, and it reflected in
the future benefit of the corresponding CGU. As a result,
goodwill and intangible asset allocated to the CGU were
impaired during the year ended 31 December 2012. The
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by directors of the Company covering a five-year period.
Cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate, which does not exceed
the projected long-term average growth rate.
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18.INTANGIBLE ASSET 18. B &EE
The Group
r5HE
Concession agreement
HSETRET R
2012 2011
el T F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE THER TAT
Cost R
At 1 January »—A—H 170,285 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries R B A ) 31(b) = 170,285
At 31 December R+-_A=+—H 170,285 170,285
Accumulated amortisation and RITBERAE
impairment
At 1 January w—HA—H 2,176 -
Amortisation for the year F B 5,676 2,176
Impairment loss HEEE 39,874 -
At 31 December R+-A=+—H 47,726 2,176
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December W+=-—A=+—H 122,559 168,109
The intangible asset represents the concession agreement BEEERBAERFHAI0F ZHEXRA
of natural gas project in the PRC with useful lives of 30 RIE B RFETRE A o
years.
19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. RBEE R Rl 2 s
The Group
rEE
2011
—T——f
HK$'000
TAT
At 1 January n—HA—H 300,025 -
Acquisitions b 354,124 300,000
Share of post-acquisition (losses)/profits of associates (G U EE &4 N T] (B18),/ % F (7,377) 8
Share of post-acquisition reserves of associates MBS N EBEEE (2,162) 17
At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 644,610 300,025
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows:

(a)

Interests in t EAABZERELZHER

A7) (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*)

(i)

— 146 —

As set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 5 November 2010, the Company
entered into an option agreement (the “Option
Agreement”) with Mr. Wang Fa Hui (“Mr.
Wang”) and Mr. Zhou Jian Hong (collectively
referred to as the “Vendors”) on 5 November
2010. Pursuant to the Option Agreement,
the Company has the right to acquire the
Vendors’ natural gas investment projects in the
PRC and to dispose of the Group’s property
development and investment project in
Shenyang, the PRC to the Vendors within the
period from the date of the Option Agreement
up to 18 February 2011. Subsequently, the
Company has extended the exercise period
for the option (the “Option”) to 20 May
2011. On 28 April 2011, a revised option
agreement (the “Revised Option Agreement”)
was entered into between the Company and
the Vendors. Pursuant to the Revised Option
Agreement, the Option was divided into
two tranche of options: (1) the Company
has the right to acquire 49% of the equity
interest of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (”Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy”) within the year
ended 31 December 2011 (the “First Tranche
Option”); and (2) the Company has the
right to acquire the remaining 51% equity
interest in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
within the period from 21 May 2011 to 20
May 2017 (the “Second Tranche Option”),
which may be extended to 20 May 2018
provided that Beijing Changdongshun Gas

&N Rl SRR

(a) RERPEZEREZTHATR
DNEZ s

(i)

MARNTBRA-_ZE—TF+—
RABZRERSE - ARARHETE
B E ([Th4E]) RARR
EE(GBRIES]) RZT—
TE+—-ARABFIL SR
([ERtERaE]) - IRIREAREWDE -
RARIREEHZEBBRE T —
—F A+ N\HLLHRE - AR
BEACHPBRRAARKREEE R
MEHFHEAEERFEEG T
MEZFRRKEREEB - Hig - K
DRI HARE (THARE]) FTEEAMR
ERE-_ZE——FAA=-+H-
RZZE——FMHA=Z+N\H K
NAEEE G R KETHER
= (BT ZE]D - BB
KASTERfE s - BiED R
H#E - (WARFRIBEREE=ZT
—F+—A=+—HLFEK
Bl RP B REZRABERA
A (b mApBaee]) 249%K
E((amEEl): RQARA
EER-_ZT——FHA=+—H
EE—+tFRAZ-THBRAEK
B AL AR B AR BE T BR 2 51 % AR AE



TEERIREBRAR o

—E-—FFIR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@)

Interests in LI BZEEREZHER
2 7] (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Limited (“Changdongshun”), the only directly
wholly owned subsidiary of Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy, and Changdongshun’s
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Changdongshun Group”) are able to achieve
certain levels of net profits for each of the
six years ending 31 December 2016 (the
“Guaranteed Profit”). On 5 March 2012, the
Company and the Vendors entered into a
further agreement that the exercise period of
the Second Tranche Option was revised and
the exercise period changed to the period
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2018
and the period for achieving the Guaranteed
Profit was extended to 31 December 2017
simultaneously. Details of the Revised Option
Agreement and the changes to the exercisable
period of the Second Tranche Option are
set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 April 2011 and 5 March 2012 and
the Company’s circular dated 17 June 2011
respectively.

On 28 April 2011, the Company exercised the
First Tranche Option to acquire 49% of the
equity interest of Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy with a consideration of HK$300,000,000.
The principal activity of Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy is investment holding of Changdongshun.
The Changdongshun Group is principally
engaged in sales of natural gas and natural gas
pipeline construction services. Details of the
subsidiaries of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
were set out in note (iii) below.

19. R ENT 2R )

(a) RIERHPBEEREZHAETR
DNEZEm ()

(i)

(%)

(IRemEARE]) - b B AR RE
ZHE—EEEWNBARIRE
HIEMRBR AR ([ERIE])
MERIBEZHEB AR (KA
[ERIEEE]) REE=-F—X
F+-_A=Z+—BHLEANEFES
FraFlgeEs —TKRE (TR
FBaAl)  ZPEAERESZT
—N\FRAZ-Z+B -R=_E—=
FZRAEH - ARAIHEH#E—
RIS ek + #5 X om HAMETT {55 P
RIEMA-_T—=F—F—HB=Z
—E2-)\F+ZA=+—H I
14 TER AR 7B M) 2 iR E R 2= =
T—+F+-A=+—H - K&
AT HRE e X B BRAETT R HAIR
ZBBFHBEDRIHN AR T HE
A-E——FNA-+NHEZ
T-—F=ZARBZAERAR
AIEEA-_ZT——FXA+LtH
K o

R-_ZTE——FMA -+ NH"
RARITHEEHHAREKEILR
R AR RE 249% M E KRB A
300,000,0007% 7T ° 4t 7 4k
BErEEEBRERIBEZIRER
R BRIBEBEIENEHER
RRRRARBEBREERY - &
B R B AR RE B AR 2 5B
B2 T X G ©
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@) Interests in It A BLRZREREZHAER
/2 ) (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) Continued)

(i)

— 148 —

(Continued)

For the purpose of equity accounting of the
interest in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy, the
Group has engaged a consulting firm to assist
the preparation of the consolidated financial
information of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2012. However, the
directors of the Company have found out certain
accounting records, including but not limited
to “cut-off” records for revenue recognition
and cost of sales consumed, additions of fixed
assets, advance to Mr. Wang and his related
entities, and accounting books and records of
all subsidiaries of Changdongshun and Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy, were not properly
kept. In addition, the directors of the Company
have found out certain internal issues of
the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group
including: (1) in July 2012, Changdongshun was
unable to pay the natural gas deposits to its sole
supplier, namely It R AR EEBRE QRS
F 55~ 7] (the “Natural Gas Supplier”). It result
the Group has to advance of approximately
HK$11,270,000 to the Natural Gas Supplier to
prevent Changdongshun from ceasing supply
of natural gas to its customers; (2) #EFAFR FR IR
RERAF("HEILFFR"), a subsidiary of which
Changdongshun owns 90% equity interests,
defaulted a loan provided by A Bl 2 % R1TH D
AIRAT of approximately HK$3,682,000 (the
“Bank Loan”) in July 2012 and & Bl 2 %R 77A%
DAEBR AT has served a legal letter to #EFAFR
#* for repayment of the Bank Loan. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, #E¥AR & has not settled the Bank
Loan; (3) The advance to Mr. Wang and his
related entities by the Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group increased from approximately

19. B E NTl 2R ()

(a) RIEREAHPBEEREZHEAR
DRz ()

(i)

(%)

BAGIE R B RE s E R R s
IEARME @ AEEEZE
AN BB B AR R AL R AR B AR A
REMBAR (FEA LR
B EEEE]) HE-T——F
+-A=t+t—BULHEEZHEA
BISTRE o A ARRIEFHE
RETEREE  BIEETER
B R IERI P BLREEFT B I B
RAZWEERRHEEKAE - A
BEETEE ThAEREEHRE
ey [HIEB 8] B
SR BEREBALERE - It
G RAREERERRIEAFE
BEEBE A TAMEE &
B OO0W-_ZE——%+tH 8
RIERGEMEM —HERILR™
MSEBERETRAREREDS R
8 ([RARHER]) IHFXA
RiEE - BEAEEAERMKXAR
HEREE4911,270,0008 7T
VARSI B RIEF IERE R FHE
KRR ()8 R E % 590% /%
Wz — KB R R BN RRE
ERAR (BRAFHR]D) R
—ZF L AERPRBRERITR
MBERRABRHEZ —ZEBRY
3,682,000/ 7T ([#RITE ) -
MPBREERITROHERARE
FERBITERAEN P RE D
AR - HEZSLRAMEHRE
#EZ B ERPREAKREERR
TEFR: QREBE_Z—Z=F+
ZRA=+—RHLFE dtmdE
eeEER T AEREBEER
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@)

Interests in AR BZEREEZHAER
2 7] (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

HK$8,104,000 to approximately HK$34,495,000
(the “Mr. Wang Balance") for the year ended 31
December 2012. Up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, there
was no settlement for the Mr. Wang Balance; (4)
No salary payments have been made to the staff
of the subsidiaries of Changdongshun for certain
months for the year ended 31 December 2012;
and (5) the shareholders of the entity which
holds 51% equity interest of Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy has changed to two individuals on
10 December 2012 from the Vendors (collectively
referred to as the “Internal Issues”).

As the directors of the Company have not
been able to obtain adequate and reliable
financial information from the management of
the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group,
the directors of the Company consider that the
consolidated financial statements of the Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2012 was practicably
the most recent available financial information
to use in applying equity accounting and did
not equity account for its interests in Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy since 1 July 2012.
The directors of the Company are also unable
to assess as to whether the interests in Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy are impaired as at 31
December 2012. In addition, the directors of
the Company are unable to disclose its shares of
the contingent liabilities of Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy pursuant to HKAS 28 “Investment
in Associates” issued by the HKICPA.

Failure to equity account for the interests in
Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy and present
certain disclosures on the financial information
of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy are
departures from the requirements of HKAS 28.

19. R ENT 2R )

(a) RERPBEEREZHAETR
DNEZEm ()

(i)

(%)

IR 2 30 /H 498,104,000 7T
# Z= 4934,495,0008 7T ([ £ %
EiER]) c BEZERAVHR
RUEZH  ThREEHRTELS
B (GERIEMBAREXRNE
IHEZE—_ZE——F+-_HA=+—
AEFEEFREAZIE : &(5)
AL R BLREES1 %R 2 %
ERREECN-_E——F+_A
+EHREFEZEAMA AL (5
HAETALEE]) -

HRARAREFEEZAILRTPE
REEEEERERSRED MA 5
ZHBER AUt ARRIEER
RERAEDEOER - dERP
BREEREBE T ——_F<HA
=+ AENERZFEMBHREK
RERAESNRFMIEER
Y ESKAEEE _T——F+
A—BERIERP B 2 R
BREDEHAAK - ARRES
MEXEEN_F——F+=A
=+ —HRIERF B2
EBHIBIE © BEs - NRRRE
EEEBRBEEBGAMAGREM
ZEEGRTERIF 285 [N BE &
RAIZWE | BEARBEIEIL
RAPBARBEZHARAME

RAE R G AR AL P B LR
Bz E ARR MR AL s B AR AL
ZHEERHEL S T RE R
FREERFE28H/ AT -
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvesy  19. RABEE NRI 2R 2)

(@) Interests in It EHBLREEIREZHER (@) RIEEAPRBEERELZHABR
A 7 (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy NEIZER (&)
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (Continued)
(i) Details of the Group’s interests in the Beijing (i) ANEERIERFBLLEERZE
Zhonggang Green Energy Group are as follows: merlEm
The Group
BN |

2012 2011
=mea 5 F
HK$000 HK$'000
TER TAT

Cost of investment in associates, unlisted in I AR Z G -

the PRC ARPE T 300,025 300,000
Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit fE(LURETR (B18) /% F (7,036) 8
Share of post-acquisition reserves FE(E U BE 18 A 7 17
Share of net assets E(EEERE 292,996 300,025
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 # % —

Interests in It A BREEIRESZHER

(iii)

—FF A=+ —HIFE

19. R ENT 2R )
(a) Rt P BEEREZHER

A F] (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy RNElZER (8)
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) Continued)
As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group (i) RZE——FN_T——F+=
had interests in the following associates: A=+—8  XEER T35S
NRERER
Place of
incorporation
and principal place Attributable equity
of operation Registered and interest held
Name RENEEYA paid up ¢ capital by the Group Principal activities
£ TEERBY EMREHRE AREREREZNE  FEXRE
R ELHERAR The PRC RMB1,960,784 49% AR
Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Gl AE1 960 78470 Investment holding
Investment Consulting Co., [td.* T
LAEREMEARAT e FRC RMBS55,000,000 49% MEHERERRE
Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited* ARH55,000,0007 Sales of natural gas and project
investment
BRI EARAT The PRC RMB10,000,000 49% EERMRARER
Luoning Zhongjing Gas Co., Ltd.* - AR10,000,0007 Natural gas pipeline
construction project
BERARAARLT IQPRC RMB10,000,000 44% MEHERAREE
Lanxi Zhongjing Gas Co., Ltd.* i AE#10,000,0007T Sales of natural gas and project
investment
AR AR ThepiC RMBS,000,000 44% MERRREREE
Suilin Zhongsen Gas Co., Ltd.* AEES 000,000 Natural gas project investment
and operation
BN ERRARAT QPRC RMB10,000,000 14% AERRSRE
Fusong Zhongsen Gas Co., Ltd.* AK#10,000,0007T Natural gas construction
projects
ERRAREERA ThPRC RMB10,000,000 44% AMRRRER
Huadian Zhongjing Gas Co., Ltd.* g ARE10,000,0007 Natural gas construction
projects
SR TMEARAT QDPRC RMB10,000,000 44% MEHERARRA .
Shulan Zhongjing Gas Co., Ltd.* AE10,000,0007T Sales of natural gas and - project
investment
B ARAT ;b PRC RMB10,000,000 14% MEBERARRR
Jiaohe Zhongsen Gas Co., Ltd * AE10,000,0007C Sales of natural gas and project
investment
ST R ARAT e fRC RMB10,000,000 44% MEHEREERE
Jiaohe Zhongjing Gas Co., Ltd.* AE#10,000,0007T Salgs of natural gas and project
Investment

*  For identification purposes only {55l
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b) Interests in Forward Investment (PRC)
Company Limited

(i)

— 152 —

FroA=+—AILFE

19. B E NTl 2R ()

(b) REMKRE (PE) ARAFAZ
R

The details of the Group’s interests in associates (i) RNZE—-FR-_FT—F+=
at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows: A= ‘|‘ AXREEREEAFZ
RERFBNT -
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-—C-F —T——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Cost of investment in associates, unlisted in ~ MBS RG] 2 REKA -

the PRC ARPE L 354,124 -
Share of post-acquisition loss eI R B (341) -
Share of post-acquisition reserves FEIG MR R R (2,169) -
Share of net assets [EIEEEFE 351,614 -

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a subscription
agreement to subscribe the approximately
40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”)
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was
completed on 10 December 2012 and the
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Forward Investment and its subsidiary (the
“Forward Investment Group”) of approximately
HK$354,124,000 over the cost of investment
of HK$300,000,000, being approximately
HK$54,124,000, is included as gain on bargain
purchase in the consolidated income statement.

RZEBE—Z—FHLAZ++B " &K
/AET—%’\%SMTEAﬂ@%%JE
BERARGI L RE R ZEARESR
MgE (RE) AR AR ([F=HM
WE]) 2840%#E ([RES
H]) REBEHENRZ-_ZE—=F
TZRA+HEK - MAEEEN
FTMEEREMB AR ([FAM
KEEE] AIBAEERAE
Z AN F{E 354,124,000 7T
B3 4% & FX 4~300,000,000/%8 7T 2
# B8 #954,124,00078 7T 5 1A 4R
é% mER ARSI BHEEBE 2K

o

E\I
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(b) Interests in Forward Investment (PRC)
Company Limited (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye
De Chao, an executive director of the Company
and the original beneficial owner of Forward
Investment (collectively referred to as the
“Guarantors”) jointly and severally guaranteed
the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors
will provide compensation income to the
Group if the dividend income from Forward
Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000 (12%
of the consideration of the Subscription) per
annum. The guarantee will be valid from the
completion date (10 December 2012) of the
Subscription and up to the Group ceases
to be a shareholder of Forward Investment.
During the year, the compensation income of
approximately HK$2,065,000 was recognised
for the period from 10 December 2012 to 31
December 2012 in the consolidated income
statement. Details of the information were
set out in the Company’s circular dated 2
November 2012.

19. R ENT 2R )

(b) A=MIKRE (PE) ARLXFZ
W= ()

(i)

(%)

BRERERZE  NRFHTES
EEBAERFNREZRER
BEAN (GBAETERAL £R
FERREBRMEERASEE D
K2 B B o i ZR i & T2t
2 FE R B AKR 36,000,000
B (RESEREZ12%) -
R AR M2 & B 12 #4781
A ZEREERBEEETNKA
H(ZE—ZF+-A+H) &
BEEAESETBATNERERRE
IHHEBE®R - REAFE 5=
——9®+-_AtHE-_ZT——F
T-A=Zt+—HILEMZEEK
A 432,065,000/ ST E R4 & 18
mRTER - BEFBENAR
AR A-—ZE——F+—HA=-H
LK o
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvesy  19. RABEE NRI 2R 2)

(b) Interests in Forward Investment (PRC) (b) REMKBE (FEH) BRAFZ
Company Limited (Continued) = (#)
() Summary of financial information of the (i) FTMREEEZBBEERIRE

Forward Investment Group

2012 2011

=mea 5 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FHT

Total assets EERAE 578,759 479,462
Total liabilities BREAEE (281,410) (483,486)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(8fE) BE 297,349 (4,024)
Group’s share of net assets of associates AEBEERE AR EEFE 351,614 -

For the year ended
31 December

BET-RA=1T-HLEE

2012 2011

—B-C-F —T——%

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHT

Total revenue L e = -
Total loss for the year REEEEBE 9,658 2,582
Group's share of loss of associates REBERBE N TER (341) -
Group’s share of reserves REBEERFEE (2,169) -
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continvesy  19. RAEEE NRI 2 R (2)

(b) Interests in Forward Investment (PRC) (b) REMIKE (hE) BERLAFZ
Company Limited (Continued) R (8)
(i) At 31 December 2012, the Group had interests iy RZZE—=—F+-_A=+—8"
in the following associates: $%E/\\J«XTH§’P%Q\ AR EARE
Place of
incorporation and
principal place Attributable equity
of operation Registered and interest held
Name SAMALHER paid up capital by the Group Principal activities
2% FTEEERY EMREARE AEBREREZLS TEER
FNRE (PE) ERAA Hong Kong HK$27,339,422 40% REER
Forward Investment (PRC) 55 27,339,422/ 7T Investment holding

Company Limited

HRENBNERERAA The PRC RMB260,000,000¢ 40% MERBRNERE
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property i AR260,000,0007C¢ Property development and
Company Limited* RMB255,366,619° property investment

AEH5255,366,6197T
* For identification purposes only 2% 5

# Registered capital s &4
b Paid up capital BN
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20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. B R A 2 =
The Company
b NG|

2012 2011

= T F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THR FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost I LR - RKAE 142,100 142,100
Impairment loss recognised (a) BRRZREEE®Q) (2,100) (2,100)
140,000 140,000

Due from subsidiaries (b) JEHPf /88 12 B KR (D) 753,902 440,983
893,902 580,983

(a) In 2006, Star Palace Enterprises Limited, a subsidiary (@) RZEZE /\¢ ﬁ%ﬁg’%%ﬂ‘%@ '

of the Company, ceased to conduct the shoes and ZA/NESI g ZER/N ﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁ“

bag retail business and remained inactive after the ﬁfﬁf—i%ﬁﬂ@&? BEB jU—ri‘“’
disposal of its retail business. The management of Hied% - XRAE EEEBZ@E%

the Company assessed the recoverable amounts B EREEBEHMBERESRRET

of the investments in subsidiaries based on past FERJFEREMB AR Z AT KD
performance, management’s expectations for the TR o IRBZMEE - ERBRHMEBAF
market development and certain key assumptions. 218 & 7 BREEMIR 2,100,000/ T ©

Based on these assessments, the carrying amounts
of the investments in subsidiaries were written down
by HK$2,100,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2012 and REE-Z——FR=ZFT—F+=
2011, the management of the Group re-assessed A=+—BLEE AfXEERED
the recoverable amounts of the investments in *ETJ?EM%ZEE%TEWEFW%”_Z
subsidiaries on similar basis and concluded that no REZAWEISEE - WRAFAILE
further impairment loss was required for the years. W TR — fﬂﬁifﬁ)@ﬂg o

— 156 —



20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FREEZIEEARAR » —T— —FFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MG ERME
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20.ffB R R 2= (@)

(Continued)
(b)  An analysis of the amounts due from subsidiaries is (b) FEWHIEBARIRBEZOWES AT :
listed below:
The Company
b NN
2012 2011
=l T 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Due from subsidiaries A NG E ] 822,821 488,430
Less: Impairment B OREEE (68,919) (47,447)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 753,902 440,983

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms.

In 2012 and 2011, the management of the Group
assessed the recoverable amounts of the amount
due from subsidiaries after considering profitability,
cash flow position, financial position, forecast
business development and future prospects of the
subsidiaries. Based on this assessment, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying values
of the amounts due from subsidiaries net of the
impairment losses recognised approximate to their
recoverable amounts.

R B ARFKIATDERR 28K
EEEEED -

RZZBE-—ZFR-T——F KAEH
ERELEENBAR BTG
BeamEMRN - MBIRA  EBHERE
FBRAIRAKRKAIRE - HEKKE R
FIB 2z W EI S EEL M o 2RI
fhat ARREERE  BKHER
AIFIBZ REEBEREER ZREERE
% - BE AU EIFRIEMRE ©
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20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20.f{B AR 2= (@)
(Continued)
(b)  (Continued) by (#&)
The movement in provision for impairment of the ANEE R UM B A B SRR E R
amounts due from subsidiaries during the year is BN
as follows:

The Company

NN
2012 2011
= T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHT
At 1 January R—H—H 47,447 32,220
Impairment loss recognised BERRZREEE 21,472 15,227
At 31 December Nt+=-A=+—8H 68,919 47,447
() The following list contains the subsidiaries of the (0 THRIMAEEBEZMBAR -BEHE
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless FEAEIN - PR 2 BRI R B AR -

otherwise stated.

Particulars of

issued and Proportion of
paid up capital/ effective interest
Place of registered capital held by the Group
Name of subsidiary incorporation ERTREM AEEES Principal activities
WELREE SMRIEE  RAERRAFE B ER 2B TEXH
Directly  Indirectly
=83 A&
Star Palace Enterprises Limited Hong Kong 3,000,000 shares 70% - Inactive
ERGRERRA) 55 of HK$1 each EREK
3,000,000/ & i
HEVETZRG
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
Virgin Islands 181302 85 REER
(the “BVI")
RBRUES
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20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

20.ffB R R 2= (@)

(c) (Continued) () (#&)

Particulars of
issued and
paid up capital/

Proportion of
effective interest

Place of registered capital held by the Group
Name of subsidiary incorporation BRTREH AEERE Principal activities
WEAREM AMEIEE  REAERREAEE ERER2LE TEXH
Directly  Indirectly
B &
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% - Holding of
EERBEERAR BE 1R 1B T2 RD motor vehicles
pEAE
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of 50% 50% Provision of
EERRER AT Hi HK$1 each management
2RVB T KR services
REEERS
Fast Action Developments Limited  The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Inactive
EBRZES  RIETZRH TEXHG
Wofford Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
ERRRES  1RIETZRR REER
Success Take Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
RBRAEE  1RIETZRR REER
Steady Foundation Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% Property letting
EMERBERAR BB 1R1ETZ Ifn MELR
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% Investment holding
REREARAA BE 1R1ETZ Bfn REER
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
EBRLEE  RIETZRD REER
Patient Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Inactive
EERLEE IRIETZRR EEXHB
Nantong Shengjie Infrastructure ~ The PRC US$5,000,000% - 100%  Construction projects
Development Limited* (note (i) (note (iii)) ERERIEL
HRREERRERRERAR 5,000,0005 T#
(BEE()) (BiF3E (i)
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20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

20.ffB DR 2R @)

(c) (Continued) (o (#&

Particulars of
issued and
paid up capital/

Proportion of
effective interest

Place of registered capital held by the Group
Name of subsidiary incorporation EETREH AEEHES Principal activities
WEDREE MBI  RE S EMRAFE ERER 2 Al TEER
Directly  Indirectly
E# Gk
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited ENE RVE T2 ’H REER
MEPR (BE) BROA
Xinan Zhongjing Gas The PRC RMB$10,000,000#° - 90% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (ii)) AR #10,000,0007T# construction
TP RRRERAE () projects
ARRERIER
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000¢ - 100% Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (iv)) RMB6,000,000° construction
NRBEBRRERAF AR #30,000,00070¢ projects
(Ft&E(iv)) AK%6,000,0007° ARRERIER
Keen Gate Developments Limited  The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
BEERERAA EBRAES  RIETZRG REZRR
Bright Talent Investments Limited  Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% - Inactive
HRREERAA 0 R1B T2k OmE
Notes: Wizt -
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly (i)  WRBEFEVEEFMAINEDRE -
owned foreign enterprise.
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic (i) WERENEEFMARNEDRE -
enterprise.
(i)  Asat 31 December 2011, the registered capital was Giy N—ZT——F+=-_A=+—H8 =

amounted to US$5,000,000 and the paid up capital
was amounted to US$999,980.

it & A< /55,000,000 7T -+ M B 400X
75/5999,980F T, ©

(iv)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person (v, BERBEAERIMAE—-—ABRES
limited liability enterprise. NG

* For identification purposes only * EHER

# Registered capital # EERIIEEWN

b Paid up capital b B R
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21.INVENTORIES 21. 78
The Group
N |

2012 2011
—E-=F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Natural gas AR 51 -
Construction materials BEME 58 -

109 -

22.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22.BEWWEB ZEME HithE WK
15

The Group The Company
A&EE v YN
2012 2011 2012 2011
—E2——F EekEal —F-——F s
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

ot TET FET TET TET
Trade debtors W E 5 R (a) 44 - - -
Loan receivables U E TR (b) 23,921 - 11,270 -
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE  Bek
other receivables H U TR (c) 12,070 7,881 533 878
36,035 7,881 11,803 878
Less: Impairment loss recognised in o BREARE
respect of prepayments, meREM
deposits and other receivables NI B R
ZREEE (d) (2,532) - = -
33,503 7,881 11,803 878
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the principal
activities of the Group comprised of sales of natural
gas and property investment. Sales proceeds of
natural gas and rental were paid in accordance
with the terms of sale and purchase agreements
and tenancy agreements respectively. The Group
generally allowed an average credit period due
within 30 days to its trade debtors which were
unsecured and interest free.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables,
the Group considers any change in the credit quality
of the trade debtors from the date credit was initially
granted up to the end of the reporting period. All
the trade debtors are due within 30 days or on
demand. No trade debtors were impaired or past
due at 31 December 2012.

Included in loan receivables are the amounts due
from Changdongshun of which an amount of
approximately HK$11,270,000 is interest free and an
amount of approximately HK$12,651,000 is interest
bearing at 5.85% per annum. The amounts due
from Changdongshun are unsecured and recoverable
on demand.

As further disclosed in Note 19(a)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, due to the
Internal Issues of the Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group, the directors of the Company are
unable to obtain adequate and reliable financial
information of the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Group. As such, the directors of the Company have
been unable to determine the fair value of the
amounts due from Changdongshun in accordance
with HKAS 39 “Recognition and Measurement”
issued by HKICPA. Accordingly, the amounts due
from Changdongshun was stated at cost less any
identified impairment loss as at 31 December 2012.
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22.F&

B 5 IR H 1t B WK

I8 ()

GEE

(a)

BE-T —_F+T-A=1+—H8L%
B AEBERXBEEAHEERAR
BRMEEE - HERARZHERE
EHESHREEEGAREESD
ZHERZAT - ARE M3t AEER
BB S H K E ZERFETHEI0RA
B TFHERES -

EETRKE SRR ZAAKRE TS
| AREeEERKESKRFAE
EHERAREEAEREHRZEE
ExHBH2EMNES - ARKES
BRN30E REBIFRBIRBERKER -
R-E—_F+-_RA=+—H #iE8
FEWE SRR FURE S B -

FEWERIEFKIEN AERE K-
& B 411,270,000 7T R B K 4
12,651,000/ JT 1% & £5.85% 51 & ©
FEU & B FRIB AR 1 AR E kIR [E o

4R G B T ¥R 3R M EE19(a) () FT RF it
MARIE R B S E IR A
B ARREEELERDESARIL
RRBGZEEBZAISMEER - &
b ARRAREFEERBEEE G
NERMH BB ERIFEI95 [
REFTE| BETERERIEREZ A
FAE o #il - FEUN S R IEFRIE R A AR
BR—_ZE——F+_HA=+—Hz#F
o] AT 58 B3 (B 5 18 51 B -
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o]

Included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$2,065,000 was
a compensation income receivable from the
Guarantors, which is interest free, unsecured and
recoverable on demand. Please refer to Note 34(a)
for further details of this amount.

Included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$2,532,000 is the advance to a contractor for
a construction of natural gas project in Henan, the
PRC. An impairment loss for the entire amount of
this advance was recognised which the Group no
longer trades and management assessed that the
other receivable is not expected to be recovered.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
approximate to its fair values.

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22. B E 5 BRI H fth B IR

I8 (&)
W (45)

(© FIATENFIE « BE R HEMEYKIR
Z —2#)2,065,00078 7T 508 /3 FE W HE
RAZHERA - ZFERE - B
W RIR 2RI E o BRI RIANE —
FEHE - BLHME34a)

(d) FIATENFIE - He REMERFKIE
2 — % 492,532,000 T 3B & BhE
FEOTEERRAARIEL MAEDE
REZBHR - HRAEETHRZ X
B 1 [ R R H b FE UK IE T8 AR AT U
Bl - ZERERREBRERSSE -

(e) ARAEERREREZERRLEAM
fEdRIE Z BREEE A N FEMS -

3. U R FEFARERZ2ER
BE

The Group and
the Company

FEBRAERH
2012 2011
=ttt %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT

Financial assets at fair value through AR ESABREREZ
profit or loss SREE

Option HAkE 7,350 3,090
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. LA AT ETAEBRZEZSH

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

As disclosed in Note 19(a)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company entered into the Option
Agreement with the Vendors on 5 November 2010.
Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company has
the right to acquire the Vendors’ natural gas investment
projects in the PRC and to dispose of the Group’s property
development and investment project in Shenyang in
the PRC to the Vendors within the period from the
date of the Option Agreement up to 18 February 2011.
Subsequently, the Company has extended the exercise
period for the Option to 20 May 2011. On 28 April
2011, the Revised Option Agreement was entered into
between the Company and the Vendors. Pursuant to the
Revised Option Agreement, the Option was divided into
the First Tranche Option and the Second Tranche Option.
The First Tranche Option was exercised by the Company
on 28 April 2011 and the acquisition of 49% of the
equity interest of Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy was
complete on 30 December 2011 thereafter. The exercise
period of the Second Tranche Option was revised as
between 21 May 2011 and 20 May 2017 and may be
extended at the option of the Company to 20 May 2018
provided that the Changdongshun Group are able to
achieve the Guaranteed Profit for the relevant periods.
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the exercise
period of the Second Tranche Option was further revised
and the exercise period changed to the period from 1
January 2013 to 31 December 2018 and the period for
achieving the Guaranteed Profit was further extended to
31 December 2017 simultaneously. Details of the Revised
Option Agreement and the changes to the exercisable
period of the Second Tranche Option are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 28 April 2011 and 5
March 2012 and the Company’s circular dated 17 June
2011 respectively.

— 164 —

BE »#)

MR A T EHRERM E19a@))ATIEE © AR
AEEFR_E—ZFEF+—HARBIZH
e - IRBEIEWZ - A2 R B
ZAHPE-_T——F A+ N\BLLBHHE"
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

As disclosed in Note 19(a)(i) to the consolidated financial
statements, due to the Internal Issues of the Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Group, the directors of the
Company have not been able to obtain adequate and
reliable financial information from the management of
the Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Group to satisfy
themselves regarding to the transactions during the
year and various balances of Changdongshun as at 31
December 2012. As such, the directors of the Company
have been unable to determine the fair value of the option
and whether the option is impaired as at 31 December
2012. Accordingly, no fair value change of the option
was recognised since 1 July 2012. Failure to determine
the fair value of the option as at 31 December 2012 and
recognise corresponding fair value change in consolidated
income statement are departure from the requirements
of HKAS 39 (Revised) “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement”.

The directors of the Company consider that the financial
information obtained for the six months ended 30 June
2012 are reliable and adequate and therefore the option’s
carrying value as at 30 June 2012 carried forward to 31
December 2012 accordingly.

As at 30 June 2012, the valuation of the Second Tranche
Option was carried out by BMI Appraisals Limited, an
independent professionally qualified valuers, using
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The gain arising
on change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss for the period from 1 January 2012
to 30 June 2012 of approximately HK$4,260,000 (for the
year ended 31 December 2011: loss of approximately
HK$3,110,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year.

23. U R EFTAERKR2ER

EE #)

Wiz A M MR FE19@))FTHE - @R
IR BgEERNIRAIEE  AQF
EEBIEILLRPAEGEEECERER
BRAOMRAIENTHER  FREEHAN
FEETZRGMERIEBR T ——F+
ZA=t—Bz%EEH - Bt AR A
EEEFETHEZATFERR-_ZE—Z=
FH+ZA=+—HEEEELERE &
It B ——F+ A — B UK RER
HEANFEEY  KEBEERN_Z2—ZF
TZA=T—AHEZATFERRGEH
BRERERLAFLEEBER NEHE LS
FHAERIZE395E (KEF M IT A R
REtE | 2HE -

ARBEERABE-_E——F A=+
BIENEAZHEER B SERER - A
WHHERA-—E——F A=+t H ZEEE
B EEE - E——FE+ - A=+—H -

R-E——FNA=1+H BUuERELE
B ERP AR TEERAAEARE S
woaREATEE T BRI SR B
TEE RZE——FE—A—H&E_ZT—
Z“FERNAZ=ZTBHE LAFEFAEZS
FEraREENATEEHELE 2 KED
4,260,000 T (BHE-_ZT——F+=-H=
+—HIEFE : FEH3,110,00087T) &
MAFERE ZFEBmRER o
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(Continued)

The Second Tranche Option is measured at fair value and
is classified as Level 3 fair value measurement, which
includes some assumptions that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates. In determining the fair
value of the Second Tranche Option as at 30 June 2012,
the volatility of 11.90% (31 December 2011: 11.23%)
and interest rate of 0.51% (31 December 2011: 1.17%)
are used. If these inputs to the valuation model were
5% higher/lower while all the other variables were held
constant, the fair value of the Second Tranche Option
would increase/decrease by approximately of HK$368,000
(2011: HK$310,000).

24.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

23. U AFEFTABZRZER
BE #)

REEIE TR AT ENFE 2BAEE=R
AREEHE EFEEBH L THAER
IS ERAFEITFIBRE - BE XS
HER-_E——FXA=+HZA¥EMM
BAmEREEFESFIA11.90% (= —
—F+-"A=+—H :11.23%) &0.51%
(ZE2——F+=ZA=+—"H :1.17%) °
WA EER ZZEHABIE LT FEH5%Mm
FrEHEMmBERETE  AGHEZAF
BRI F A #9368,0008 T (ZF——
4 : 310,000/ 7T) °

24. RE R IRITHEER

The Group The Company
iy 3L NN

2012 2011 2012 2011
TECF peblaaptdl — T F Emiaiad
HK$’000 HK$'000 [ LEH) HK$'000
FTRx FET TR FET

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLSED 25,009 472,347 9,312 433,022
Notes: Mzt -
1. Included in cash and bank balances of the Group, 1. AEBZREMBITEHKBERBEUARE

approximately HK$8,551,000 (2011: HK$166,306,000)
of bank balances are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB").
RMB is not a freely convertible currency. However, under
the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

2. Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group,
approximately HK$14,715,000 (2011: HK$188,652,000)
and HK$1,743,000 (2011: HK$117,389,000) are
denominated in HK$ and United States Dollars (“USD")
respectively.

3. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate,
and are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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[BEEIRT @ RNEEEESBEEETI
EEBZRTHBAREAEME -

2. AEEZBESRRITESDBSENST
SHE 2 #914,715,0008 T (— 82— —4 ¢
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25. B E SRR H B RO

The Group
iy L |

The Company
FRF

Notes
B &k

2012 2011 2012 2011
—2-—F il —%-—F ekl
HKs'000 TSN  HKs'000 QNS
TET TET TER THET

Trade creditors [EE SRR (a) 3,221 3,970 = -
Accruals and other payables [EETERAR
Hfth e 508 6,476 15,923 4,009 6,670
Deposits received Bl e 1,186 1,096 = -
Other loans H &% (b) 1,706 1,671 1,706 1,671
Due to non-controlling interests ISPEEE (6]
EER (0 1,791 1,200 - -
14,380 23,860 5,715 8,341
(@) Ageing analysis of trade creditors is as follows: (a) ENESERZERIFTOT :
The Group
N |
2012 2011
SER-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTAT
Due within 30 days or on demand 30BN EIH s IR E K = 1,630
Due within 31 to 60 days 31HZ60HANEIH - 322
Due within 61 to 90 days 61HZ90H AN EIH - 598
Due over 90 days 23E90 B FI £ 3,221 1,420
3,221 3,970

At 31 December 2012, other loans of the Group
and the Company amounted to approximately
HK$1,706,000 (2011: HK$1,671,000) were due to
independent third parties and unsecured, bearing
interest at 2.5% per annum and repayable on
demand.

At 31 December 2012, amounts due to
non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$1,791,000 (2011: HK$1,200,000) was
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayments.

The directors of the Company consider the fair
values of Group and the Company’s trade and other
payables approximate its carrying amounts.

(o)

NZEBE——E+-_A=+—08 &x&
B M ARNF 2 M EFKA1,706,000%8
T (ZFE——%F:1,671,00087T) T}
ERBIEZANABEEE ZEE
R FEB25EBAH BN BRENRE
5@ o

N-—ZE——&F#+—A=+—8 EfH
JEFERR AR A 2 2 £ 5A491,791,000/8
7T (ZZE——4% : 1,200,000 7T) A
E|IEH REREBEETERS -

ARAAREERRANEERARE ZE
NEZERAEEMBENRAEZ R E
HEREERS -
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26.INTEREST-BEARING 26.5T 255 - BEH
BORROWINGS, SECURED
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-C—F —T——%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Carrying amount of bank loans that are not wholly I 3ER&E IR THEE —FRNEREE
repayable within one year from the end of the EEEREREBRIERZ
reporting period but contain a repayment on ROTEFEEE
demand clause (shown under current liabilities) (RRBEETER) 115,062 120,552
At 31 December, interest-bearing bank loans and R+=—ZA=+—08 " BHEER B8R
overdrafts were due for repayment as follows: BEREIT
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—B-CF —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Portion of term loans due for repayment —FRIBEE 2 BHERITD
within one year 5,598 5,598
Term loans due for repayment after —FRIMERE 2 BHER
one year (note): (BtsE) -
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRAMEN 5,681 5,727
After 2 year but within 5 years MEBRERER 17,626 17,708
After 5 years BB TE 86,157 91,519
115,062 120,552
Note: The amounts due present above are based on the scheduled Mz : LaifEEERBIRER S TEEEE
repayment dates as set out in the loan agreements and AEIAREE - TR RAMREREEER
ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause. pd -7 B
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26.INTEREST-BEARING 26.51TBfEE  BEH @
BORROWINGS, SECURED (continued)
The bank loans were secured as follows: RITERA T I ZIBEER -
The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E-C-fF —T——F
Effective Effective
Interest rate Interest rate
(%) (%)
BRA = HK$’000 BRRM = HK$'000
(E) THET () FHT
Bank loans -secured RITER — FEMA 1.63 115,062  1.52-1.62 120,552
At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the bank borrowings RZE——FER_FTE——F+-A=
were secured by investment properties with carrying +—H ROTOERDDANUERELDN
amounts of approximately HK$288,000,000 and 288,000,000/ T &252,000,000% T Z
HK$252,000,000 respectively. The secured bank term REMFEEERR - BERRTEHERSF
loans are interest bearing at Hong Kong Inter-bank BREBRITEZRFE (BB RITAERF
Offer Rate (“HIBOR"”) plus 1.3% and HIBOR plus 1.4% E1) M3ERBFEARITRAZER SN AE
per annum and both of them are repayable within 20 T MEERE ANUSAI4113,000% 7T &
years by 240 equal consecutive monthly installments of 506,000/ 7T 2 24018 A F5E&EE » BT 3%
approximately HK$113,000 and HK$506,000 respectively. R0 AEE  ERFRITEHERERE
The secured bank loan contains a clause of repayable on RERERGER B2 BERARBAR -

demand and thus classified as current liabilities.
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27.CONVERTIBLE NOTES 27. AR ERE

The Group and the Company REENKAT

(i)

On 28 April 2006, the Company issued
HK$91,094,000 convertible notes (the “2011
Convertible Notes”) redeemable within 5 years from
the date of issue. The notes bear interest at 2.5%
per annum and were unsecured. The holders of the
notes had the right at any time after the issue of
the notes to convert any outstanding amount of
the notes into the shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.148 per share (subject to
adjustment) until 27 April 2011. Details were set out
in the Company’s circular dated 22 March 2006.

The 2011 Convertible Notes contained two
components, namely, a liability component and
an equity component. The equity element was
presented in equity under the heading ‘convertible
note—equity reserves’. The effective interest rate of
the liability component was 7.094%.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the
holders of the 2011 Convertible Notes converted all
remaining shares at a conversion price of HK$0.148
per share.
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

(i)

On 24 August 2007, the Company issued
HK$160,000,000 convertible notes (the “2012
Convertible Notes”) redeemable within 5 years from
the date of issue. The notes bear interest at 2.5%
per annum and are unsecured. The holders of the
notes have the right at any time after the issue of
the notes to convert any outstanding amount of
the notes into the shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.3 per share (subject to
adjustment) until 23 August 2012. Details are set
out in the Company’s circular dated 11 July 2007.

The 2012 Convertible Notes
components, namely, a liability component and an
equity component. The equity element is presented
in equity under the heading “convertible note-
equity reserves”. The effective interest rate of the
liability component was 6.738%.

contained two

In October 2009, the Company early redeemed
the 2012 Convertible Notes of face value of
HK$95,000,000 as part of consideration of disposal
of Continental Ocean Investment and Development
Company Limited. The fair value of the liability
component, on the date of redemption determined
with reference to the discount rate of 7.98%
representing the then prevailing borrowing rate of
the Company, was approximately of HK$82,300,000.
The excess of the carrying amount over the fair
value of the liability component resulted in gains of
approximately HK$3,127,000 from the redemption
of the 2012 Convertible Notes were recognised
in the consolidated income statement in the year
ended 2009. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 25 September 2009.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Company repurchased all the remaining balances
of the 2012 Convertible Notes by cash of
HK$65,000,000 at its maturity date.

e MG ERME

—FF A=+ —HIFE

27. AR EE »)
KEBRAQNT (#£)

(i)

RZZEZ+FENAZ+WTAE » ZAF
#E — F 3£ 17160,000,000/8 JT 2 A #
BRER ([ZZ—ZFBRER]) -
AR EETT B BRI S FNER - ZFE
BIOEREFE25EFERIWEER - F
BREABENENTEREEE S
——FNAZ+=H 15[ - BERZ
BBRESRKRIBIL (I THAR) #E
BrzAAAEESHERABAN AR
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27.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 27. AR EE 2
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRAQT (&)
The movement of the liability component of the AR EE 2 BESS D 2 EEBEH N T

convertible notes is set out below:

The Group and
the Company

FEEREDF
2012 2011
—B-C-f —T——%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHT
At 1 January n—A—H 63,917 97,997
Interest charged FEBR 2,708 4,840
Interest paid BFIE (1,625) (2,505)
Conversion during the year FAHA = (36,415)
Redeemed during the year FREME (65,000) -
At 31 December R+-A=+—H - 63,917

Analysed for reporting purpose = R0k

Current portion mENED 1 = 63,917
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28.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

28 EIERIBEEE

Intangible Investment

assets  properties Others Total
BEEE REME Hitt s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTET TERT FET
At 1 January 2011 RZE——%—H—H - 76,417 9,951 86,368
Acquisition of subsidiaries B B A A 42,571 18,240 - 60,811
(Credited)/charged to consolidated — #FA&1EEE (AK),/ i
income statement (544) 495 - (49)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR - (77,719) (10,119) (87,838)
Exchange alignments [ 5 A - 1,302 168 1,470
At 31 December 2011 R-Z——%+_F
and 1 January 2012 =t—ARZE—Z=F
(as previously reported) —A—8 (Wm5aim
2) 42,027 18,735 - 60,762
Effect of change in accounting SHBREH
policies (Note 3) T8 (MF3) - (18,735) - (18,735)
At 31 December 2011 N-ZZE——%F+=-4
and 1 January 2012 (restated) =+t—BKk=ZZE——F
—A—H (B&3) 42,027 - - 42,027
Credited to consolidated REBmERAR
income statement (11,387) - - (11,387)
At 31 December 2012 R-B-Z%+=A
=t+—H 30,640 - - 30,640

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$19,722,000 (2011:
HK$18,483,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

ERERR AEEHBIERBAL
#HoEBERRAENADAHEE
18 #919,722,000%8 L (= & — — F:
18,483,000/ 7T ) ° FRF K BE T8 I K 2K i A
o A e IEEERRELERIEE
E °
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29.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT
BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$25,000
(HK$20,000 prior to June 2012). Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in
defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local
government authorities, whereby the Group is
required to make contributions to the Schemes at
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’
salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to retired employees which are calculated

based on a certain percentage of the basic payroll.

Information of the total expenses on retirement benefits
scheme contributions is presented on Note 6(b).
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 30. AR e
(a) Share capital (a) BA
The Group and the Company
FEBERKAT
Number of shares Nominal value
RIPEE [l

2012 2011
e T 7
HKS'000 JEECTSRUV0
TER THT

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each FREE0.058 T
Lk 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: TR
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER
At 1 January n—A—H 4,269,910 4,023,710 213,496 201,186
Issue of new shares on conversion FEEE el e
of convertible notes (note) BITEIRD (BIsE) - 246,200 - 12,310
At 31 December WN+-—RB=+—8H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2011, the holders st REBE—E——F+-HA=+—H
of the 2011 Convertible Notes converted all IEFE  —T——FBREERS
remaining balances into 246,200,000 ordinary shares BARBRKREFRC.148B L E R
at a conversion price of HK$0.148 per share. B8 4564 5246,200,000 8 & 3@ A% -
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) The Company

(o)

30. RA K %16 &)
(b) &AL

Capital (Accumulated
redemption  Convertible losses)/
Share Share reserve  notes equity retained
capital premium (Note) reserve earnings
X (B3
BOfE TRAREE E8)/
e R EE (hrid) BnffE REEF aft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEx TER TEn TER TER
At 1 January 2011 RZE-——F-A-H 201,186 725,096 69 18,223 11,731 956,305
Shares issued at a premiumon ~ EATRHEZER
conversion of convertible notes  EEEE(TRA 12,310 30,953 - (6,848) - 36,415
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (47,005) (47,005)
At 31 December 2011 and 1 WZE——F+ZA
January 2012 =+-BR-Z-ZF
—-A-H 213,496 756,049 69 11,375 (35,274) 945,715
Redemption of convertible notes BB AHRZE - - - (11,375) 11,375 -
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (29,063) (29,063)
At 31 December 2012 R=2-Z%+=f
=1-H 213,49 756,049 69 - (52,962) 916,652
Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal MizE - BB B A5 AT 9 R & F B [T
value of shares repurchased out of distributable & 2 E1E -
profit.
Capital management (c) EXERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group and the Company
consist of net debt, which includes convertible
notes, other loans and interest-bearing borrowings,
secured net of cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves of the Group and
the Company.
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30. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 30. R AN w4 =)

(c) Capital management (Continued) (c) EXER (&)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2012 and 2011 R-E——FERN_E——F+=-F=
were as follows: T—BzBERERAT
The Group The Company
X&E NG|

2012 2011 2012 2011

el S T EEal T F
Notes HK$'000 EEGISHVUN  HKS'000 JEETSYN
i TER TAT TER TATL

Current liabilities: REBEE:
Other loans HihER 25 1,706 1,671 1,706 1,671
Interest-bearing borrowings, .ﬁr%ﬁi‘é BHEH
secured 26 115,062 120,552 - -
Convertible notes BRER 27 - 63,917 - 63,917
116,768 186,140 1,706 65,588
Total debts =ttt 116,768 186,140 1,706 65,588
Less: cash and cash equivalents i : & RIREHED 24 (25,009) (472,347) (9,312) (433,022)
Net debt SEFE 91,759 (286,207) (7,606)  (367,434)
Equity Ex (a) 969,622 987,191 916,652 945,715
Net debt to equity ratio BEFEEEERLE 9% NATER NATER NATER
Note: MI5E
(@)  Equity includes issued share capital and reserves of (a) HE=VRRAKBERARAZEET
the Group and the Company. A e 1
(d) The directors of the Company did not recommend (d) ZRAABEEYTFEERREAHE_T—
any payment of dividend for the year ended 31 —E+ A=+ —BIFEEIRE (-
December 2012 (2011: HK$nil). T 6
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED B1.AERERERMETE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (a) HEKBAF
As disclosed in note 11, on 7 July 2011, an WEFENERE  RZE——Ft A
agreement was entered into between the Company +H - AR FEE 5 Amazing Glory
and purchaser, Amazing Glory Investments Limited, Investments Limited % B 5 &R A £
and Ms. Shi as purchaser’s guarantor with regard RTEIthaE s ARAAEKE
to the disposal of (i) the entire equity interests of 582,700,000/ 7T tH & (i)Central Bingo
Central Bingo; and (ii) the shareholder’s loans by EIERE  NM(NVERER - HEFIE
the Company for an aggregate consideration of AR—TE——F+— A=+ B
HK$582.7 million. The disposal was completed on & Central Bingo2 2B #E K #8 B8 %
30 December 2011. Details of the disposal of the RERZFHBHET :

entire equity interests in Central Bingo and the
related shareholder’s loans are as follows:

Consideration received

2 ERE
HK$'000
FExT
Consideration received BUERARE 582,700
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED B1.4sERERERMETE &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(a) HEMBEAR (#)

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Central Bingo Central Bingo R E I8

and its subsidiaries NRAIZEERBBI W
At
30 December
2011
i
—B——-fF
+t=B=+H
HK$'000
THER
Current assets MEBEE
Stock of properties MEFE
- Properties under development for sale —HHEEEME 182,617
- Completed properties held for sale —FHIEHERIME 72,785
Trade and other receivables FEWUE 5 B AR B A FE W 3R IE 57,564
Cash and bank balances He RRITHA 6,067
Non-current assets HRBEE
Investment properties REME 1,006,827
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREE 2,090
Properties under development TE 30,844
Current liabilities MEEE
Trade and other payables BN E SRR E A EAFIE (334,031)
Tax payables FER IR (18,203)
Sale loans HEER (442,695)
Non-current liability FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBAE (87,838)
476,027
Less: 30% non-controlling interests L 30% IR R R i (265,049)
The Group’s share of net assets AEEEEEETE 210,978
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED B1.GERERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) HEMWBARATR (&)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEKBAREE
At
30 December
2011
JiQ
—B——fF
+t=A=+H
HK$'000
BT
Consideration received BUERRAE 582,700
Net assets of the disposal group HESBEEFE (210,978)
Sale loans HEER (442,695)
Reclassification adjustment of the cumulative HEZREESHERERAET
exchange gain on translation of the disposal R ER RN ERAR
from its functional currency to HK$ upon disposal
- At 1 January 2011 -RNZE——F—F—H 31,233
— For the period ended 30 December 2011 - BE-T——%+=-A=1H
1HEE 18,984
— Attributable to non-controlling interests for -BET——F+=ZA=+H
the period ended 30 December 2011 BRI SR AR R SR R e R A 9,091
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QR EE (11,665)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARRSRAEE
At
30 December
2011
i
—E——-fF
t=A=+H
HK$'000
FEx
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents NRe MR SEYREZRE 582,700
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of A HERE MRS SFEMES (6,067)
576,633
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 1. REMERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (b) WEEMIE Tl
(i)  On 30 June 2011, the Group acquired 100% () RZZTE—FA=+H &&
of the issued share capital and director’s & A 22 (8 49139,038,000/% 7T
loan of Steady Foundation Limited (“Steady WHEENBIZAR R A ([EAR
Foundation”) for an aggregate consideration A7) 100% B EITRARES
of approximately HK$139,038,000. B
(i) On 15 August 2011, the Group acquired 100% iy RZE——FNA+HH K
of the issued share capital of Success Take % B LA X {& #9140,000,000/%8
Limited (“Success Take”) and its subsidiaries ot U BESuccess Take Limited
for a consideration of approximately ([Success Takel) MEME AT
HK$140,000,000. 100% B BT -
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

B1.4sERERERMTE &)

(b) WEBHEBAT (&)

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities
acquired in the acquisition of Steady Foundation and

W B 32 F1| Bl 72 K Success TakeEU/5 &
ERBBEZATHEUREACHER

Success Take and the goodwill and intangible asset EREEFIBWOT :
arising are as follows:
Steady Success Total Total
Foundation Take Fair value Fair value
ERAE AFEARE ATLEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TER THT THT
(as previously
(restated) stated)
(RE5) (MERFTE5)
Cash and bank balances Re RRTHER 34 35 69 69
Trade and other receivables FEWE 58T R
Hoth e KR 16 4,867 4,883 4,883
Investment properties REME 249,000 - 249,000 249,000
Intangible asset mVEE - 170,285 170,285 170,285
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERERE 4,349 8,960 13,309 13,309
Trade and other payables A E 28R R
HiER A (802) (15,991) (16,793) (16,793)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBRE - (42,571) (42,571) (60,811)
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured &t SfEE » A (100,211) - (100,211) (100,211)
Net assets BREFE 152,386 125,585 277,971 259,731
10% non-controlling interests 10% FF 2R R R i 2k - (12,703) (12,703) (12,703)
Net assets acquired BEEEFE 152,386 112,882 265,268 247,028
Goodwil e - 27,118 27,118 32,010
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE (13,348) - (13,348) -
Total purchase consideration EERELS 139,038 140,000 279,038 279,038
Satisfied by: TRAR
- Cash -Be 139,038 - 139,038 139,038
- Loan transfer -EEER - 140,000 140,000 140,000
139,038 140,000 279,038 279,038
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31.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

1.4 BHERERMEE @

(b) WEBEKHIB AT (&)

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEEZREREFE
HK$'000
TERT
Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents PR kB2SENZN2RE 139,038
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired of B RERERESEEMER (69)
138,969

Note: There is no material difference between the fair

(iii)

value of identifiable assets and liabilities and the
corresponding acquiree’s carrying amount except

intangible asset and deferred tax liabilities.

Acquisition-related costs of
HK$1,366,000 are included in the consolidated
income statements.

approximately

Steady Foundation and Success Take contributed loss
of approximately HK$194,000 to the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2011.

Had the above acquisitions been taken place at the
beginning of the year, the Group’s loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$33,038,000 and
the Group’s turnover would have been approximately
HK$4,968,000.

Mt AHREERBBZAFERERE

)

(if)

(iii)

ZHWBTREEYREERER
B EEERERIAAGERID o

Uy 8% FH 8 & F9 %91,366,00078 TTET A

RAERR -

He2_FT——F+-_A=+—HLt
FE o EFAIE KSuccess TakeH Ef
AEEEIEH194,0008 7T °

i LR FENEE  AEE 2
F A 548 #5 4933,038,000/8 7T © 1M
AEE 2 & X 44,968,000%
ﬁ o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32.€@ TR
The Group’s major financial instruments include AEBEZETEcHMTARESBEE &
interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other receivables HQT%EE R E A EWRIE (B B AR TE L
but not prepayment, financial assets at fair value through ) RAAFEGFAEBRE CREE - &
profit or loss, trade and other payables but not including Hféf%ﬁﬁ,m&ﬁﬁﬂfﬁ I (ETEEE R
deposits received, cash and bank balances and convertible 7e) B RIRITES AR BAREE -
notes and were classified into the categories as follows: WHEEIMT -
2012 2011
LMY S -t &
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Financial assets EREE
Loans and receivables B & EUHR 54,874 475,890
Financial assets designated as at fair value through &8 L/{’R:FTEqu]\TEﬁﬁﬁEZ
profit or loss TRMEE 7,350 3,090
Financial liabilities cHes
Amortised cost B SR AR 128,256 207,233
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in ZEEMITAZHFBERSEE ZM TR
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial BoHZEeRmIAMRMBZRARABR M
instruments are limited and the policies on how to 2K 5% 5 R g ZEﬁZﬁﬁEATX c BIEEE
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management B R "T‘Ei C DARER R B IE A R
itk

Fﬁr " 5
)

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 27 51
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate AEBCZEE R@Ee - MNEREER
and currency risks arise in the normal course of the RN ARE L —MREBBERESE - K
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity SETEREAS#ER foﬁf‘fﬂzz‘“ib il
price risk arising from movements in its own equity share JAE H R ERRR

price.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s rEEFHEeRmIAZEREERAEE
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner REERERRz FBREMES -

in which it manages and measures the risks.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables and cash and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within a year. Debtors with
balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from its customers.
Based on the expected recoverability and timing
for collection of the outstanding balances, the
Group maintains a provision for impairment of
receivables and actual losses incurred have been
within management’s expectation.

In respect of cash and bank balances, the Group
limits its exposure to credit risk by transacting with
approved and reputable banks with high credit
ratings. Bankruptcy or insolvency of these banks may
cause the Group’s rights with respect to these assets
held to be delayed or limited. The Group monitors
the credit ratings of these banks on an ongoing
basis, and considers that the Group's exposure to
credit risk at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were
minimal.

32.€R T H %)
(a) EERB

AEBZEERRIZXRBEKES
R By FE YR IR AR & S dR1T 45
HoEREAMECEERK  YE

FEEEZSEERR -

B Z) R R e B At e MK SRR
EOHRMBERBAEETEESR
ZEP  AgETEMNEERE - it
EHHEI2HEEPBERIIMEZ
BERTHE LR 2GS - AEE
BEPZHRERPEMEE P EZH
REZHEBER - BEEZRFRN—
FREE - WEZBEEMARH—
FAEZRWE SRR - TR &
BEYEAEMERE - AKE-—KRTE
AP WEER®D - ERNKREEEH
ZIEHAR W E M R R B R R AR
MR RUGR IR ERE - MAAELZ
EREBENTAEEE 2R -

RIS RBRITESBRME AEBEEB
HEHE BEIZAASSEET
FZBITETRXZRBHIEEERR
MO e ZERITZWENEEEED
REEMAEBMR LSBT EEZE
MBERERERS - AEBESHFEE
RZERTZEEFL  TRAERZ
T —ENT——F+_A=+—
AAEEZEERBEM -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to purchasers with an appropriate
financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivables to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread
over a large number of customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by
the carrying amount of each financial asset after
deducting any impairment allowance.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity
is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when
due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking
damage to the Group'’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

— 186 —

(a)

(b)

32.&€R T H &)

EERE (&)

AREEDHEITARBBGR - UHERAR
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Carrying
amount
HEE
HKS'000
TER

At 31 December 2012 RZB-“E+ZfA=1-A

Term loan subject to a repayment TREXBERATAR

on demand clause LEHER 115,062
Other loans AR 1706
Trade creditors ERESE 321
Accruals and other payables B BRRAMENTE 6,476
Due to non-controlling interests EfFEARR R R 1,791

32T H &)
(b) REBELRE (&)

TREJAEB 2 TESREBER
BERRTHERTZHBTAHOHBRF
B DREOEHRMARSAE (B
BERBAOENER » S FBHN = -
AR BMEMR B ZRITHERFEZ
MBNF) NRAEEAIREAERERZ
REAMAREENE

The Group
A58
Total
contractual More than ~ More than
undiscounted Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

cash flows 1 year or on less than less than
HEANR demand 2 years Syears  More than
Rénig —Efh -E)t WEAL 5 years
g FREX MENR BEUR BENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn

116,937 116,937 - = -
1,749 1,749 - - -
321 3m - = -
6,476 6,476 - = -
1,791 1,791 - = -

128,256

130,174 130,174 - = -
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32.&€R T H &)
(b) FEBELER (&)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group
158
Total

contractual More than More than

undiscounted Within Tyearbut 2 years but

cash flows 1 year or on less than less than
Caying ~ HEARNA demand 2 years 5years  More than
amount Reng R —EhE AENL 5 years
BEE a8 FEEX AENR RENR RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

TET TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

At 31 December 2011 R-8--£+-fA=1-H
Term loan subject to a repayment FREKEEEET AR

on demand clause BHER 120,552 122,385 122,385 - - -
Other loans EfER 1,671 1,713 1,713 - - -
Trade creditors EREFED 3,970 3,970 3,970 - - -
Accruals and other payables [t EE LAt ENFE 15,923 15,923 15,923 - - -
Due to non-controlling interests EfEERERERTE 1,200 1,200 1,200
Convertible notes EREE 63,917 66,582 66,582 - - -

207,233 2,173 11,173 - - -

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause BEEREREBEGRZBITERERE
are included in the “within 1 year or on demand” FEa BB E AT T—EWYE?&?
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at EE|BFEYBEARZ "—_E-f—_
31 December 2012, the aggregate undiscounted A=+—8 ' ZERITEFRIFTAER
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted @@%ﬁé@%&i%m,%zooo,ﬁm (=%
approximately to HK$116,937,000 (2011: ——4F :122,385,000/87C) °
HK$122,385,000).
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table that follows summarises the maturity
analysis of term loans with a repayment on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amounts include
interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater
than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand”
time band in the analysis contained above. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the
directors of the Company does not consider that it
is probable that the banks will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such term loans will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

32T H &)

(b)

REBESRERE (&)

TERBEAEREREEGRKZEH
B3 ERNERGEE 215 ERE
EEAMZAHEDN - ZFTBE
BERAMNNERFHE ZHEMK -
b ZEERAREXFREADHZ
[ZEHFREEIKEIBMBEELS
B ERNAKBEZHBMA » NAF]
EERRBOIRBEITEERIGE
ERVEMEE - ARREERR &
SEREFTHRBE R ATEH AT
BEBMER -

The Group
A5
Total

contractual More than ~ More than

undiscounted Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

cash flows 1 year or on less than less than
Carrying  MEANFE demand 2 years Syears  More than
amount RéHE —Efh -EHE MEN L 5 years
Kaf ag AREX MELR BENUR BENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Th ThT TER TEn Tén
At 31 December 2012 R-E-ZE+ZA=1-H 115,062 132,381 1,395 1,395 22,183 95,408
At 31 December 2011 RZB-—£+ZR=1-H 120,552 138,558 7431 743 22,297 101,398

TERHBINARRZFTESRABERN
BEPRTER 2B TEHHARF
B DREBEOEHFTRASRE (B
ERAHENE L RFEBFE
AN BERRTER 2 RITHXREFE
ZHBNF) K RA R A GERER
ZBEFEHAERETHE

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of
the Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Company can be required to pay:
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvesy 32. TR T H (2

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBEESRA (&)

The Company
NG|
Total
contractual More than  More than
undiscounted Within ~ 1yearbut 2 years but

cash flows 1 year or on less than less than
Carrying  HERHE demand 2 years Syears  More than
amount Rénig —ER —-EHE REL 5 years
KafE ag ARER MENR BENUR BENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th Tz TEn TEn Tén T

At 31 December 2012 RZ8-Z£+ZA=+-8
Accruals and other payables ErEE LA ERNFE 4,009 4,009 4,009 - - -
Other loans EER 1,706 1,749 1,749 - - -
5,715 5,758 5,758 - - -
The Company
AN
Total
contractual More than More than
undiscounted Within Tyearbut 2 years but
cash flows 1 year or on less than less than
Carying  HIERAR demand 2 years Syears  More than
amount Reng R —FiE AER L 5 years
FEfE e FREX MENA BEHA RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER T Tk T T
At 31 December 2011 R=8--%+ZA=+-8
Accruals and other payables [ BRRAMENFE 6,670 6,670 6,670 - - -
Other loans EfER 1671 1,713 1,713 - - -
Convertible notes ABRRER 63,917 66,582 66,582 - - -

72,258 74,965 74,965 - - -
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvesy 32. T T H (2

(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=EZPpx
AEBZANERBEEREAREE 2
RITER  HtEEREWER - K

receivables. Borrowings at variable rates and at fixed SR EREHLRETEHNEAE G

rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate o RAEERESHEHREREF

risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The KA N AT EFNERR - ANEBL

EFNASRITET AL FMERR -

AEBRXEEEER ZMEFEREAR

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
the Group’s bank loans, other borrowings and loan

Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest

rate profile as monitored by management is set out T3L() ©
in (i) below.
The Group
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate 2012 rate 2011
BERAZE —=2-——f ERFE —ZT——F
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
% THERT % FET
Loan receivables EHER 5.85 12,651 - -
Net fixed rate borrowings: BEEEE:
Other loans HE R 2.5 (1,706) 2.5 (1,671)
Convertible notes AR ERE - - 6.74 (63,917)
10,945 (65,588)
Variable rate borrowings: FEEE
Bank loans RITERK 1.63 (115,062)  1.52-1.62 (120,552)
Total net borrowings FEEEE (104,117) (186,140)
Net fixed rate borrowings FEEEELFEE
as a percentage of BEADL
total net borrowings (10)% 35%
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continves) 32. &R TH ()

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) XA &)
The Company
RAF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate 2012 rate 2011
ERAZE —=2-——f ERAE —ZT——F
% HK$°000 % HK$'000
% FHERT % FET
Net fixed rate borrowings: FEEMHEE:
Other loans HE R 1,706 2.5 1,671
Convertible notes AR S = 6.74 63,917
Total net borrowings FIEERE 1,706 65,588
Net fixed rate borrowings asa  EFE EfEELEEE
percentage of total BEADL
net borrowings 100% 100%
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BE T
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At 31 December 2012, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s
loss after tax and decrease/increase retained
earnings by approximately HK$575,000 (2011:
increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax
and decrease/increase retained earnings by
approximately HK$603,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the ended of
reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative
and non-derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date. The 50 basis point
increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change
in interest rates over the period until the next
year end date. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2011.

RZF—ZF+ZA=+—0H"

T BRI REEEE R 50
BEZ - AIAREBZBRREER
fhetegm Rl RIRE BTG
stE R 1 AN4)575,0005 T
(ZZ——F: AEBHOBRFE
B8 A0, R bA AR SR B AR,
A/ #HN49603,000/87T) °

FBEE ST TBREF K
RERREBE  YEERAR
EHFTEERERBITERIELT
EEFET A A KRR - 50fE
Aot - HEEEY
BEET—EAFEL£EH ILHEF
KRR IBER 2 E o %D
WIEAE —T——FHERZE

# o
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk

The majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in HK$ and RMB. Presently, the Group
has no hedging policy with respect to its foreign
exchange exposure.

The Group’s transactional currencies are HK$ and
RMB as substantially all revenue and costs being
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

With transaction in the USD, the impact of it is
insignificant as the HK$ is pegged to USD at a fixed
rate of approximate to HK$7.8 = USD1.

With respect to receivables, payables, cash and
bank balances, and borrowings denominated in
RMB which are exposed to foreign currency risk.
Depreciation or appreciation of the RMB against
can affect the Group’s position, results and equity.

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through the People’s Bank of China
(“PBOC") or other institutions authorised to buy and
sell foreign exchange. The exchange rate adopted
for foreign exchange transactions are the rates of
exchange quoted by the PBOC that would be subject
to a managed float against an unspecified basket
of currencies.

32.€R T H %)
(d) hEsE B

AEEBAFDRZHNBETRAR
BEtE - BAT AEBYEGHER
B 2z SR BUR

ARE 2 X HEHE BB RARY
PR P W R AR DA TE A R
SHE -

AR EZRHME * ARETT
BT (REENEL7.88TTH
1X70) - MEFZEEN -

AARBEHERNBUWFIE - BNR
B Be MRITESRU LB ERERIN
PEE R o ARBLIMERZERIHER
BB ARSE B AL - FE N ERIEK

B/ 488
rE e

S ONL E PR
W RARKGINER 5 NA
BBTEARRST ([R77)) A%
1T 5N E B © SN 52 5 7R
R BB % A RATF AMGRE R - KE
e B IR HEE T A R BIZ
BE %R -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group’s and the
Company’s foreign currency denominated financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

32.&€R T H &)
(d) ShemB (=)

R|BEHR  NREBERARFAINE
HEZERMEENERBEZRAE

LU
The Group The Company
rEE AN

2012 2011 2012 2011
TE-CF WSt T F Rl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHT THT FHT

Assets BE

RMB ARE 350,429 167,387 106 158,930
usD ETT 1,743 117,389 885 116,612
Liabilities EE&

RMB AR 5,110 11,242 - -
Sensitivity analysis BRLE DT

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of RMB.
The following table indicates the approximate
decrease/increase in the Group’s loss for the year
in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rate to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of reporting period
(2011: decrease/increase the Group’s loss). 5% is the
sensitivity rate used as it represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rate.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

3.8 TH

e MG ERME

—FF A=+ —HIFE

(#&)
(d) ShiEmps (&)

BBESHT (&)
The Group The Company
b3 | b NG|

2012 2011 2012 2011
el T T T F
HKS'000 EEEGISYUVUN  HKS'000 ISV
TR TAT TR THT

RMB AR
- increase/decrease on loss - EREEEN R
for the year (2011: decrease/ (ZE——F : ££E
increase the Group's loss) EERD /1Em) 17,266 7,807 5 7,947
The sensitivity analysis has been determined B E D AT Ty R 35 TE == 8 8 PO 3R & HY

assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to each of the Group entities’
exposure to currency risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at
that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant.

The stated changes
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the next annual
reporting date. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the
United States dollar would be materially unaffected
by any changes in movement in value of the United
States dollar against Hong Kong dollar. Results
of the analysis as presented in the above table

represent management’s

represent an aggregation of the effects on each of
the Group entities’ profit/(loss) after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2011.

REZLE YORAAREZERERN
ERMEHRERBITERETES
MIAEZE®ER  ARRRAAEHR
i (LERMEK) #5112 -

Prgey hEEBHRNEE T —EF
EEMRIEHFEER 2 Al ge a2 &
B 2AFE - Bk E - DREE TR
I ZHBEREAEZETHET
ZEMBEREHEAFE - LR2
SIZAMERIHAKESER 2R
Mg, (EE) ks (B882
W EHEE  UYH2WENMILR
TRRZEREXBERET) 26
AEE BROMIERAE_T——%
MRz 2% -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined as follows:

— 196 —

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions
and traded in active markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid and ask
prices respectively.

The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such
prices are not available, a discounted cash flow
analysis is performed using the applicable yield
curve for the duration of the instruments for
non-optional derivatives, and option pricing
models for optional derivatives. Interest rate
swaps are measured at the present value of
future cash flows estimated and discounted
based on the applicable yield curves derived
from quoted interest rates.

The fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding those described
above) are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models mainly
based on volatility of difference on asset’s price
analysis and discounted cash flow analysis
respectively.

32.&€R T H &)

(e) EMITAZATE

TREERTBRAEZIAFEETES
W

o  RABREGRRRGMERRART
LEENEREEREMAE
TInRI2EREmmsERNER
BRETAFE-

s TETAZRAFENARES
B MAISERER - RIS
BOUTET AT AFHZERK
S ARETITRB R RO - M
HRITETARINSAREEERRN
ETIRBSRAMN o M RimH
Dizfhst ARBeRE 2 RER
B YREEMBRANXAESH
Z B R R ARG IR

e HppemEENETMARE (TE
BEdE) 2AFEIRRBAR
EEBINEFE  YORINEEE
BT RITRRETREN T 2K
BUZRSHER -
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvesy 32. T T H (2

(e) Fair values of financial instruments (e) EMITEAZAFE (&)
(Continued)
Except as detailed in the following table, the BRTRFINEIN  RRFEFRRT
directors of the Company consider that the carrying BRGEVERRZ2EMEEL SR
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities BECZEEEHEEQATERS

recorded in these consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values:

Carrying amount

BREE
2012 2011
el = F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Financial liability tREas
Convertible notes BRBEEE = 63,917
Fair value
AFE
2012 2011
= - 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fix FET
Financial liability cRAE
Convertible notes RREE - 59,000
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(e) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to
3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

o Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

o Level 3 fair value measurements are those
derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

FroA=+—AILFE

3.2/ T H »
(e) €MIEZAFYE (&)
TRIEHA SR REZE AT EL 8

ZEMITREZAMN  THREBRFER
BRREED /1234

« BIBRATEHEEERAAES
BEEERMS CHE CREHR
B) B

o F2RATIEFEESIRAER

BRIz AIBREESABEIE
B (AER) @& (BRA
B & &

o FERMAFEFEHABEIALIFMN
ABEMSEE (TABEH
B RERZEEXBERE L
HERMSEH -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

1% 28R 38 #st

HK'000
TRT

HK'000
TRT

HK'000
TET

HK'000
TER

At 31 December 2012

RZE-—#+ZA=+—-H

Financial assets at fair value IR EFABRER

through profit or loss (note) SREE (M) - = 7,350 7,350
At 31 December 2011 —T——%+=ZA=+—H
Financial assets at fair value NEEFABREZ

through profit or loss (note) éﬁpﬂlﬁi? (P eE) - - 3,090 3,090
Note: The fair value of the option classified as financial Mz oAU ANFESFAEBEEREZ S

assets at fair value through profit or loss is measured
using Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. Details are
set out in Note 23.
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32.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continvesy 32. T T H (2

(e) Fair values of financial instruments (e) EMIEZATE (&)
(Continued)
There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 NEEIREANENR - F2R R E3
and Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for both years. o2 A eE R o
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of TREEFIFATFEFEZHERT
financial asset is as follows: W
2012 2011
—EB-C-F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
At 1 January n—H—H 3,090 6,200
Gain/(loss) arising on change in fair value UAFEFABREEZ
of financial assets at fair value through CHMEEZ AFEEET
profit or loss E4WE(EE) 4,260 (3,110
31 December (Note 23) R+ZA=+—8 (fF23) 7,350 3,090
33.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33.8REE
Saved as disclosed in the Note 19(a) regarding the legal BB sE19(a)FTit B st Bt L N Al 2 k=2
action against the associate, the Group had no material TEIN KEBR-_ZE——F+_A=+
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2012. — BV ESEAKAREBE -
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34. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere including Notes 22 and 25 in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group had
the following material transactions with its related parties
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2011:

(a)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited (“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman,
the Chief Executive Officer, an Executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company—a
connected person), Modern Admission Group
Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment
had entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the
subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward
Investment by Keen Gate at a consideration of
HK$300,000,000 (the *“Consideration”). The
Subscription was completed on 10 December
2012. The transaction constituted a major and
connected transaction of the Company. Pursuant to
the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors jointly
and severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return
to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable from
the Group’s equity interest in Forward Investment,
shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate
falls below such threshold, the Guarantors shall
compensate the Subscriber on a dollar-for-dollar
basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, Forward
Investment suffered a loss and therefore would not
be able to pay any dividends to its shareholders,
including Keen Gate. As the completion of the
Subscription had taken place on 10 December 2012,
the Return Undertaking would be prorated according
to the actual calendar days during which Keen Gate
is a shareholder of Forward Investment, hence, the
Return Undertaking for the year ended 31 December
2012 would be approximately HK$2,065,000. As
such, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate
the amount of approximately HK$2,065,000 and
such amount was recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Further details of the transaction
were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 27 September 2012 and 10 December 2012
and the circular of the Company dated 2 November
2012 respectively.
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(a)

b’@:g—_iﬂﬂ ++H #gXF
BFRERAR(EE] KEBZ
’iﬁﬁﬁ%“ﬂ) EEmBLE(K
NAER TTHELHE WTESE
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ

34. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 3. BAERSRBEALRS @)
AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The followings transactions were conducted in (b) THXRGHHALEEBEEBHRIEF
the ordinary course of the Group’s business. The EIT  RHEBATBEAEERHEFH
terms of transactions were determined and agreed EE LW -

between the Group and the counter parties.

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-RA=1T-HLEFE

2012 2011
—8-C-F —T——%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Sales of goods to associates of the Group RAKEREARHEE R 7,151 -
Interest income on loan to an associate R E ARREENEE
ZHBHA 377 -
Construction services provided AR R SR
by non-controlling interests 2 BEERT = 13,560
Marketing and promotion services provided ESE G e Tl EUNSIE
by a subsidiary of non-controlling interests 2 E R E RS = 659
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —ZF——F+_-H=+—HIFZ

34. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@

On 7 July 2011, the Company announced that an
agreement was entered into between the Company
and purchaser, Amazing Glory Investments Limited,
and Ms. Shi as purchaser’s guarantor with regard
to the disposal of (i) entire equity interest of
Central Bingo; and (ii) the shareholder’s loans by
the Company for an aggregate consideration of
HK$582.7 million. Details of the disposal are set out
in Note 31(a).

On 30 June 2011, the Group acquired 100% of the
issued share capital and director’s loan of Steady
Foundation from Mr. Law Kar Po (the Chairman,
an executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company) for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$139,038,000.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group comprises amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 7 and those highest
paid employees as disclosed in Note 8.
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—CFfF A=A —HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z =%

35. COMMITMENTS 35. K IE

RIEBEY ERRGA T RERAE
2 BRESHINT

(@) Commitments outstanding not provided for in these (a)
consolidated financial statements were as follows:

The Group
rEE
2012 2011
—E—C-F —T——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Commitments: R
— contracted but not provided for the —RRASREEEAY
natural gas project BREHE 1,166 1,616
— contracted but not provided for the — R EREEREE T
financial advisory service BREE 400 -
1,566 1,616
(b) The total future minimum lease payments under (b) BEWEZ TAEEELEELERN R E
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of Wz RREGARAOTRABEDT -
properties are payable and receivables as follows:
(i) As lessee (i) 1EBEBA

The Group had total outstanding commitments
for future minimum lease payable under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
properties, which fall due as follows:

AREERBEYETAIHELEH
MR TRz REERR
RIEEMRESREGENT -

The Group
S 3

2012 2011
—E-CF —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET
No later than 1 year —FR 7,410 10,239
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years ~ —FAERER 4,282 14,366
11,692 24,605
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —ZF——F+_-H=+—HIFZ

35. COMMITMENTS (continued) 35. & ()
(b)  (Continued) (b) (#&)
(i) As lessee (Continued) (i) 1EBRABA ()

The Group has no contingent rentals and HE2_E— —FrR-_T—F+
sub-lease payments received for the years “A=Zt+—HILFE  AEEW
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011. Minimum EAEMERIAEE RS HEN
lease payments for the years ended 31 ReoHE_E——FR_FT——
December 2012 and 2011 are disclosed in FH+-A=Z+—HIEFEZ&E

Note 6(b). AT R 51 6(0) A ER o

(i) As lessor (i) 1EBHHEA
The Group had total future minimum lease AEERTATREELCLEHAORT
receivables under non-cancellable operating FIEAR B B 2 KRR R EE WA &
leases falling due as follows: MBI
The Group
2012 2011
=mea 5 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
No later than 1 year —ER 7,154 5,357
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years  —F#%ZRER 2,402 3,158
9,556 8,515
At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Group RN E——FH —FB——F+—
leased out certain investment properties under A=4+—H XNEFERELSER
operating lease with average lease terms of 2 MBLEETIREYWE  EHHHE
years (2011: 2 years). EFHARNE (—E—F [
F) e
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36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36. EE
The Group pledged the following assets to secure general AEBZUTEEE THRE  (EAXE
banking facilities: —RRIRITRE 2R -
The Group
S 3

2012 2011
—E-——fF —F——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Investment properties (Note 14) BEME (B3E14) 288,000 252,000

37. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 37.EAIH LK S

The Group entered into the following non-cash RNREBLEIIUN NI ENGERESRER
transactions which are not reflected in the consolidated KA IEE S5 -

statement of cash flow:

- On 15 August 2011, the Group acquired 100% - RIZZE—FNA+EHB  AEBERK
of the issued share capital of Success Take and f&Success Take R HME AT ,2100%
its subsidiaries for an aggregate consideration of BETRA - #K{E /140,000,000
HK$140,000,000. BT e

—  During the year ended 31 December 2011, the - REE-_ZE——%+-_A=+—81t
holders of the 2011 Convertible Notes converted all FE —E——FuBEREENESR
remaining notes into 246,200,000 ordinary shares at ABRBRE TR0 148 TTEBME
a conversion price of HK$0.148 per share. #2215 5246,200,0008% E @A o
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 38. &t {h T B HI

JUDGEMENTS
(a) fEFFFHERZ EERIR

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies which are described in Note 2, management
has made the following judgements that have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements. The key
assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several
acceptable alternatives. Estimates and judgements
used in preparing the consolidated financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group
makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The followings are the more significant assumptions
and estimates, as well as the accounting policies and
methods used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies

Certain critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(i)

Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
has been determined based on the asset’s
fair value less costs to sell. These assessments
require the use of estimates.

The fair value less costs to sell primarily use
cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management and
estimated terminal values at the end of the
reporting period. There are a number of
assumptions and estimates involved for the
preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved budget and
the estimated terminal value. Key assumptions
include the expected growth in revenues and
operating margin, effective tax rate, growth
rates and selection of discount rates, to reflect
the risks involved and the earnings multiple
that can be realised for the estimated terminal
value.

Management prepared the financial budgets
reflecting actual and prior year performance
and market development expectations.
Judgement is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow
projections and changes to key assumptions
can significantly affect these cash flow
projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.

8. Bt RHE »

(b) ERASEBEBERKELZ
EREat A

ERASEEABRRRFELZERS
At AT T XAt

() BEHBE

BEASEHIBERESBETEM
BEZREERSEMKRDHR
B leRTAEEERG R
B BESIRSELSEM 2R
B H D RIFEE 2 R FERE
ERAERE - ZFHERERAMG
At

NP ERBEENATZRIEER
EBHEZ MHRBE RN IHE R
ZEFREEERAREERER
Bl REMTBE MMAEFRREE
FIREZREERTRRERE
BRIMS R 2BRREFES
He TERRBEAM 2 WE K
RENEER  BERAME B
KRR EEEFE - FBURBRTY
Rk EHLER SR EEAERZ

B TR JE i BB R TR B A S AR E
B A FEENRERTSRRE
HeRReREFUPHAEALZ
TEHRRAELHE A EREE
TERRZBATRELERS
MEFMAELBEATE  AME
BRER ZER
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

(i)

(iii)
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Provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables

The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group makes impairment
loss for receivables based on an assessment
of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. Allowances are made for trade
and other receivables where events or changes
in circumstance indicate that the balances
may not be collectible based on primarily
the ageing of trade and other receivables
and the historical write-off experience, net of
recoveries. The identification of doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of receivables and allowance
for doubtful debt in the period in which such
estimates has been changed.

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment except
construction-in-progress are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value. The determination
of the useful lives and residual values involve
management'’s estimation. The Group assesses
annually the residual value and the useful life
of property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate,
such a difference may impact the depreciation
in the year and in the future period.

38. 25T AT R =)
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(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 #Z —F— —F+ A =+—HIFFZ
38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 38. gatfhat R A& )
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) ERASEBEBERKELZ
EXRETHHE (2

(b) Critical accounting judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

(iv) 9% - BERZERE

(iv) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment
represent a significant portion of the Group’s
total assets. Changes in industry conditions
may cause the estimated period of use or the
value of these assets to change. Long-lived
assets including property, plant and equipment
are reviewed for impairment at least annually or
whenever events or changes in circumstances
have indicated that their carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in
use. In assessing value in use, estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group
uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue and operating costs. Changes in these
estimates could have a significant impact on
the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or
reversal of impairment in future periods.

AEBZYE - BEERBEN
SEBEEZEEMAKED 17
EBER 2B SZEEE
ZTEFAIMERFRABEE LR
e  AEEEFFRI Y
EHEE (BEME  BFELR
) BEITRERR  AREXL
EHHBERBEBRAFEELZ
FREER BRI @B HETT - 10
REFREDNS - EEAEE
Z A [a] EE

BEMAGESEL L FEMER
EREEMERNRSE ° £
hEAEER  BRAKEDR
ESRBERRERMSEHER
5 B0 B 2 1 T LB A O A
TR EHMERIRE - AEHE
EERETR - BEBRAKFERM
RERAEREAR HE - KA
SEM—RBAER KT
WEEENAROH - BHEER
BEIW BRI 2 BRERME U AR
R BN PTETROR 1S B0 il 5T B
B MRZFEFHBLRE
B BARBREFEEENRE
{8 - EFIBE 5| BRI R E S
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

(v) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires management to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31
December 2012 was approximately HK$Nil
(2011: (restated) HK$27,118,000). Details of
the impairment loss of goodwill are set out
in Note 17.

(vi) Impairment of intangible assets

The recoverable amounts of the intangible
assets have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from
the intangible assets and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value.
The management refers to the valuation
performed by independent qualified valuers.
In performing the valuation, the valuers have
based on method of valuation which involves
certain estimates and assumptions.

The Group’s management determines the
provision for impairment of receivables under
concession agreement. This estimates and
assumptions made by management on the
future operation of the business, pre-tax
discount rates, and other assumptions
underlying the value-in-use calculations.
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 38. AT R HE 2
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) ERAKEEHHRREHELZ

(b) Critical accounting judgement in

applying the Group’s accounting EXRGsHHE (2
policies (Continued)
(vii) Current income taxes (vii) KEpFZH

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the
PRC are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax
in the PRC. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax in the period in which
such determination is made.

(viii) Estimate of gas consumption

Determination of the revenue for the
distribution and sale of piped gas may include
an estimation of the gas supplied to customers
for whom actual metre reading is not available.
The estimation is done mainly based on the
past consumption records and the recent
consumption pattern of individual customers.

In addition, with respect to the distribution
and sale of piped gas, the Group recognises
revenue and trade receivables based on their
consumption of gas. The Group's management
estimates the consumption of gas with
reference to the consumption volume of the
customers for whom metre reading is available.
The actual consumption could deviate from
those estimates.

AEBRPEEE ZHBARA
BATEERMAEN - EEMFF
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HHF AT HKHIA - NEE
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 38. AT R HE 2

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
(b) EAXEEESFHRKELZ

(b) Critical accounting judgement in

applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

(ix) Estimate of fair value of investment
properties
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The best evidence of fair value is current prices

in an active market for similar lease and other
contracts. In the absence of such information,
the Group determines the amount within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. In
making its judgement, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources including:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

current prices in an active market for
properties of different nature, condition
or location (or subject to different leases
or other contracts), with adjustments to
reflect those differences;

recent prices of similar properties in
less active markets, with adjustments
to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

discounted cash flow projections based
on reliable estimates of future cash flows
derived from the terms of any existing
lease and other contracts and (where
possible) from external evidence such as
current market rents for similar properties
in the same location and condition, using
discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.
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38. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting
policies (Continued)

(ix) Estimate of fair value of investment
properties (Continued)

If information on current or recent prices of
investment properties is not available, the fair
values of investment properties are determined
using discounted cash flow valuation
techniques. The Group uses assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period.

The principal assumptions underlying
management’s estimate of fair value are those
relating to: the receipt of contractual rentals;
expected future market rentals; void periods;
maintenance requirements; and appropriate
discount rates. These valuations are regularly
compared to actual market yield, and actual
transactions of the Group and those reported
by the market.

The expected future market rentals are
determined on the basis of current market
rentals for similar properties in the same
location and condition.

39.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 20 March 2013, the Company entered into
an agreement to dispose of 49% equity interests of
Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy, at the aggregate cash
consideration of approximately HK$315,000,000.

On 27 March 2013, the Company entered into a
co-operation framework agreement with a company for
the purpose of acquiring a natural gas station project in
Hunan province of the PRC. Details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013.

38. AT R HE 2

(b) ERASEBEBRKELZ
EXRETHHE (2

(ix) BREWFERFEZ1GE (&)

HEZREGARRENERHX
ROHERZEN - ARAITE
RenEfEIBEEREDELR
FE AEEFARKEEAS
WEHRHBR 2 TR BEE -

SEREEBEMEATERBZE
ZR{P R WEBREWA B
AEREMISHEE ZEH - #1E
RERE  RBEZIEER - It
FHECHRERMSER LA
SENERIZEMGREZR
PFOSRELLE -

JEFFARRTIGEE TR B E K
RARRIE U R 2 & m 5
BETE -

39. REHAREE

RZE—=F=ZA=-+H ' ARAR]—
! - LARRIRE MK E49315,000,000% 7T
HE L R EAR L 2 49 % AR AE -

W-_TE—=%F=A—-++0 KA "@E—
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A-t+tRzZR% -

— 213 —



China Infrastructure Investment Limited ® Annual Report 2012

Five Years Financial Summary

AFEMBHE
RESULTS
T
=]
For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+-HLEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
=Bt —T——F —T-TF —TTNF —TTN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT FAT FAT FAT
(Re-
(restated) presented)
(&=7) (27))
Turnover EEE 13,617 2,659 595 20,918 1,557
(Loss)/profit attributable to KABHEB AL
owners of the Company (EB18),/&F (15,414) (22,755) 12,149 (135,859) (116,091)

Dividends fi% 8, = - - - _

Basis (loss)/earnings per share  BIREX (E1E),/ BF (0.36 cents)  (0.54 cents)  0.30 cents  (3.39 cents)  (2.91 cents)
(0.36584L)  (0.547810) 0.307 11l (3.3971l)  (2.91&()

Diluted earnings per share FREERF N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA PEA MEH TEA

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

BEEREE
At 31 December
W+=ZA=+-H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
=il —E——4F  —E-TF —ETHF  —ZTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAET FAEL FAET FEL
(restated)
(RE75)
Total assets BEEE 1,140,736 1,249,973 2,039,183 2,457,844 2,331,337
Total liabilities BERE (160,082) 250,356 774,923 1,239,850 1,030,362
NET ASSETS BEFE 980,654 999,617 1,264,260 1,217,994 1,300,975
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Group Properties

SEME

At 31 December 2012 R=F—=—#+=-H=+—H

Group's
Total gross Total  interest
floor area site area (%) Estimated
Stage of Category of (sq. m.) (sq. m.) %@ date of
Location Intended use completion lease term HEAER 1t T Z®H#  completion
(VA= BERZ TR ER BRFHER (FHK) (EHK) (%) BERIBH
Property under development 2 ¥
Huijinxintiandi Plaza, ~ Commercial Superstructure in Long  Approximately Approximately 40 The project is
No. 11 Shengtai Road, premises progress 3 474,642 #20,051 expected to be
Moling Jiedao, EEYE FETREFS completed in
Jiangning District, phases from
Nanjing City, Property under 2013 onwards
Jiangsu Province, development ERCERCEgE!
the PRC ERmE it S
RET#E AR TTK
HRMIER
TR T8 5 A BK
155
B ¥R M E
Total gross Group's
floor area interest
Category of (sq. m.) (%)
Location Intended use lease term HEEEE rEBzER
A=+ BER® HOFHER (FHXK) (%)
Properties held for investment R &4 %
Houses E2, E3, E4, Residential premises for rental Medium Approximately 100
ES, E6, E7, E8, E9, HHEEEDE ] #2,722.04

E10 and E15, Las
Pinadas, Clear Water
Bay Road, Sai Kung,
New Territories,
Hong Kong
BEMR
FmEFKEE
NS

E2 E3-E4-E5"
E6E7 - E8 E9 "
E10%E15(E=E
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SEME

At 31 December 2012 R —F——#+—-H=+—H

Total gross Group's
floor area interest
Category of (sq. m.) (%)
Location Intended use lease term HREER FrEBZER
vE BERZ A F 85 (FFHK) (%)
Properties held for sale E{EH &M%
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, premises &H 47116.67
No. 699 Chengxin, FE/AENE
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
HET#A
ARmIER
KB 1 38 3l 15 KB 69957
EdEmRiEsE
81021706 %
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in premises KH #91,710.89
Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa, FEE/AENE

No. 2888 Hongjing, Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

REITEE
ARTIZER
REATBOAR KB
288857 AR HEE
F471E1012104%
REASEI01E104%
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